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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman)

Mr. CAl LiTing (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. KAO Chao Yang

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. KIM Hyun Seok!
Mr. PARK Ho Jin?

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TSANG Hing Bun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun
Mr. TSANG Hing Bun

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairperson)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen (Chairperson)
Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie (Chairperson)

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

Mr. CAl LiTing

! Appointed on 29 March 2023
2 Resigned on 29 March 2023
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Maxnerva Technology Services Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 and it has been listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 14 April 1994. Together with its subsidiaries, the group
principally engages in industrial solution, smart office and new retail
businesses.

OUR BUSINESS

Industrial solution business

We provide a full range of smart manufacturing solutions and services to
our customers, including i) the implementation of a combination of software
systems (e.g. enterprise resources planning (the “ERP”), manufacturing
execution system (the “MES”), product lifecycle management system (the
“PLM”) and warehouse management system (the “WMS”)) and automation
equipment into the production lines to lower costs and increase operational
effectiveness and efficiency through smart processes; i) the implementation
of facility monitor and control system (the “FMCS”) for monitoring the
efficiency of the usage of water, power, and gas at production plants; and
iii) the implementation of facial recognition system for labour and security
management of the entire industrial parks. We also provide daily I.T. operating
services and post-installation maintenance work in relation to those smart
manufacturing solutions.

Smart office business

Our smart office business primarily consists of Personify and smart office
equipment business.

Personify, through its sophisticated computer vision and deep learning
technology, provides a series of SaaS products and software development
kit tool on high quality virtual background experience on video-conference
application.

Smart office equipment business manages the supply chain and distributes
branded electronic equipment for meeting rooms to Asia-Pacific, EMEA and
Americas regions.

New retail business

We provide advanced digital signage and other retail solutions to our
customers.
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OUR MISSION AND STRATEGY

By leveraging digitalization and advanced technology, we enable our clients,
predominantly business enterprises, to conduct businesses in more effective
ways in manufacturing, office and retail segments.

To achieve our mission, we are required to recruit, retain and motivate talents
in new market and new product development, and for project, product and
service delivery. Our long term success also highly depends on our ability to
consistently build sustainable partnerships with qualified vendors and ensure
overwhelming customer satisfactions. Thus, we must have the apt corporate
culture and talent policies in place to achieve our corporate objectives.

OUR CORPORATE CULTURE

Innovation with constant improvement

We promote innovation with constant improvement since it is the root of
success in the highly competitive tech industry. It helps differentiate one from
the others and keep the winner ahead of its competitors. Without innovation
and improvement, one shall fall far behind and even face survival issues. To
promote innovation, we must tolerate failures which bestow invaluable know-
hows and experience as the foundation for our future success. What innovation
means to us are not only to the new inventions on technology but also includes
innovations on ideas, business models, work flows and processes etc.

Customer centric

We regard satisfying the present and future needs of our customers as our
number one priority. Customer satisfactions lead to repeat purchases and
word-of-mouth resulted in more business opportunities. In addition, costs of
serving existing customers are in general lower than those of acquiring new
customers. To satisfy customers, we must provide quality products or services
at reasonable prices in the required timeline. Excellent user experience and
after sales services are also vital to gain gratifications.

Mutual benefit to our stakeholders

We believe all stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees,
shareholders, communities, environment etc. should obtain fair shares of
the results from the business in order to preserve a sustainable operation.
Traditional thoughts of extracting most from customers, exploiting the suppliers
and employees, abusing the environment and local communities to maximize
the returns are falling short of the general market expectations nowadays.

4 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFEMBRE FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
UTARERBELBEHBEEAHEE The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of
BEERBE the group for the last five financial years.
—g”°C -5 Z%TTFHE T-HE TN\E
+ZA +-R +-8 +-8 +ZA
=+-8 =+-8 =t-8B =+t-8 =+-8
LFE EEE EEE EFE EEE
For the For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
AREFR ANEEFT ABEFT AEBEFT ANEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

WA Revenue 832,461 596,349 523,417 430,995 326,188
% SR AR 7 Profit attributable to shareholders 27,830 34,261 14,634 11,575 1,440
ZgZZ - IZEIZE IZZ-HhF IZE-)\E

+=R +ZAH +-AR +-R +-R

=+—-H =+—H =+—H =+—H =+—A

As at As at As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

ARBETFR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETZT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

mEE Total assets 726,339 641,930 536,428 527,428 457,425
e Total liabilities 275,306 229,445 181,635 184,243 127,771
BEEZE Net assets 451,033 412,485 354,793 343,185 329,654
[EZN Share capital 68,447 68,447 64,479 64,479 65,111
RAT BB R EMERE Share premium and other reserves 382,586 344,038 290,314 278,706 264,543
s Total equity 451,033 412,485 354,793 343,185 329,654
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A LONG JOURNEY

We have achieved many milestones since late 2015 after the consortium led by
Hon Hai Precision Industry Company Limited (“Hon Hai”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Hon Hai Group”) acquired a substantial interest in the
company. Since then, we have repositioned the business by bringing in new
opportunities, i.e smart manufacturing business in 2016 and smart office and
new retail business in 2020, and disposed the legacy business in 2017 to boost
the performance and brighten the growth prospects of the company. We have
more than doubled our revenue since the financial year of 2016/17. We have
turned around the loss making operation and make profit for our shareholders
every year. To mitigate country specific risk, we have expanded our business
footprints beyond the Greater China regions and we now have well diversified
revenue mix from all major regions of the world. We have emerged to be a
stronger and better company during this journey.

2022 was also a year full of challenges. The year started with the outbreak of
Russo-Ukrainian war, then the protracted lockdowns in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), the dramatic tightening of monetary policies in major
world’s economies and ended with massive infection of the new coronavirus
disease 2019 (the “COVID-19”) in the PRC. With the right strategy, the
great supports from our clients and business partners, the dedications of
our management and employees, we managed to grow our business in such
difficult year.

A NEW ERA

With the world’s major countries adopting border opening and virus
co-existence strategy, we believe the prolonged pandemic is finally behind us.
Year 2023 is going to be a new page for the entire world! We are optimistic but
we must remain vigilant.

Since Hon Hai Group are currently boosting its competitiveness through
embracing F2.0 Digital Transformation and F3.0 Upgrade Transformation
strategy, we have been awarded a number of digital transformation and
electric vehicle related projects. This definitely boosts the backlog orders of
our industrial solution business and provides us an unparalleled opportunity to
take part in the automobile industry. Together with the encouraging business
development of our smart office business, we are upbeat on our future
prospect.

We believe the best days of Maxnerva still lie ahead!
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APPRECIATIONS

We have a new member joining our board. Mr. PARK Ho Jin, our non-
executive director, tendered his resignation to the board due to his other
business commitments and we are delighted to appoint Mr. KIM Hyun Seok
as his replacement. On behalf of the board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to Mr. Park for his contributions to the company during his tenure and
extend our warm welcome to Mr. Kim.

We are also grateful to our customers for their trust and business, and to our
shareholders for their support and encouragement. | would also like to sincerely
thanks all the dedicated employees who are working passionately every day to
build a growing and lasting company.

CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

We principally engage in industrial solution, smart office and new retail
businesses. Our revenue increased by 40% to RMB832.5 million (2021:
RMB596.3 million) but our reported net profit fell by 19% to RMB27.8 million
(2021: RMB34.3 million) for the reporting year. If stripping out the unrealized net
gains of our investments and the share-based payment expense, our core net
profit was RMB25.8 million which was in line with that of 2021 (2021: RMB26.3
million).

Inventory and Trade Receivable

As at 31 December 2022, there were approximately RMB148.6 million in
inventory (2021: RMB110.1 million) and they are primarily project-related
hardware and software products pending to be delivered to our customers,
Inventory turnover for the
reporting year increased to 67 days from 50 days as compared to the year
of 2021 mainly because of the delay in our project progress caused by the
prolonged lockdowns in the PRC and a pile up of the inventory of the smart
office equipment in light of an early arrival of Chinese New Year in January
2023.

and the finished goods of smart office equipment.

As at 31 December 2022, there were approximately RMB220.3 million in trade
and lease receivables (2021: RMB195.1 million) which consisted of current
and non-current portions of RMB215.4 million (2021: RMB182.4 million) and
RMB4.9 million (2021: RMB12.7 million) respectively. Some of our projects
have been structured as finance lease in which customers are eligible to
pay in periodic instalments over a specific number of years. Trade and lease
receivable turnover for the reporting year declined to 91 days from 122 days as
compared to the year of 2021 solely because the magnitude of the increase in
revenue was much higher than that of the average trade and lease receivable
balance.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, we had a net cash position while our cash and
cash equivalents were RMB166.9 million (2021: RMB189.1 million). Our total
assets of RMB726.3 million (2021: RMB641.9 million) were financed by total
liabilities of RMB275.3 million (2021: RMB229.4 million) and shareholders’
equity of RMB451.0 million (2021: RMB412.5 million). We had a current ratio
of 2.2 (2021: 2.4). Trade payables were repayable within one year. No banking
facilities were available to the Group (2021: RMB30.6 million) and we had no
bank borrowing as well (2021: Nil).

Treasury Policy

We generally financed our operations with internally generated resources.
We have adopted a prudent management approach to our treasury policies
and therefore maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting
year. We strive to reduce credit risk exposure by performing periodic credit
evaluations of our external customers.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We mainly operate in the PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan, the United States of
America (the “US”), Europe and Southeast Asia with most of the transactions
settled in Chinese yuan, US dollars, New Taiwanese dollars, Hong Kong
dollars, Euro, British pounds and Vietnamese dong. We are exposed to
foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily with respect to US
dollars and Euro. We have a policy to require our group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their functional currencies which includes
managing the exposures arising from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than their own functional currencies. We
also manage our foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the
group’s net foreign exposures and would consider the use of foreign exchange
contracts to manage foreign exchange risks, where appropriate. We did not use
derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In face of the outbreak of Russo-Ukrainian War, the pandemic-induced
lockdowns in the PRC, and the aggressive tightening of monetary policy in
major world’s economies in response to the concerns of surging inflation rates,
business sentiments, in general, had been rapidly deteriorating during the

reporting year.
Industrial Solution Business

The industrial solution business was growing but profit margins of the executed
projects, on average, were lower during the reporting year. As a result, segment
profit fell by 5% to RMB42.0 million in spite of a 28% increase in segment
revenue to RMB427.3 million when compared to the year of 2021. Our
business footprints spun across the PRC, Americas and Southeast Asia region
in 2022 and we conducted a number of key projects including Teamcenter PLM
software implementation for a lighthouse factory' at Wuhan city of the PRC, the
design, sourcing and installation of lines of automation equipment for a client in
Americas, SAP software upgrade for another lighthouse factory at Zhengzhou
city of the PRC, MES software implementation for a potential lighthouse
factory at Tianjin municipality of the PRC, the completion of the layout design
and IT infrastructure project for a PRC leading manufacturer of drinking water
purifiers at its greenfield factory at Shaoxing city of the PRC, SAP, PLM and
WMS implementation for a semiconductor packaging and testing company at
Qingdao city of the PRC, advisory and IT infrastructure project for a factory
manufacturing printers and peripheral products at Weihai city of the PRC etc.
All these projects are prudently analyzed beforehand and expected to achieve
substantial savings or/and higher efficiency for our clients with satisfactory
returns of investment.

It is worthwhile to note that we have taken a SAP software implementation
project for an electric vehicle manufacturing plant in the US since mid 2022.
It is an important milestone for us since it is our first project in the automobile
industry and it will provide us with the essential know-hows to enter this sector
in the future.

Smart Office Business

Segment revenue and profit increased by 68% and 41% to RMB396.5 million
and RMB4.6 million respectively during the year when compared to the year of
2021.

! The Global Lighthouse Network is a World Economic Forum initiative in collaboration
with McKinsey & Company. This community of manufacturers shows leadership in
using Fourth Industrial Revolution technologies to transform factories, value chains
and business models, for compelling financial and operational returns. To date,
only 114 lighthouse factories worldwide have been identified from different industry
sectors in 75 regions.
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We launched new and enhanced products for Personify business during the
reporting year and successfully added a number of global video conference
players and social media companies into our client portfolio. Since research
and development expenses were peaked in the first quarter of 2022 and had
been returned to normal level throughout the rest of 2022, profitability of this
business was improved during the reporting year.

Sales climbed in all major regions for smart office equipment business and we
did particularly well in Europe and Southeast Asia as we took advantages of the
withdrawal of our competitors and gained market shares in a European country
and we also had a breakthrough in one of the largest Southeast Asia markets.
Revenue grew significantly by 76% during the reporting year on a year-on-year
basis.

New Retail Business

We completed the phase Il project of installing our proprietary digital signage
solutions into over 400 supermarket stores of a preeminent player in Taiwan
in 2022. With affirmative feedback for the solutions, we have been granted
the phase Il project from the same customer and installing the rest of their 60
stores in Taiwan. With fewer stores installing the solutions, segment revenue
and profit dropped by 68% and 97% to RMB8.7 million and RMBO.1 million
respectively during the reporting year when compared to the year of 2021.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

Market believes the pandemic era is finally behind us after major countries in
the world have adopted border opening and virus co-existence policy. There
are signs showing that private consumption and business confidence are
recovering from their troughs despite a number of unfavorable factors, such as
Russo-Ukrainian War, risk of recession in major Western economies, the turmoil
in the property sector of the PRC and the contagion risk on the global financial
sector caused by the collapse of a number of small and medium sized banks in
the US, persist.

Industrial Solution Business

Our key clients are either in the midst of their digital transformations or
thrusting into completely new high growth areas. We shall benefit from this
favourable development and we are likely to secure a number of new digital
transformation and automobile related projects in Americas and Asia in 2023.
With growing project pipeline, we are cautiously positive about the performance
of this business in 2023.
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Smart Office Business

We shall continue to dedicate sales and marketing efforts to develop the
Personify business because video conferences were widely used during the
pandemic and it is believed that they will continue to be a meaningful way of
business communication going forward. We are expanding our smart office
equipment business into new countries in Asia and Americas as well as
consolidating our market positions in the EMEA region in 2023. Overall, we are
cautiously optimistic about the outlook of this business in 2023.

New Retail Business
We shall complete our phase lll digital retail signage project in Taiwan in 2023

and we are actively exploring other retail solutions and business opportunities
in Greater China region in a bid to nurture this business.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The company'’s business risks are mainly the following:

(i) macroeconomic conditions of the globe and the PRC which in turn will
affect the general demand of I.T. solutions, services and products;

(ii) market acceptance of our industrial, smart office and new retail solutions;

(i) rapid technological changes that may disrupt the market positions and
demand of our existing solutions and products unpredictably; and

(iv)  greater foreign exchange risk exposure due to the expansion of our
overseas businesses and higher volatility in major functional currencies in
recent years.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Investment in SigmaSense, LLC (“SigmaSense”)

We invested US$2 million and US$0.5 million in the preferred shares of
SigmaSense in 2019 and 2020 respectively and our investment accounted
for approximately 1.99% of the total shareholding of SigmaSense as at 31
December 2022. SigmaSense was founded in 2015 focusing on display related
touch sensing technology for a wide range of products, from laptops, tablets
and smartphones to large format interactive displays, gaming and automotive
etc. With the success of raising new round of funding by SigmaSense in
early 20283, the valuation of our investment in SigmaSense increased to
approximately US$6.4 million, about 6.1% of the total asset value of the
group as at 31 December 2022. The unrealized gain of the investment was
approximately RMB5.6 million during the reporting year. The investment is
expected to generate capital appreciations to the group in the medium to long
term.

Investment in GRC SinoGreen Fund V, L.P. (“GRC Fund”)

On 9 June 2021, the company announced that Maxnerva (Shenzhen)
Technology Services Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the company,
entered into the limited partnership agreement as a limited partner with GRC
SinoGreen Capital Co., Ltd. on 8 June 2021, in relation to the investment
in the GRC Fund. Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement, we have
committed to contribute RMB30 million which size is expected to account for
approximately 6% of the capital contribution committed by the partners of the
GRC Fund. The GRC Fund is established on 18 June 2021 and intends to
invest in strategic emerging industries, future industries and other industries
including but not limited to semiconductor, biomedicine, new energy, new
materials, high-end intelligent manufacturing and other high-tech industries.
Entering into the limited partnership agreement is a disclosable transaction and
details are set out in the announcement and supplementary announcement
of the company dated 9 June 2021 and 13 July 2021 respectively. We
invested RMB9 million and RMB21 million in 2021 and 2022 respectively.
As at 31 December 2022, the valuation of our investment in GRC Fund was
approximately RMB30.2 million, about 4.2% of the total asset value of the
group as at 31 December 2022. The unrealized gain of the investment was
approximately RMBO0.3 million during the reporting year. The investment is
expected to generate capital appreciations to the group in the long term.

Saved as disclosed above, we had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, and significant investment during the reporting year.
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CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

As at 31 December 2022, there were no charges on the group’s assets and
contingent liabilities (2021: Nil) and there were no capital commitment (2021:
RMB26 million).

There were no material events after 31 December 2022.
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND DIVIDENDS

As at 31 December 2022, the company has a total of 701,543,448 issued
shares with a par value of HK$0.1 each (2021: 701,543,448 shares).

Neither the company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the company’s listed securities during the reporting year of 2021 and 2022.

The board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend in respect of
the reporting year (31 December 2021: Nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For details of the continuing connected transaction, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this annual report.

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
COMPLIANCE

As at 31 December 2022, we employed a total of 588 employees (2021: 543
employees) located in the PRC, Taiwan, Vietnam, the US and Hong Kong.
We believe that our remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market
practices and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of
the individuals. Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in
accordance with the achievement of their sales target and account receivables
collection. General staff are offered year-end discretionary bonuses, which are
based on the divisional performance and individual appraisals.

We are dedicated to creating a favourable circumstance for caring of our
environment and community. It is our goal to build a more harmonious, civilized
and sustainable society by maintaining a high standard operation with integrity,
providing services of high quality and protecting the environment. For details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report
included in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the reporting year,
save for the deviations discussed below. The board will continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the company to
ensure that business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the reporting year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal functions of the board are to:
1. shaping and monitoring the company’s culture;

2. setting long term strategic objectives and strategic policies with
appropriate focus on values creation and risk management;

3. ensuring appropriate and adequate reporting in the annual reports,
including financial statements, ESG, disclosures of the board’s practices
(e.g. the terms of references of its board committees), and various
policies (e.g. shareholder communication, remuneration, nomination,
dividend and diversity policies);

4, being accountable — the directors should be held accountable for their
actions or inactions, and where appropriate, take the shareholders’ and
stakeholders’ views into account in their decisions;

5. ensuring adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
especially for the issuer’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions; and

6. ensuring the fullest communication with shareholders and the company’s
recognition of their interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and overall
strategic development of the group, as well as overseeing internal control,
financial performance, overall management and operations of the group. The
board has delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is responsible
for implementing the group’s business strategies and managing the daily
business operations.

The board comprises four executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors. A list of directors and their
biographical details are set out on pages 68 to 71.

The company has established the following mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the board and these mechanisms will be
reviewed annually.

1. Number of independent non-executive directors and their

contributions

(i)

(if)

(if)

(iv)

Throughout the reporting year, the board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications on
accounting or related financial management expertise. Three out
of eight directors are independent non-executive directors, which
exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-third
of the board are independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the board should provide a sufficient balance
of skill, experience and diversity of perspectives in leading the
company to achieve its goals.

Executive director should meet with the independent non-executive
directors at least annually.

The Chairman should hold meetings at least annually with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of other
directors.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the board which the board
has determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive directors who have no material interest
in the matter should be present at the board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

2.

Appointment and independence of non-executive directors

U]

(i)

(il

(iv)

(Vi)

Nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) will assess
the independence of the prospective independent non-executive
directors, and the continued independence of the existing long-
serving independent non-executive directors, if any, on an annual
basis.

Each independent non-executive director is required to submit
a written confirmation to the company annually to confirm
the independence of each of them and their immediate family
members, and their compliance with the requirements as set out in
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

When any of the independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years on the board, the further appointment
of such independent non-executive director should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. The
company should provide in writing all the factors considered, the
process and discussion of the Nomination Committee in arriving
the decision that such independent non-executive director remain
independent and should be re-elected;

The Nomination Committee will nominate, and the company will
appoint, a new independent non-executive director on the board at
the forthcoming annual general meeting if all the independent non-
executive director has served more than nine years on the board.

A director (including independent non-executive director) who has
material interest in any contract, transaction or arrangement shall
abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on any
board resolution approving the same.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive directors.

Eligibility for seeking independent professional advice

All directors are eligible to seek for independent professional advice at
the company’s expense as and when it is required.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

4, Independent views are encouraged on the board meetings

(i)

(if)

(if)

The board should meet regularly and board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
Meeting notice is given to all directors at least 14 days prior a
regular board meeting and all directors are eligible to include
matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For all other board
meetings, reasonable notice should be given.

Board documentation are usually dispatched to all directors at least
three days prior the meeting to ensure that directors have sufficient
time to review the information and be adequately prepared for the
meeting.

Absent directors are advised of the matters to be discussed in
advance and are given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting.

(iv)  All directors are encouraged to express their views in an open and
candid manner during the board/board committee meetings.
(vi)  Independent non-executive directors and other non-executive

directors should make a positive contribution to the development
of the company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to members of key management (including all
directors and senior management) for the reporting year fell within the following

bands:
A
Number of individual

g BT —F

2022 2021

AR 2,000,001t E AR 12,500,000t RMB2,000,001 — RMB2,500,000 - -
AR 1,500,001 ZE AR #2,000,0000t  RMB1,500,001 — RMB2,000,000 - -
AR #1,000,0017tE AR 11,500,000t RMB1,000,001 — RMB1,500,000 1 1
T E AR #1,000,00075 Nil = RMB1,000,000 7 8
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

FREEELE BINEERY
Meeting attended/held
during the reporting year

EXE8E FWNZE89E RLZE98E BKZE8EE BRERAE
Remuneration Nomination Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee General

EXEERE Members of the Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HTES Executive directors
BEWLE (28) Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman) 0/4 0/1 0/1
BNREE FHTR) Mr. CAl LiTing (Chief Executive Officer) 0/4 0/1 0/1
BRELE Mr. KAO Chao Yang 0/4 0/
WEIRLE Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 4/4 il
ERITES Non-executive director
PARK Ho Jinf 4! Mr. PARK Ho Jin' 2/4 0/1
BAERTES Independent non-executive directors
BREKE Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen 4/4 11 11 3/3 01
EeREE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 4/4 il 11 3/3 0/1
RIERHER Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 4/4 11 1/1 3/3 01
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! resigned on 29 March 2023
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
which enhances the quality of its performance. Diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All the board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the board. Such policy is reviewed by the Board on
an annual basis.

As at 31 December 2022, the company had a single gender board. In order to
comply with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the company has been recruiting
at least one female director who understand the Group’s vision, value and
objectives and has an upright personality. Such candidate will be appointed
once identified and should be in any case before 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the company found the implementation and
effectiveness of the board diversity policy to be satisfactory.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continueq)

Below are the graphical presentation of the diversity of the board as at 31

December 2021 and 2022:
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BOARD MEETINGS

The executive directors meet on a regular basis to discuss the ordinary
business of the company. Board meetings are held to discuss the overall
development, operation, financial performance, interim results, annual
results and other business of the company that requires approval from the
board. Reasonable notice has been given to board members to offer them
an opportunity to attend. All board members are provided with relevant
documentation covering the subject matter of the board meetings. Board
members are also provided with sufficient information in a timely manner to
review and consider matters to be discussed at board meetings. The company
utilises telephone conferencing for directors who are not able to attend in
person.

During the reporting year, all directors discharged their duties in a dedicated,
diligent and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have executed
their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the company’s bye-laws
(the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. All directors have exercised due care in
monitoring corporate matters of the company and provided sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues of the group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The duties of the Chairman are as follows:

1. provides leadership and governance of the board so as to create the
conditions for overall board’s and individual director’s effectiveness, and
ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the board in
a timely manner;

2. promotes effective relationships and open communication, and creates
an environment that allows constructive debates and challenges, both
inside and outside the boardroom, between non-executive directors and
the management;

3. ensures that the board as a whole plays a full and constructive part in
the development and determination of the group’s strategies and policies,
and that board decisions taken are in the group’s best interests and fairly
reflect board’s consensus;

4, ensures that the strategies and policies agreed by the board are
effectively implemented by the chief executive officer and the
management;

5. sets the board meeting schedule and agenda to take full account of the

important issues facing the group and the concerns of all directors, and
ensures that adequate time is available for thorough discussion of critical
and strategic issues;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

6. ensures that the board members are properly briefed on issues arising at
board meetings and receives, in a timely manner, adequate information
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, to fulfil their duties,
such as reports on the group’s performance, the issues, challenges and
opportunities facing the group, and matters reserved for them to make
decision;

7. arranges informal meetings of the directors at least annually, including
meetings of the non-executive directors at which the chief executive
officer is not present, and ensures that sufficient time and consideration
is given to complex, contentious or sensitive issues;

8. ensures that there is effective communication with shareholders, and
that each director develops and maintains an understanding of the
stakeholders’ views; and

9. establishes good corporate governance practices and procedures and
promotes the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate
governance throughout the group and particularly at board level.

Whereas the duties of the chief executive officer are as follows:

1. leads the management in the day-to-day running of the group’s business
in accordance with the business plans and within the budgets approved
by the board;

2. leads the management to ensure effective working relationships with the
chairman and the board by meeting or communicating with the chairman
on a regular basis to review key developments, issues, opportunities and
concerns;

3. develops and proposes the group’s strategies and policies for the board’s
consideration;

4, implements the strategies and policies as approved by the board and its
committees in pursuit of the group’s objectives;

5. maintains regular communication with the chairman on important and
strategic issues facing the group, and ensures bringing these issues to
the board’s attention;

6. ensures that the management gives appropriate priority to providing

reports to the board which contain relevant, accurate, timely and clear
information necessary for the board to fulfil its duties;

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 23



EEELRHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

FERBITE @

7. HEEFHE (BERR NBEBESE ; K

8. REEZEFERMNERKEFEELAERS
Bl SBAEERBERRE FTREXE

e B S AE
AR SIZEE

RIBEEXERTANTRMHEXEC. 215 TE AR
TRZABETUED  FEAR—AEE - EAF
REEREFERN—EETI TR

BIFERTESR

BUFANTEFAESGIROBIHE - SFILIFR
TEESFARE ELTRAUBIAKRMESHE LM
MAABEHERE REZTEIS EF IR
RARSEFEERBUFATESFTHNS LHRRA
553 1BMRFT MM B A% o

FFMTEFNHESEUTRIE:
1. ZHBFREH THKBEE - BXR KRR

BN BER-TEZERBRTENSER L &R
HEINER ;

W\

2. HEBENDERFRERHEESH;

3. MERHEEZ M RAKEMERZES;
P4

4. ARAEENXRRBRERGEIMENEEBRN
By EERRIFEEHEMNER-

ZEREEESF

EFHZAENRBEEERGERMAE BERESAE
ENBRTHRERREN DZAMERDZ FARARETAE
LHMEZEZESFHE2EERANG LWEFRRET
BAERNEBREE RERBELHRUUKRAER
EEREMRRETRIMENEERER-

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

7. leads the communication program with our stakeholders including
shareholders; and

8. conducts the affairs of the group in accordance with the practices and
procedures adopted by the board and promotes the highest standards of
integrity, probity and corporate governance within the group.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. This code provision has been complied with by the company
throughout the reporting year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors bring independent judgment to the
board. Each independent non-executive director is required to send a written
confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to
the company annually. Based on these confirmations, the board considers that
all independent non-executive directors have met the qualifications of Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules for the reporting year.

The functions of non-executive directors should include:

1. participating in board meetings to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct;

2. taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

3. serving on the audit, remuneration, nomination and other governance
committees, if invited; and

4, scrutinising the issuer’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Directors are appointed in accordance with their qualifications and experience
to ensure they are capable to perform their duties and protect the interests of
the stakeholders. Every newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal introduction to ensure that he/she has an understanding of the group’s
business and operation, his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements, and the Model Code.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

Under code provision Part 2 C.3.3, issuers should have formal letters of
appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions for their
appointment. The independent non-executive directors are appointed for a
specific term of office of one year while all non-executive directors and all
executive directors have not entered into any service agreements or letters of
appointment (as the case may be) with the company and have no fixed term
of service. However, they are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meeting of the company (the “AGM”) in accordance with the Bye-
laws. As such, the board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting
than set out in the CG Code.

According to the provisions of the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules, any director
appointed by the board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
following general meeting of the company, and in the case of an addition to
the existing board, until the next following AGM. Furthermore, each director,
including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman and/
or chief executive officer, are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the company’s memorandum of association and Bye-laws (the
“Constitutional Documents”) and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by
the Companies Registry to each newly appointed director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development to
directors would be arranged whenever necessary.

During the reporting year, all directors and company secretary of the company
confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three board committees, namely the Nomination
Committee, “Audit Committee”) and the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) to oversee

the audit committee (the

particular aspects of the group’s affairs. The committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable requests,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the company’s expenses.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(a)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors and one executive director. The current members are Mr.
CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok. Stephen and
Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan. Mr. Chien is currently the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to:

1. review the structure, size and composition of the board (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) at least once every year
and make recommendations to the board regarding any proposed
changes;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the selection
of, individuals nominated for directorships;

3. assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

4, make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors in particular, the chairman and the chief
executive officer; and

5. where the board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and the reasons why they consider the
individual is independent.

The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the diversity policy
of the board members. The company recognises that diversity of the
board members provides a balance of skill, experience and professional
knowledge for the company’s business and future development. The
diversity policy is achieved by consideration of various aspects, including
pbut not limited gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional knowledge and experience with the business of the
company. The ultimate decision on selection of candidates will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to
the board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)

(b)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established and is governed by its written
terms of reference in accordance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. It currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie and Prof.
ZHANG Xianquan. Mr. TANG is currently the chairperson of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the group and
providing advice and recommendations to the board.

The Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this
necessary.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee has performed the
following duties:

1. reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor
and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements, with
recommendations to the board for approval;

2. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as
well as assessment of potential impacts on the group’s financial
statements;

3. reviewed the group’s internal control and risk management

systems, the effectiveness of the group’s internal audit function and
operational and
compliance controls, and risk management functions;

discussed the relevant issues including financial,

4. reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory
requirements;

5. considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment

and approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of

external auditor;

6. discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations; and

7. reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and

objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The current members
are Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Prof. ZHANG
Xiaoquan and Mr. CAl LiTing. Mr. Kan is currently the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the board on, among other things, the company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all directors and senior
management of the company and review the specific remuneration
packages for all executive directors and senior management of
the company. The remuneration packages for directors and senior
management are determined by reference to the skKill, experience,
performance, contribution to the company and the prevailing market
condition. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its

corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
is responsible for corporate governance functions with the following duties:

to develop and review the company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

to review the company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the group which should give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and the group and of the results and cash flow for that
year in compliance with relevant laws and applicable accounting standards.
The board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements of the
group.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, therefore the directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the reporting year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
company, provided the following services to the group and its respective fees
charged are set out as follows:

=4

W ER#ES Type of services charged Fees

ANEEFT

RMB’000

KEBZ BIZRD Audit services for the Group 2,138

IFEZRT Non-audit services -

4BZE Total 2,138
MEREZ ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

EEHANEAREACREEBRENEEER
TR RENET  EENERERE
FEHMHRER DRAEY G BR E IR
ZENE AR EENYERECRBEEE TR
AR

BZYMEREAMPREETNERHIINEAFRSE
91EIBHEW

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the group for the relevant accounting periods in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the
financial statements for the reporting year, the directors have adopted
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial
statements for the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on
pages 91 to 93 in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the reporting year, the group has complied with principle D.2 of the
CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis and an internal audit
on the internal control and risk management systems performed on an annual
basis. Main features of the risk governance and management systems are
described as follows:

Risk Governance and Management

The management of the group proactively manages the risks by establishing an
Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”) framework to assist the Audit Committee
and the board in discharging its risk management responsibilities and individual
business units in managing their key risks. With reference to the “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” Issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”), the main features of the
ERM system are illustrated below:

o Control Environment: a set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the group.

o Risk Assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks in achieving
objectives are carried out.

. Information and Communication: internal and external communication to
provide the group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls.

o Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Governance and Management (continued)
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

As the first line of defense, risk owners of all corporate departments and
business units of the group identify and evaluate the risks which may potentially
impact the achievement of their business objectives, mitigate and monitor
the risks (including but not limited to business, operation and ESG risks) by
designing and executing control procedures in their day-to-day operations.
They conduct risk assessment on a regular basis to evaluate the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls that are in place to mitigate the identified risks.

As the second line of defense, the group establishes specific functions to
ensure the first line of defense is properly in place and operating as intended.
The responsibilities of these functions include but not limited to financial
control, risk management and internal control, compliance, data protection and
information security, sustainability and so forth.

As the third line of defense, the existing Internal Audit (“IA”) function acts as
an independent assessor which is composed of professionals with relevant
expertise (such as certified public accountant). It is responsible for i) reviewing
the major operational, financial, compliance and risk management controls of
the group on a continuous basis and ii) proposing any enhancement to the
risk management and internal control systems for consideration by the Audit
Committee and/or the individual department concerned. It schedules its work in
an annual audit plan which is reviewed by the Audit Committee every year. The
audit plan is derived from risk assessment basis and is aimed at covering each
significant corporate department and business unit in which the group involves
in day-to-day management within a reasonable period.

Whistleblowing System is established for staff and other relevant parties to
report misconduct cases. Every reported case will be handled in confidentiality
and followed through in accordance with the Whistleblowing Policy and its
related procedures.

The Audit Committee assists the board in overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the group, including:

1. reviewing, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the group with the IA function to ascertain whether
management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing and
maintaining effective systems;

2. reviewing the risk assessment results, including changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last review and the group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and

3. discussing with management on the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions to ensure that these are
adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

The board has the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems, including:

1. setting the group’s strategies and corporate goals;

2. evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving its strategic and business objectives;

3. overseeing management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems;

4, overseeing the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis, and ensuring that a review of the systems is conducted at
least annually to ensure their effectiveness;

5. reviewing the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last review and the group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

6. considering any significant control failings or weaknesses that have been
identified during the period.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the reporting year, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

The board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. TSANG Hing Bun has been appointed as company secretary of the
company with effect from 3 November 2015. Although Mr. Tsang is not an
employee of the company as required under code provision Part 2 C.6.1 of
the CG Code, the company has assigned Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, the executive
director, as the contact person with Mr. Tsang. Information in relation to the
performance, financial position and other major developments and affairs of
the group are speedily delivered to Mr. Tsang through the contact person
assigned. Hence, all directors are still considered to have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary in light of the above arrangement in
accordance with code provision Part 2 C.6.4 of the CG Code. Having in place
a mechanism that Mr. Tsang will be informed of the group’s development
promptly without material delay and with his expertise and experience, the
board is confident that having Mr. Tsang as the company secretary is beneficial
to the group’s compliance with the relevant board procedures, applicable laws,
rules and regulations. For the reporting year, Mr. Tsang has duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the directors and officers of the group from their risk exposure
arising from the business of the group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the
company. Shareholders who have any questions for the board may write
directly to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001,
10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, or email
to ir@maxnerva.com. The company secretary will direct the questions to the
board.

Any questions regarding the shareholdings of the shareholders can be
addressed directly to the company’s branch registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend, speak and vote at meetings if they are unable to attend the
meetings. The process of the company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.

Under code provision Part 2 F.2.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board
and the chairmans of all board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors should attend AGM to answer
shareholders’ questions. The chairman of the board and all the independent
non-executive directors did not attend the AGM held on 2nd June 2022 due to
their overseas and other commitments.

Procedures for members to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition deposited at the company’s registered office in Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the company
secretary, to require a special general meeting (“SGM”) to be called by the
board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists themselves
or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them may convene the SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the directors, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the directors
to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the company.

The written requisition must state the objects of the SGM, and such
requisitionists may add resolutions to the agenda of the SGM so convened.
The written reguisition must be signed by the requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those
requisitionists.

If the written requisition is valid, the company secretary will ask the board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary, if the written
requisition is invalid, the requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for members to convene a special general meeting (continued)

The notice period to be given to all the registered members for consideration of
the proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at SGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal is as follows:

o at least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the company; and

o at least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company.

The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be
served and of the day for which it is given.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended), (i) shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders (provided that 100
shareholders of the company shall not represent more than 10% of the voting
right at the time of the request in contravention of Appendix 3 Rule 14(5) of the
Listing Rules), are entitled to request the company to give shareholders notice
of a resolution which is intended to be approved at the next annual general
meeting or special general meeting. If any shareholders wish to propose a
resolution to be put forward at a general meeting of the company, a written
notice to that effect signed by the requisitionists with contact information must
be deposited at the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room
1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
(addressed to the company secretary). The notice shall contain, inter alia,
a description of the proposed resolution desired to be put forward at the
meeting, the reasons for such a proposal and any material interest of the
proposing shareholder in such a proposal. The request will be verified with
the company’s share registrar in Bermuda or the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the board to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at the AGM or the SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, the details of which are as follows:

° At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company in SGM.

° At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company in AGM or a special resolution of the company
in AGM or SGM.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting (continued)

In the event of failure in serving the notice to the company by the requisitionist
within reasonable time, the company reserves the right to claim from the
requisitionist any expenses incurred by the company in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by that requisitionist to all
shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
(unless the company otherwise resolves).

The rights and procedures for proposing resolution to be put forward by
shareholders at a general meeting is posted on the company’s website www.
maxnerva.com.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are one of our key stakeholders. The board and senior
management recognise their responsibilities to represent the interests and
create long-term sustainable value for the shareholders.

The company communicates to its shareholders through announcements and
annual and interim reports published on its website http://www.maxnerva.com.
Shareholders may put forward their enquiries to the board in writing by sending
the same to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room
1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon.
The directors, the company secretary or other appropriate members of senior
management respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly. All shareholders
are also encouraged to attend general meetings of the company to discuss
matters relating to the group. At general meetings of the company, the directors
will answer questions from the shareholders.

Investor relations has always formed an important part of the company’s
corporate governance. It provides two-way communication between
management and the investment community and continually updates investors
on the company’s latest business developments in a timely manner. The
designated team also regularly provides the management with market feedback
and opinions from the investment community to improve the governance and
operations of the company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the company reviewed the

effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy which was found
satisfactory and did not receive any adverse comments from our shareholders.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The latest version of the Constitutional Documents can be downloaded from
the websites of the company or the Stock Exchange.

In November 2021, the Stock Exchange introduced a new listing regime for
overseas issuers which, covers, among others things, that all issuers are
required to comply with the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set out
under the amended Listing Rules which became effective as from 1 January
2022.

On 28 March 2022, the company announced proposing to amend the Bye-laws
(“Proposed Amendments”) and to adopt an amended and restated bye-laws
of the company (“New Bye-laws”) in order to update and bring the Bye-laws in
line with the latest legal and regulatory requirements, including the amendments
made to Appendix 3 (the “Core Shareholder Protection Standards”) to
the Listing Rules. The Proposed Amendments also include other updates
incorporating legal and regulatory changes in both Hong Kong and Bermuda.
Details are set out in the announcement of the company dated 28 March 2022.

The special resolution for the Proposed Amendments and the adoption of New
Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders at the AGM on 2 June 2022, and
have become effective since then.

Save as disclosed, there was no significant change to the Constitutional
Documents during the reporting year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The company is committed to sharing the results with shareholders while
striking a balance of continuous development of its business. Given the current
economic and financial conditions, the possible financial resources needed for
business development, the company does not expect to distribute any dividend
in the near term since it intends to invest the capital into its core businesses
as it strives to become one of the leading providers in industrial solution, smart
office and new retail sectors.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report presents our efforts and
achievement made in sustainability and social responsibility. The ESG Report
details our performance in carrying out the environmental and social policies

and fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.
Scope of the ESG Report

The scope of the ESG Report extended to cover our offices in Chongging
and Wuhan in addition to operating headquarter located in Shenzhen from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. It aimed to better reflect the whole
group’s environmental and social performance since over 80% of our total
employees as at 31 December 2022 were employed in the PRC through these
three offices. The environmental KPIs for 2021 are restated to include data from
Chongaging and Wuhan.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. We
have complied with the above provisions during the reporting year.

Reporting Principles

The content of the ESG Report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. The ESG Report covers all key issues that
are concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative environmental and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report
so that stakeholders are able to have a comprehensive understanding of our
ESG performance. Information of the standards, methodologies, references
and source of key emission of these KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.
To enhance comparability of the ESG performance between years, we have
strived to adopt consistent reporting and calculation methodologies as far as
reasonably practicable. For any changes in methodologies, we have presented
and explained in details in the corresponding sections.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continueq)

Information and Feedbacks

For details of the corporate governance of the group, please refer to the
corporate governance report on pages 16 to 38 of this annual report. Your
opinions are highly valued. If you have any advice or suggestions, please feel
free to contact the company through:

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel No.: (852) 3628 3857
Fax No.: (852) 3188 1523

BOARD STATEMENT

We believes that good ESG governance strategies and practices are crucial
to the business in long term, especially in enhancing investment values and
returns. The board of directors is directly responsible for the oversight of our
ESG-related issues. The board has also delegated our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer to take up the responsibility to monitor the execution
of ESG-related actions and provide macro instruction for policy setting, as well
as review the content and quality of the ESG report annually.

We believe that effective ESG risk management can help us avoid impacts
associated with ESG and climate related risks. The board shall regularly
monitor our ESG risk assessment procedures, as well as the corresponding risk
mitigation measures.

The board understands that it is essential to set ESG approach and strategy
according to the importance of ESG issues towards the group and its
stakeholders, therefore the board has assigned a third-party ESG professional
to conduct a materiality assessment on ESG issues. To identify the material
issues, stakeholder surveys have been carried out, and industry-specific issues
were considered by using materiality maps together with professional advice.
Directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and provided
constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The board is well
informed about the results and will keep reviewing the engagement channels
and exercise.

To make sure the management of ESG issues is on the right track, the board
oversees the coordination between departments according to their respective
targets, and will look for opportunities to set more explicit ESG goals and
targets for the group. The progress of the goals on ESG matters will be
reviewed annually.
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FnE
Stakeholders

STAKRHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so
that comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders are effectively and

timely addressed. The following table summarises the main expectations
and concerns of our key stakeholders and the corresponding management

responses.

A

Expectations

EEEEIRE BERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

B R 55 E 1 8

Government and Regulators

BRER

Shareholders

EBBH

Business Partners

. ETERBE  ERERER
Compliance with national policies,
laws and regulation

. TR RS RE
Support for local economic growth

. IR 5 B2
Drive local employment

J BB B BRANTR

Tax payment in full and on time

U [E13R
Returns
. EREE

Compliance operations

J RAREEE
Rise in company value

. BHEREBRER
Transparency and effective
communication

. Y

Operation with integrity
N

Equal Rivalry
J BiTE#H

Performance of contracts
. EEHA

Mutual benefits

. EHE SER
Regular Information reporting
. EREEERMERITER
Regular meetings with regulators
. BE ket
Examination and inspection

o N
General meetings

. nE
Announcements

o BIBH BEIMKRATEG
Email, telephone conversations and
company website

. BRI TS
Review and appraisal meetings
. EBIR
Business communication
. 5Y5m B R 3R
Discussion and exchange of opinions
. 2HELGF
Engagement and cooperation
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BHEELRE BEERE
& HE Management Responses/
Stakeholders Expectations Communication Channels
ER . BHEE M KRR . B R R R0 K B
Customers Outstanding products and services Customer service center and hotlines
BERZR HERBITESR
Health and safety Meetings with customers
BiTE4 HRER TS
Performance of contracts Social media platforms
MIEKE BE R 8

(=]

Employees

HERAR
Community and the public

Operation with integrity

HeF| fRE

Protection of rights
W2

Occupational health
M R @A
Remunerations and benefits
HEERE

Career development
AR

Humanity cares

ZEHE

Transparency
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Calling for feedback

HMETRITER
Meetings with employees
) &0 HA I 2 79 B 4
House journal and intranet
BT

Employee mailbox

Bl R E

Training and workshop
BT &S

Employee activities

NSIE N

Company website
NS
Announcements
HARERETE

Social media platforms
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L

B
Environmental

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with our environmental
and social performance, we have conducted a materiality assessment to
identify ESG issues that are material to our business and its stakeholders.
The assessment is based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps provided
by well-known external institutions', as well as professional opinions from the
third-party ESG professional. The material ESG issues as identified are shown
as follows:

. AR EE
Energy Management

& 1% 5 %5 T1E A

Employment and Labour Practices

. Bl ER

Training and Development

EIEEG
Operating Practices

o BI%tib
Employee Diversity

o REMBRHERS

Customer Privacy and Data Security
. mEER

Quality Management
. k&=

Anti-corruption

et -

1. ERTETIRENER LB EEMSCIR A FEE
B RELZ S E(SASB)E A RIFHNESGTTXE 2L E

B SASBE 2B L o

J EEAR
Operational Compliance
J FEH E IR E

Intellectual Property Protection

Note:

1 The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment include the ESG
Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced respectively by
MSCI and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Employment

Human resources act as the pillar of the group, thus employing the suitable
talents for different positions is of ultimate importance. To recruit talent, we
offer competitive remuneration to all our employees. Throughout the reporting
year, we have strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations in its places
of business such as the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China (F# AR HEME S H)/%), Labor Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China (f# AR EMEE B &FE), the Labor
Code 2019 of Vietnam and the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 in the United
States of America, in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination other benefits and welfare of employees. We have made our best
effort to ensure that the legitimate rights and interests of our employees are
protected in accordance with laws.

Anti-discrimination is highly valued during the employment process, we
select the right candidates only based on their qualifications, experience and
ability without taking into consideration of their gender, race, age, nationality,
marital status, pregnancy, disability and religion, etc. We strictly prohibit the
use of child labour and forced labour in accordance with the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (B2 IEERZTRE). As a means to
avoid employing child labour, all newly employed staff is required to provide
identification documents for age verification purpose. Once such practice
is discovered, the group would investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss
relevant employees immediately. An employment contract which clearly
defines the job title and duties of the respective employee are required to be
signed to prevent the employee from performing work out of their prescribed
responsibilities. For employees who wish to resign, we follow relevant
procedures and conduct exit interviews as an effort to collect opinions from
them for any possible improvement of our policies and operations. During the
reporting period, no cases of child labour or forced labour were identified by
the group.
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BT (#) Employment (continued)

HE_S - _FE+"BA=+—H &xEESEHEER As of 31 December 2022, we employed a total of 588 employees and the total
588 BT 1R~ Fi R BEBER RH&E]S  workforce by gender, age group, employment type, and geographical region are

HESEEUWT : as follows:

By Gender
iR & 5

28%
(167) 2022
—g-=
2021
k- Sl 3
Bl Male Female
= B -
By Employment Type
HERERS S
0%
@
100%
(586)
2022
—g-C
2021
T

B Full-time Part-time
= 2 R

By Age Group
HEREANE 2

4%
24)
e 20%
(115)

2022
—g-=
{ﬁg& 2021
TR
B <30 30-50 >50
- -
By Geographical Region
it &2 5
1%
a% 4%
(26) .
1%
(
2022
—E-C
2021
B
China [ Taiwan Vietnam us Hong Kong
hE T g 23] ESE] &E
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

The overall employee turnover rate was 11% and the turnover rate by gender,
age group and geographical region are as follows:

BE-_ZEZ-_-% BE-—E-—&F
+ZA=+—H +ZB=+—H
IHEE ILFE
For the For the
year ended year ended
BT REE(%) Employee Turnover Rate (%) 31st Dec 2022 31st Dec 2021
gk Rk b By gender
B Male 10 24
7% Female 12 16
BERERNE D By age group
<30 <30 23 32
30-50 30-50 8 17
>50 >50 4 82
i E a5 By geographical region
th PRC 11 20
5% Hong Kong 0 0
o 3 Taiwan 14 23
= us 0 28
2] Vietnam 12 48
Bl R ERE Training and Development

BIABXHASNGERFERHSUETIHAE
FEZ -AMRETIHNREZRGSHMAEBRIIHN
MERER D o HIE > MR B TIREHE RFEI - LR
FHR SR TR BE R A o

RERSEE RS FRRNRBPINETHEBT
BRBIREREG - RMAAKMASRHRAMER
RAREEESRERATEZNN BRI UER
FEAMBRIRERBA HRMANVERAEEEHLA
oo WP AR HIEEABSNEREI LILEH
HERIT EMEA RN E G S AT
mEMAEREEMANEREE -MBRERF KB
BEFREMNKEI MEEE8 TR ERENY
RN TR NMES TERE -#HWE T > R
REHE-FJIPWAREI A EBARMANER 245
EERTEBFNEE IIERRE WERSZARERM
WEHEEFE-BFMETIN HMERTSREEAE
ERUHEMANEAEERAGENETTENEIR
BeRMEERTRABAKEBFINMAEIRHEE
o

Building suitable career paths with a bright future is crucial to every employee.
We see employees’ career development as a component of our business
success. Hence, we deliver education and training to our employees in an effort
to build up their working skills and knowledge.

During the reporting year, we have organized various opportunities of training
and development for employees across different levels and departments. We
have offered introduction and training on our products and different types
of smart manufacturing solutions to our technical staff so that they are well
equipped with sufficient knowledge on our products before providing services
for our customers. Pre-sale training, which was specific to our salespersons,
was also organized to improve their sales technique and hence our sales
performance. Besides, training related to human resources management,
financial procedures, procurement procedures and I.T. were also provided to
relevant staff so that work efficiency was increased with employees’ advanced
skills and familiarity with the systems. Targeting new employees, we have
offered a series of induction training with regard to our policies, system
operation and daily workflow of different departments in order to familiarise
themselves with our daily operation. Other than new employees, we have
provided our middle and senior management personnel with training sessions
on topics including human capital management and leadership skills. We aim
to provide all-round development to all employees from different levels and
departments.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Training and Development (continued)

In addition, to keep abreast of the ever-changing business environment, an
educational subsidy policy has been put in place to encourage employees to
pursue up-to-date job-related knowledge, such as SAP certification, externally.
We also sponsor our employees who take examinations pertained to their
designated roles and responsibility.

During the reporting year, we provided training to 539 employees which
accounted for 92% of our employees. The time inputted for each employee, on

B%o

ZH 8 ITE (%)

average, was 24.2 hours.

BE-_ZT—_— HE_ZT-—F

+=A=+—=H +-A=+-8

IEEFE IFFEE

For the For the

Percentage of year ended year ended

employees trained (%)

31st Dec 2022

31st Dec 2021

R85 By gender

B Male 91 91
egi Female 93 93

BESRAE 2 By employee level
= AR High 48 95
AR Middle 95 95
4R Low 99 85
BEZZT-Z— BHE_Z”_—F
+ZA=+—H +ZHA=+—H
IEEFE IFFEE
For the For the
year ended year ended

39 32 2 BF B (V)

Average Training Hours (hours)

31st Dec 2022

31st Dec 2021

iR 8 52 By gender
B4 Male 23.5 25.7
egi Female 25.9 27.2
BESRAE S By employee level
=T High 37.1 18.8
AR Middle 24.9 27.4
(& 4R Low 20.4 29.5
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Training and Development (continued)

As a well-rounded development pathway, we also offer promotion opportunities
to employees while providing training. We adopt the performance evaluation
and management policy in an attempt to assess the employees’ performance
regularly to provide a foundation for their promotion and salary adjustment.
By taking into consideration of the employees’ target accomplishment, job
completion, work quality and performance etc., we evaluate our employees’
performance with performance appraisal which includes face-to-face interview.
Employees who have achieved outstanding results in performance appraisal will
be given priority in the process of promotion.

Health and Safety

We always put priority on employees’ health and safety. During the reporting
year, we strictly conformed to the relevant laws in our places of business
such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases (FFZE A R H BB %% 65 74°%), the Law on
Occupational Safety and Health of Vietnam, the Occupational Safety and Health
Act of 1970 of the United States of America and the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (B2 %2 2 Kz & B 15 ) of Hong Kong.

Our management is responsible for implementing safety measures so as to
assure our employees with a safe and healthy workplace. Our management
also ensures that necessary information, instruction and supervision are
provided so that all employees are safe from injury and health risks. We
organise safety orientation for new employees to keep them informed and
trained with safety regulations and emergency procedures. The emergency
procedures such as fire or explosion emergency plan have been well
established, and we regularly arrange rescue, fire and evacuation drills in order
to prevent casualties in case of accidents. In the past three years, there were
no work-related injuries and fatalities, thanks to the effort put by the group in
creating an injury-free business environment.
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RBEREZEZ (B)

Health and Safety (continued)

HEZT-Z BEZZ-_—F H®HEZTEZHE

+ZB=+—H +ZBR=+—H +ZA=+—H

LLEE EFEE HFE

For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended

1518 Indicators 31st Dec 2022  31st Dec 2021  31st Dec 2020
HETERRZIET AR Number of work-related fatalities (] 0

B TEBREZIET (%) Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 0
RAITEmiBkz TEH Lost days due to work injury 19 0

B 2IKCOVID-19Z BHRE > RFEBHR—R5E
B $8 7 R 2 I BUSR - A& B S fFCOVID- 1907 4 i
NiRmRERH LREERHEABAGEDE
Eif - AEEERERENTIFZH  tMmEE TN
RBERTHRXRTRESERTIIF BRAERE-
FEFAETIMEBOS  URPNEAGRZATAEEE
HoAEBTRMBAETINEFHMBENTHRES I
EHEREENEERL LN EEEBEIBEE N
akZFHEMBFNEERELF LAHEEER
FOREEAN A

BT®&EF

AAEE T TREEMN  HAREHEZNENFS
BEERRENEN R AEBFTIRHERERN - SHER
ETHARARSHRE AEERBEMEBERE BT
ETTHRELEAFETEERB TIERRE - AEE
EBETAREZAZSERE MARBA FR ER-
BRERE - RATAIAMENEESAPTAEER
PEERB KRBT LI PR TREUNEER
EHZH U RMUAFTECRTRATREBNHE

ABRBENE - RMPTESELAERETRHURE
BEiE e

i RPERBEERZEEGRRZH HAR
ENERRE BETHRRETEY UTHEES
WIFEREZ - HMTEETEARSIRENHERE
THEE=EHEEGY) (FHYE THRHIER It
S RFIEREBRIINEREZREIHUBHE TR
BACHIRHER o

As the COVID-19 pandemic persists worldwide, we have implemented a series
of preventive measures and control policy. A handbook of the control and
prevention of COVID-19 was released to raise employees’ awareness and
provide employees with basic personal hygiene protection measures. Special
working arrangements were put in place so that employees were allowed to
work from home depending on the latest pandemic situation to avoid mass
gatherings. All staff are encouraged to wear masks, as well as measure body
temperature before entering the premise. Whereabouts information of all staff
during the Spring Festival was recorded, and employees’ health condition was
reported regularly. Besides, the management has strived its best to cooperate
and support local government’s pandemic prevention and control work, and
prepared adequate pandemic prevention supplies for employees.

Employee Welfare

In order to stimulate the working initiative of the employees, we provide a wide
range of welfare including those required by laws and offered by the group. To
assure our employees of sufficient rest time, we follow relevant regulations to
define working duration for employees and we allow employees to have flexible
working hours. Our employees are also entitled to a number of leaves such as
public holidays, annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave and funeral leave.
We also contribute to all applicable statutory insurance and mandatory funds
for employees in different locations. Besides, we offer allowances to employees
at different positions, for instance, salespersons who frequently communicate
with clients are granted communication allowances. Every year, each employee
is also provided with a free body checkup.

In addition, we place emphasis on the work-life balance of our employees by
hosting various team-building activities, festival parties and birthday parties
which allow our employees to relax and interact. We also prepare lucky draws
and gifts during birthday parties and special festivals as special rewards for our
employees. Furthermore, we regularly organize outdoor team building activities
to help employees construct bonds between each other.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS

Supply Chain Management

To thoroughly fulfill the environmental and social responsibility, management
of our business operation including the supply chain cannot be neglected. As
a way to ensure that qualified products and services are provided, we target
and cooperate with suppliers with high credibility such as long-established
suppliers and those from eminent enterprises. We have set up comprehensive
procurement policies and systems which act as a guide to opt for and manage
our suppliers. During the selection process, suppliers are evaluated mainly
based on their product quality, delivery, and production capacity, compliance
and past performance from environmental, health and safety aspects. Suppliers
who fail to meet the requirements will ultimately be disqualified.

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national, regional
and industrial environmental standards, follow internationally recognized
standards and own certifications concerning energy management systems,
environmental management systems and social risk management. We also
value the employment and incorruptibility of suppliers. Therefore, we ensure
that suppliers are committed to uphold the human rights of employees by
implementing internal regulations in accordance with internationally accepted
norms. Whether they have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety
policies and obtained relevant certifications is also an important consideration.
The cooperation with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with relevant
laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any other
unethical business practices will be terminated at once.

Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmentally friendly products and
service during procurement. For example, we prefer eco-friendly products
which are energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as refillable
pens and recycled paper. We also encourage the staff to pay attention to
the expiry date of products and use products purchased earlier to avoid
unnecessary wastage. Besides, to reduce carbon footprint, we tend to select
local suppliers or suppliers geographically closer to the company.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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Product and Service Quality

We provide industrial, smart office and new retail solutions, in which our
employees are involved in the sales and installation of the hardware and
software. We have established a quality management system, which has
obtained ISO 9001:2015 certification, to ensure that we can attain a high level
of product and service quality.

When selecting and purchasing products, the group strictly follows the Product
Quality Law of the People’'s Republic of China (FEARHXMNEERESE) .
We always set up contract terms regarding product quality with suppliers to
ensure that the corresponding products have passed necessary testing and
attained certain industrial standards. The products we provide are guaranteed
to have met all applicable health and safety requirements under China
Compulsory Certification (FF Bl 5& fl 14 = M2 3%) , as stipulated according to the

Provision on the Administration of Compulsory Product (58l 14 2 fsR:E BB R
E) .
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Product and Service Quality (continued)

As a professional service provider, we never spare ourselves in the pursuit
of excellence in service quality and the complete provision of services in
accordance with customers’ needs and expectations. After-sales services such
as maintenance, training on product application and product return are always
provided, in addition to the major I.T. services we provide. We constantly
keep track of the experience and opinions of our customers by implementing
a thorough feedback-tracking system. In case of complaints on goods and
service quality, staff from different teams who have their own designated roles
and responsibilities will work together in carrying out prompt follow-up actions
so that impacts or inconvenience can be minimised.

During the year, we did not receive any major complaints about our products
and services and did not record any products sold or shipped that were subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Privacy Protection

Throughout our business processes, we play a pivotal role in privacy protection
by handling information and data of customers and employees with the highest
degree of care. We strictly comply with relevant personal privacy regulations
adopted in our places of business such as the Personal Information Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China (% AR EMEIME A EMIREZE),
Personal Data Protection Act (f8 A & &R /%) of Taiwan, Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance ({8 A & i (FABE) 1% 4) of Hong Kong, Privacy Act of US and
Vietnam’s Personal Data Protection Decree during the reporting year.

We provide our privacy policy along with our services to let customers
understand how we collect, utilise, save and share their information, as well
as how the information is controlled, updated and protected. Specifically, we
have established a comprehensive database encryption system with regular
checking, both manually and automatically, to protect customer data. To
access customers’ personal data, employees are required to get approval from
several parties including the legal department and their department heads. Our
employees are also liable to not divulging confidential information of the group
to any third parties.

Furthermore, we show exceptional care to our employees’ personal
information, so we spare no effort on the prevention of data leakage.
Information of all employees, including the resigned ones and the candidates, is
used for recruitment purpose only and is absolutely confidential. Such data will
not be kept for a period longer than that required by relevant regulations.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Intellectual Property Rights

To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights of the group, our
customers, suppliers and any other business partners, we strictly conformed
to the relevant laws and regulations such as the Patent law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZE AR HEFMEZF)7%), the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FfF#E A R EFE @ 1Z7%), Trademark Act (F1E7%) of Taiwan,
Trade Marks Ordinance (B1Z{%%l) of Hong Kong, Prevention of Copyright
Piracy Ordinance (Bf LE 5 FA R 1 16 ) of Hong Kong, Trade-Mark Act of US and
Vietnam’s Intellectual Property Law during the reporting year.

Our specialised talents are proficient in research and invention, particularly
in the aspect of software development. During the reporting year, we have
successfully obtained patents for 45 self-developed systems, such as remote
control app and total quality management system. To effectively apply for
and protect the invention patent and software copyright, we have established
and implemented a policy on intellectual property right protection. Besides,
protective clauses which have been reviewed and approved by our professional
lawyers are included in the contracts signed with customers, suppliers
and employees in order to give legitimacy to our intellectual property right
protection.

In case of advertisement, we are also devoted to preventing the infringement
of intellectual property rights, either by others or by the group, through the
conformity with relevant laws such as the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FF#E AR HEFEE &%), Consumer Protection Act CHE &
{R3%) of Taiwan, Trade Descriptions Ordinance (7 T2 BA & #1) of Hong Kong,
Advertising Laws and Regulations of Federal Trade Commission of US during
the reporting year.

Anti-corruption

Corruptive behavior may be a source of risk that weakens our business’s
stability and hampers its development. We on no account allow any actions
and behavior to blemish the image of the group. Thus, we are committed to
ensuring that every department meets its legal obligations, at the same time
joins hands to prevent, detect and eliminate corrupt practices, hence reducing
the number of bribery and corruption incidents.

We do not tolerate any attempt to commit corrupt practices by employees,
contractors, agents and business partners and take any such attempts
seriously. We communicate internal rules, laws and regulations to employees
through meetings and other usual communication channels in an effort to
emphasise the importance of integrity, honesty and fairness and to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud as well as money laundering. All management
and staff are highly encouraged to report cases of suspected corruption,
either to their supervisors or other managers. Suspected corruption cases will
be properly investigated and associated actions, such as disciplinary action,
reporting to relevant authorities and prosecution, will be taken. Any breach of
the anti-corruption policy is deemed to have committed a major misconduct
and is meted out to a disciplinary action.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

We believe that it is essential to regularly provide training to the employees on
topics regarding corruptive behavior so as to maintain employees’ awareness
towards corruptive behavior. No anti-corruption is provided during the year.
The group has provided its board of directors and its employees with reading
materials regarding the prevention and avoidance of corruption as training.
We shall continue to look for different opportunities to further strengthen
employees’ resilience against corrupt behavior.

We strictly abide by laws and regulation in respect of anti-corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering such as Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China for Suppression of Corruption (Fh#E A B £ EBEE 515
%), Anti-Corruption Act (&75 4 3B %) of Taiwan, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance ([ LE BB B& 1&4) of Hong Kong, Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of US
and Anti-Corruption Law of Vietnam. During the year, we are not aware of any
breach of laws and regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

Pollution Management

As environmental issues are drawing increasing attention among the business
community, we are dedicated to mitigating negative environmental impacts,
such as climate change, by controlling and minimising our emission. We bear
the environmentally friendly concept in mind in our daily operation and business
development.

Owing to the service-based business, we generate no water pollutants
commonly discharged from manufacturing processes. Likewise, we do not emit
air pollutants except for the private car used for maintaining our daily operation.
As a way to reduce emission, we require all the users of the vehicle to switch
off the idling engine to avoid unnecessary emission.

BEZZT—-Z— BE_Z”_—F
+=-A=+-H +-A=+-8
IEEFE IFEE

For the For the

year ended year ended

31st Dec 2022 31st Dec 2021

AREMINOY (F52)
REEMI(SON (F5=)
R YI(PM) (F7)

Mt -

1. SRMBEIRER S EZZ TN 5 — IRIEERE
IS RREIES It E -

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 5.91 5.08
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.19 0.14
Particulate matter (PM) (kg) 0.43 0.37
Note:
1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance

on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Pollution Management (continued)

Another principal source of emissions is the waste generated from daily
business operations in our office. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (F12E A R A1 & B EY)
JBRRIRIE A A7) . Both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes were generated
during the reporting year, of which the former included waste batteries and
the latter consisted of mainly daily office garbage produced by employees. We
deem that waste disposal is not of significance or risk to our business, and that
the amount of hazardous and non-hazardous waste is insignificant due to its
business nature. Because of that, we have not set targets for waste disposal.
Nonetheless, we still strive to avoid detrimental impacts on the environment,
non-hazardous wastes generated by the office were collected by the cleaning
company employed by the commercial building where the office is located at,
while the hazardous wastes were collected separately at specific points in the
building before collecting by the designated party.

BE—_ZT_— BE_ZT”_—F
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For the For the

Waste Disposal year ended year ended

BERMEEER

Indicators

31st Dec 2022 31st Dec 2021

BEEEYRE (T
BREEEZEENATERE (Tn)

BEREERYRE (RN
BYLREEEENETERE (RW)

Total hazardous waste (kg) 6.72 6.75
Hazardous waste discarded per
employee (kg) 0.01 0.01
Total non-hazardous waste (tonnes)’ 44.46 42.48
Non-hazardous waste discarded per
employee (tonnes) 0.08 0.08
Note:
1. Estimated from daily office garbage volume and the volume to weight conversion
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factors provided by the Urban Management and Comprehensive Law Enforcement
Bureau of Shenzhen, Wuhan and Chongging.

We have carried out a number of measures by following the principle of “4R”
to minimise the amount of waste we generated. For example, we reduced the
use of paper by implementing double-side printing, and we spared no effort
to reuse office supplies such as stationary, papers, envelopes and files. For
recycling, we have set up sorting bins so that staff can sort and recycle plastics
and paper after using, and old computers would be recycled by electronics
companies. We also purchased recyclable and refillable products such as
refillable pens and rechargeable batteries to replace those disposable ones
in our office. During the reporting year, we did not produce any packaging
materials.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission

Despite the fact that we are not involved in energy-intensive businesses,
normal office operation which is indispensable to maintain our remarkable and
professional services is still a source of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission.
Hence, we exert ourselves to abide by the relevant laws and make our daily
operation more environmentally-friendly. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group, such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (R #E A R HMEIRIGR#EE) .

In addition to the use of vehicles, which is a type of direct emission of GHG,
indirect emission from processes such as electricity consumption, water
and sewage treatment, disposal of paper to landfills and business trips
of employees are the main sources of greenhouse gas emission from our

wEREFRER

operation.
BEZZT-Z BE_T_—
+=ZB=+—H +ZHA=+—H
WLFE FFE
For the For the
year ended year ended

GHG Emissions Indicators'’

31st Dec 2022

31st Dec 2021

EBEREHIWEE E_atiheEs) Total GHG emissions (tonnes COze) 292 200
EERERENMEE M_StRE=2S Total GHG emissions per employee

(tonnes CO2¢) 0.50 0.37
BERREREEN (EE1)2(H_atRES) Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)?

(tonnes CO:ze) 30 23
MEZAERBYER @#E2) S (MH_alikE2) Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)°

(tonnes CO:ze) 163 150
B EEREHN (BEES) * E_|atmE=2) Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)*

(tonnes CO:ze) 99 27
Vg3 Notes:
1. AEENAERBERESTEE_Gtik Blrhkaits 1. The group’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.
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For the ease of reading and understanding, the GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent (COze).The calculation of GHG emissions is based on the
reporting requirements of Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. Includes direct emissions from the fuel combustion in vehicles. The emission factor
used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC.

3. Includes energy indirect emissions resulting from the generation of purchased
electricity. The emission factor used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

4. Includes other indirect emissions that occur outside the group. The disclosed
figures are resulted from paper waste disposal at landfills, water consumption and
business air travel. The emission factor used for calculating paper waste can be
found in Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the
Stock Exchange, while that for water consumption is provided by Shenzhen Water
(Group) Co., LTD, Wuhan Water (Group) Co., LTD and Chongqging Water (Group) Co.,
LTD. Emissions data relating to business air travel is based on the International Civil
Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions Calculator.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

During the reporting year, we have not set any goals regarding greenhouse
gas emissions, since we believe that GHG emissions do not pose a risk to our
business operations and performance, and that the emissions amount is viewed
to be insignificant. However, we are aware of the importance to effectively
manage our emissions, therefore we have adopted a number of measures
from paper recycling to energy conservation in an attempt to reduce our GHG
emissions. For example, we pragmatically cut down on the use of paper by
using office automation system to replace paper-based administration system
and using recycled paper and double-sided printing. Reminders are posted at
printing corners to remind employees to reuse and maximise the use of papers
whenever possible. Employees who are engaged actively in overseas meetings
are encouraged to substitute phone or video conferences for business trips,
although business travels have become less frequent in the reporting year due
to COVID-19. Generally, we endeavor to build a green and healthy environment
together with all our employees, thus we encourage the use of public transport
instead of private cars in their commute to work. For details of energy
conservation, please refer to “Energy and Water Conservation”.

Energy and Water Conservation

To make contributions to environmental protection, we endeavor to conserve
energy and water usage so as to reduce emission. We are always aware of
the possible impacts resulted from the overuse of energy and water, thus we
strictly manage energy and water consumption in our operation, particularly
in the office. We have set targets regarding energy and water conservation,
aiming to reduce energy and water consumption on a per employee basis.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 57



RIB-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REEIRIE @
ENREER K (22)

RAFE > ZABBABERED ZN TIFHARMA
HEEEFNNERUREERNTREERE -
BEEN 2EEMTTIRFRIENEH  TEXR
FIFLBS I A E B & K B E B IR B ELHY 5 i e P i BY
B

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Energy and Water Conservation (continued)

During the year, we invited internal constructor to share tips on adopting green
lifestyles at the work-place and sustainability effort of the group. Through the
training, the participants raised the awareness on environmental aspects and
understand the measures and effort we have made in conserving the resources
such as electricity and water at office.

BE_ZT_— BHE —F
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For the For the

Energy and water year ended year ended

BETR B K HFEIEHE consumption Indicators 31st Dec 2022 31st Dec 2021
FERHFEARZE KRB Total energy consumption (MWh) 433 378
BIEEREHE JKRE) Direct energy consumption’ (MWh) 124 92
SEETEPEP=F =N C] 9SN:SH) Indirect energy consumption? (MWh) 310 286

BRESERHEEEE OKRF)

KERHERE QLHK)
BREEBKERHEESE (LHK)

1. BEEWmAEER BRAEEREEENERATF
HPEERERMNNEZE R M-

Total energy consumption

per employee (MWh) 0.74 0.80
Total water consumption (m@) 2026 1987
Total water consumption per

employee (m?) 3.45 3.66

Notes:

1. Includes the use of fuel of vehicles. The conversion factor used for calculating energy
consumption is provided by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC.

2. Includes the amount of purchased electricity.
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In daily operation, we always bear in mind the avoidance of energy waste in
order to achieve our targets. We set all computers to sleeping mode when
idling and require our staff to switch off appliances such as lights, computers
and printers completely when not in use and before leaving the office every day.
We also clean all light fixtures and air-conditioners in order to ensure that they
are running at the highest efficiency to avoid wasting energy. Besides, through
office design, we try to maximise the use of natural light and divide the office in
separate lighting zones so as to allow a more flexible use of light. Non-frontline
employees are also allowed to wear light so that energy for air conditioning can
be saved.

In terms of water conservation, we have also put in lots of efforts and have
implemented plenty of water-saving measures including putting up water-saving
reminder labels in toilets to raise our employees’ awareness of water-saving
and arranging for repair and maintenance for dripping faucets immediately. In
addition, grey water is reused for cleaning and irrigation wherever possible.
During the reporting year, we had no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Response to Climate Change

Climate change is currently one of the most urgent global issues, prompting
corporates from different sectors to respond accordingly. We are no exception,
being highly aware of the potential risks and impacts brought to our business
operations by climate change. For instance, we are aware that increasingly
frequent and severe extreme weather events may put us at risk of numerous
negative impacts, especially potentially increasing operational costs since
facilities and equipment may be damaged and require repair.

In face of such climate-related risk, we regularly conduct climate-related
risk assessments to identify, monitor and manage potential climate-related
risks, so as to analyze the vulnerability of our business operations against
different aspects of climate change. Furthermore, we have put in place
various measures to prevent and mitigate the potential impacts that may
arise. Particularly, in order to mitigate the impacts from more frequent extreme
weather events, we have implemented an emergency management plan, which
details the specific measures against extreme weather conditions, such as
special work arrangements under thunderstorms.

Looking forward, we shall continue to monitor and assess the ever-changing
risks that climate change may bring to the group and shall swiftly take
preventive and mitigative steps once climate-related risks of any form arise.

CONTRIBUTING TO COMMUNITY

We encourage employees to care for and spend time on the local communities
through participating in all kinds of social activities such as attending local
community activities and charitable donations. Employees are also encouraged
to participate in environmental protection activities and promote environmental
awareness within the group. During the year, we donated over 2,000 all-in-
one computers to Caritas Computer Workshop for recycling and environmental
saving purposes. We will continue to look for other opportunities to devote
back to the community in the future.
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HRRE
Page no./
Explanation/
ESGI&HE B =321 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
IRiR
Environmental
A1EERRYD —MRi%E SREE 54
Emissions General disclosure Pollution Management
A1l.1 BEU TR 58 R AR R HE B © SRERE 54
The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Pollution Management
A1.2 RERBHREER WER) BE- BER 56
Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, Greenhouse Gas Emissions
intensity.
A1.3 FFEEREEEYRER WMER) BE- SHREE 54
Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,  Pollution Management
intensity.
Al.4 FFEEBREEREEER WBER) BE- SREIE 54
Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where Pollution Management
appropriate, intensity.
A1.5 HAPFREI NI E B R R A EDIE LB RIS BERBHKR 56
B o
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to Greenhouse Gas Emissions
achieve them.
A1.6 HEREESERESEREYMN G L MMM IARE SHRE 54
Bk AEDE LB EMEREN D 8o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes  Pollution Management
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
A2ERER —MRiRE £ BE B 7K 57
Use of General disclosure Energy and Water Conservation
Resources
A2.1 RERADNERERFEEEREEEEREE - £ BE & 58
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy and Water Conservation
and intensity.
A2.2 BIEKEREE - EAE BT K 58
Water consumption in total and intensity. Energy and Water Conservation
A2.3 HMPRETUNEREBA NG B R R AEI S LEERIRE  HEEEIK 57
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Energy and Water Conservation
taken to achieve them.
A2.4 HAKREGB A AR ] B AR B RE > URPRETILA KA EIREER 58
m B RAIERIELE B RPTEREA P 5
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Energy and Water Conservation
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.
A2.5 N EPTABREMENEER WER) S4ESMhE AKX 58

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
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HEEREEA
Page no./
Explanation/

ESGIE1E == =111 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
ASRERXAER —HREE RERIE EEZMTE
FRHEE 7
REK-o
Environmental General disclosure Protecting our Environment Not material
and Natural as identified
Resources in the
materiality
assessment.
A3.1 B EBEHMHRERRARAERNEAZEREHRKNERE [RHERER TEENTG
BREFENTH- FRHE E 7 L
TEK-
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Protecting our Environment Not material
environment and natural resources and the actions taken as identified
to manage them. in the
materiality
assessment.
AdEIREE — AR BR fEH mIEE L 59
Climate Change General Disclosure Response to Climate Change
Ad.1 BB R R A EEHETAELERENEARFEERS fEH RIEZ L 59
" REHTH-
Description of the significant climate-related issues which  Response to Climate Change
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
e
Social
B1{E{& —Ri%EE BT 44
Employment General disclosure Employment
B1.1 MR BB FRARN R E B DN REE M - 8T 45
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employment
and geographical region.
B1.2 RHR S FEERN K& DN EE ALK BT 46
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment
geographical region.
BRI %2 — AR B RERZZ 48
Health and General disclosure Health and Safety
Safety
B2.1 AT THAB R ERRZE 49
Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
B2.2 FAITEELRTIEH#- RERZR 49
Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B2.3 BT ER AN B 2E R R B 2 AT W IT R ER RBERZSE 49

ez

Description of occupational health and safety measures

Health and Safety

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
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BB
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Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI&1E B =321 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B3% B R — AR Bl 3R 46
Development General disclosure Training and Development
and Training
B3.1 ZHRREEENEDNZIRET DL - Bl k3 R 47
The percentage of employees trained by gender and Training and Development
employee category.
B3.2 ZERREERENR D SREETAZIN TR FIRERE 47
The average training hours completed per employee by Training and Development
gender and employee category.
B4% T#H| — i BT 44
Labour General disclosure Employment
Standards
B4.1 G s BB B G M B PR LU B R B T R sa 85 T o BT 44
Description of measures to review employment practices to Employment
avoid child and forced labour.
B4.2 H T B IR R IR H PR B BB S PTERENRY 27 B8 o BT 44
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Employment
when discovered.
B51H fE 52 & 1F — R EE HAEHEE 50
Supply Chain General disclosure Supply Chain Management
Management
B5.1 Zie N HEFEE - HERER 51
Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
B5.2 HRBRMEAREENEN nERTHBAEANMHES HEREE 50
HE UREARITRERG -
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply Chain Management
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
B5.3 BB HEESERNNRERATSARNES > HEREE 50
MR ERABIT REER %
Description of practices used to identify environmental and Supply Chain Management
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B5.4 HMEREEEENRELHBRERKBRBNEG U HERESIE 50

FARRARIT R EE R 5%

Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Supply Chain Management
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
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B6EmEE — AR ER EmkRBEE 51
Product General disclosure Product and Service Quality
Responsibility
B6.1 EENREXERAYEPRLZ2HEREAMARKNE EakRBEE 52
pagsrl
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Product and Service Quality
recalls for safety and health reasons.
B6.2 BEMANERRIRBNERFEE UK EHE 5% EmkRBEE 52
Number of products and service-related complaints Product and Service Quality
received and how they are dealt with.
B6.3 e B A B R IRPE RN B E R B REAVIB 6 o FEE ERE 53
Description of practices relating to observing and Intellectual Property Rights
protecting intellectual property rights.
B6.4 HIEERTBREKRERBRRER- EmkiRBEE 52
Description of quality assurance process and recall Product and Service Quality
procedures.
B6.5 WIS BEERMRE RFARESR ) MR EEARITRERA  [BiARE 52
Pz
Description of consumer data protection and privacy Privacy Protection
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7TRES — AR EE R&5 53
Anti-corruption General disclosure. Anti-corruption
B7.1 RBEAAHBTANHEBEERELEEENESHARE RES 54
HHHE KFRER
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.2 HMH SR B RIZT > U B RITRERS %o R&5 53
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7.3 HWiimESkE TRENRESE- RES 54
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Anti-corruption
and staff.
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B8t ERE — i ER BE L& 59
Community General disclosure Contributing to Community
Investment
B8.1 AR BRtE 59
Focus areas of contribution. Contributing to Community
B8.2 AEFHEMBAER- BRtE 59
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the reporting year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the industrial solution, smart office and new retail businesses.

An analysis of the group’s revenue and contribution to operating profit
by reportable segments for the reporting year is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and an
indication of likely future developments in the group’s business can be found
in the paragraph headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 9 to 15 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Our results for the reporting year are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 94.

The directors do not recommend any payments of final dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE,
FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

A fair review of our businesses comprising analysis of the group’s performance
during the reporting year under review using financial key performance
indicators, future prospects and business development of the group,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the group, are
set out in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report. There had been no material events after 31 December 2022 till the
issuance of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The group has always considered environmental protection and energy
conservation as one of the key priorities in order to enhance the sustainable
development and undertake relevant social responsibility. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in
this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the company during the reporting
year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The company highly values the relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers as they are the foundation of the group’s success.

Employees

The company strictly complies with all the applicable rules and regulations
in relation to employment, to name a few, the Employment Ordinance,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, etc. The group has purchased all necessary insurance and
made monthly pension contributions for its staff and has measures in place
endeavoured to protect all staff’s personal information. There are channels for
staff to express their opinions with regard to their work. Moreover, the group
also strives to provide a safe, healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and
equal opportunities for staff of both genders and different races.

Customers

The group provides direct services and goods to customers and conduct
surveys to interact with them to gain market insights and feedback. For
the reporting year, sales to the five largest customers of the group in total
accounted for approximately 40% of the group’s total revenue, with the
largest customer accounting for approximately 12%. Credit terms offered to
customers ranged from 30 to 90 days. Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of trade
receivables based on historical payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the trade and other debtors and whether there
are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made in these financial statements. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. No significant recoverability problem
is identified subsequent to the reporting year.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

Suppliers

The suppliers of the group are either well established companies or from well-
known enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver goods and services as
requested. The five largest suppliers of the group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 47% by value of the group’s total purchases during the reporting
year, with the largest supplier accounting for approximately 28%. Furthermore,
anti-bribery policies are in place for all staff to comply.

During the reporting year, save for Hon Hai Group, none of the directors or any
of their close associates or any shareholders which, to the best knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital had
any interest in any of the group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the group are set
out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves of the
company during the reporting year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the company’s reserves are not available for
distribution. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i)
it is, or after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

DONATIONS

The group did not make any cash donations (31 December 2021: Nil) during
the reporting year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 67



EFEREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BEEEE

RABMERERMAIBELBERZRE MERE
EOITNEREEBEERIMURS . AR AR EREZ
RERRFARNLAEENRETRER -

hFEMHBERE

REEBE_E __F+_A=+—HLEAAEY
BEESFzaMEE EEREEHMEHIINES6
EO

B=

REREFEREERAFRARZEEESFTNT

BITEE
BEWRE (Z/E)
BEh#kE #iTR)
SRFERLE
BEMRSTE

ERITES
KIM Hyun Seok4f &
PARK Ho Jin4t &2

BIFRITES
RS
BEREE
SR RHUE

1 RIEZ=F=B"+HLHEZT
2 RIBZ=F=AZ+hB&HE

BEWRE - BNEAERBERLERIZBERAT
ZABIEBERRMB BN BESE ERHEERT
FERNEEREEFAKGBEEEMT -KIM Hyun Seok
TERRBAAT ZATEBEZIRMAEsE SR
ERHEERTEENEEREEFEAGBIEET

REFOURBIFNCTESFZ2EHREAREEARAZ
AEMHBERMBAEEARBDZRRBFEREG LHE
TR KREEEE-

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there is
no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige
the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the group for
each of the last five financial years until 31 December 2022 is set out on page
6.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the reporting year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman)

Mr. CAl LiTing (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. KAO Chao Yang

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. KIM Hyun Seok!
Mr. PARK Ho Jin?

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaogquan

! appointed on 29 March 2023
2 resigned on 29 March 2023

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mr. CAIl LiTing and Mr. CHENG Yee Pun will retire by
rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the Bye-laws and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. KIM Hyun Seok will
retire in accordance with Article 88 of the Bye-Laws and being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the company’s Bye-
laws.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the reporting year, there was no change in information of the directors of
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, aged 62, was appointed as executive director and Chairman
on 3 November 2015 and 28 March 2018 respectively. Mr. Chien is the general
manager of D Group, a business group within Hon Hai with over US$20 billion
annual revenues, and was a director with Hon Hai. Mr. Chien joined Hon Hai
in 1991. He studied at Tamkang University. Mr. Chien has been appointed as
chairman and director of Long Time Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Emerging Stock Board of The Taipei Exchange (stock code: 6555) since 22
July 2021.

Mr. CAIl LiTing, aged 48, was appointed as executive director and chief
executive officer on 19 December 2019. Mr. Cai has over 20 years of
experience in the electronic, manufacturing and information technology
industry. Since 2003, Mr. Cai has been employed by Foxconn Technology
Group as the vice president of product engineering & quality and later as
the head of the innovative product business division of D Group, a business
group within Hon Hai. Before joining Foxconn Technology Group, he had been
with Schlumberger Limited from 1997 to 2001. Mr. Cai obtained a Master of
Science in Computer Service from the George Mason University in the US and
a Bachelor of Science in Electronic Engineering from Tsinghua University in the
PRC.

Mr. KAO Chao Yang, aged 54, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018. Mr. Kao has over 20 years of experience in the electronic,
manufacturing and information technology industry. He has been appointed
as the vice-president of the Foxconn Technology Group since 2015. Mr.
Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations which is both a key
business and strategic division responsible for driving initiatives across several
significant areas of manufacturing, supply chain management (fulfillment
and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr. Kao held various duties
within Foxconn include start-up manufacturing sites, directing supply chain
operations, business account management with global customer presence and
administering information technology initiatives across the PRC, US, Czech
Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of Science in Industrial
& Operations Engineering from the University of Michigan in the US and a
Bachelor of Science in Industrial Design from Cheng-Kung University in Taiwan.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, aged 47, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018 and is assuming the role of group chief financial officer. Prior to
joining the company in 2016, he was the vice president of New World Strategic
Investment Limited, primarily responsible for private equity and venture capital
investments, M&A transactions and business development initiatives. Mr.
Cheng began his career with an international accounting firm and had worked
for a number of global financial institutions and Hong Kong listed companies.
He obtained his Master of Business Administration and Bachelor of Commerce
(Hons.) from the University of New South Wales and the University of Melbourne
in Australia respectively. Mr. Cheng is a member of HKICPA, CPA Australia and
CFA Institute.

Non-executive director

Mr. KIM Hyun Seok, aged 40, was appointed as non-executive director on 29
March 20283. He has been with SK Holdings (C&C) since 2017 and is currently
the Head of Strategic Investment Team. He holds a Bachelor of Science at Ohio
State University and a Master of Business Administration at Korea Development
Institute School of Public Policy and Management (KDIS), Se-Jdong City,
Republic of Korea.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, aged 46, was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Tang has been in financial service
industry for more than 15 years. Before that, Mr. Tang was a director with the
Deloitte & Touche Financial Advisory Services Group where he focused on
private equity and merger and acquisition transactions in the PRC and the
Asia Pacific region. Mr. Tang began his career at the Financial Services Group
at Ernst & Young in Sydney, and subsequently relocated to Hong Kong and
Beijing. Mr. Tang received a Master Degree of Commerce in Advanced Finance
and Bachelor Degree of Commerce from the University of New South Wales in
Australia. He is a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tang had been an independent non-executive director of
Grown Up Group Investment Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1842) from 27
June 2019 to 1 April 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 62, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Kan is a managing partner and founder of
ON Capital, a private equity firm that specialises in investing in China since
2004. Prior to founding ON Capital, Mr. Kan established i100 Corporation in
1999, a start-up incubator that went on to list on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He had also served as chief operating officer of CDC
Corporation (renamed to China.com later), founder of PointCast Asia, and had
established Sina.com in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan spent the earlier years of his
career successively at Apple Computer, Compag Computer, and established
Microsoft in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Kan graduated in business from Hong
Kong Baptist College and from the Stanford Graduate School of Business’
Executive Program for Smaller Companies.

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan, aged 49, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 31 March 2020. Prof. Zhang is currently a professor of Department
of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (the “CUHK”) since 2017. Before he joined the CUHK, he
was an associate professor of Department of Information Systems, Business
Statistics & Operations Management at The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Business School from 2006. Before joining the academia,
he worked as an analyst for an investment bank, and as an international
marketing manager for a high-tech company. He holds a patent in the United
States, and co-founded several companies in the areas of social networking,
FinTech, and LegalTech. Prof. Zhang holds a Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Management from MIT Sloan School of Management in the United States, a
Master of Science degree in Management, a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Computer Science and a Bachelor of Arts degree in English from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China. He has been an independent
director for NASDAQ-listed e-commerce company Secoo Holding Limited
(NASDAQ: SECO) since September 2017. He also offered advice to Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Ltd., Jingdong Finance, Hupan University,
Huawei Investment & Holding Co., Ltd., China Mobile Limited, China Merchants
Securities Co. Ltd., Douban.com, and Radica Systems Limited.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the reporting year, the company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive and non-executive directors have not entered into any service
contracts and do not have a fixed term of service with the company. However,
all directors are subject to re-election by rotation at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-laws. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has entered into an appointment letter with the company for one year
and is renewable automatically for successive term of one year. None of the
directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the company which cannot be terminated
by the company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation to the
group’s business to which the company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the reporting year. The company has
maintained directors and officers’ liability insurance which provides appropriate
cover for, among others, the directors.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as the disclosure in the Continuing Connected Transactions, as far
as the directors are aware, at no time during the reporting year had the
company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of
significance for the provision of services by the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries to the company or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the then directors
and chief executives of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the company, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Long position in the company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

(EUN: 57 YN 5 ft Bt
Personal Associate Total

interests interests interests Percentage

BEWRE - 18,430,738 18,430,738 2.63%
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Frzt1)
(note 1)

EhExRE 800,000 - 800,000 0.11%
Mr. CAl LiTing =7
(note 2)

B0 B, ST A 1,300,000 - 1,300,000 0.19%
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun (Hizt2)
(note 2)

=2
1. AR R B A B WS A Y2 FKan, Sachikoz 175 °
2. LR BA AT REIRAE

PREXPRIIREESN REEMA RS- _F+
B=+—H ' xREEREFARSTHRAEMER
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BRESRAEHRAEXVEETRESDBENEER
BBz ERRZINE (BEREESRNE
BHZZEHRNREREFNER/ER 2w %
B) ; RNRFBEB SR E R 36217 AL B b Z 1%
Ptz Bz E R mE ke ; iR L HRA
el L EGTAESETES XS NRETRAXN
RN R Z AR AR A

Notes:
1. The interest was held by Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin’s spouse, Ms. Kan, Sachiko.

2. The interest represents share options of the company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the directors are aware, as at 31 December
2022, none of the then directors nor the chief executive of the company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to
the company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) approved by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the
company on 30 August 2013, under which it may grant options to eligible
participants (as defined in the share option scheme rules) to subscribe for
shares in the company. Eligible participants refer to any full time or part time
employees of the group or any entity in which the group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”) (including any directors, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the company or any subsidiary
or any Invested Entity); any holder of any securities issued by the group; and
any business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any
sub-tenants) of the group or any Invested Entity or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the board, has contributed or may contribute to the group or any
Invested Entity.

On 8 April 2022, the company granted a total of 7,610,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme to certain eligible participants. The exercise price is
HK$0.31 each and the vesting period is 2 years from the date of grant with 10
years of validity. Among the grantees, Mr. CAl LiTing and Mr. CHENG Yee Pun
are directors of the company, who were granted with 800,000 and 500,000
share options respectively.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2022, no share
options were granted or lapsed but a total of 400,000 share options were
cancelled.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out as
below:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the group or any Invested
Entity. The company considers that the Invested Entity, an entity in
which the group holds an equity interest, may contribute to the group’s
profits. The company also considers that the granting of the options to
the employee, director, officer or consultant of the Invested Entity would
provide an incentive for their contribution to the Invested Entity which
indirectly benefits the group.

2. Administration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
board whose decision on all matters arising in relation to the Share
Option Scheme or its interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise
provided herein and in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding
on all persons who may be affected thereby.
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Grant and acceptance of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the board may, in its
absolute discretion, invite any eligible participant to take up options to
subscribe for shares at a price calculated in accordance with paragraph
(4) below.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to eligible participants in
writing (and unless so made shall be invalid) in such form as the board
may from time to time determine and shall remain open for acceptance
by the eligible participant concerned for a period of twenty-one (21)
days from the date upon which it is made provided that no such offer
shall be open for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary
of the Adoption Date or the termination of the Share Option Scheme or
the eligible participant to whom such offer is made has ceased to be an
eligible participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of
the option is duly signed by the eligible participant together with the said
consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the company.

Any offer of the grant of an option may be accepted in respect of less
than the number of shares which is offered provided that it is accepted in
such number of shares as represents a board lot or an integral multiple
thereof for the time being for the purpose of trading on the Stock
Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4.

Exercise of options and price of shares

An option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to the company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of shares in respect of which it is exercised.
Such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount
of the subscription price for the shares in respect of which the notice
is given. Within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the notice and
the remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the certificate of the
company’s auditors or independent financial advisers, the company shall
allot and issue the relevant shares to the grantee (or his legal personal
representative(s)) credited as fully paid.

Holders of the options are not entitled to voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights of the holders of the shares, including those arising on a
liquidation of the company, save as otherwise provided herein or under
the relevant laws or the memorandum of association of the company
and the Bye-laws in effect from time to time. Shares to be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of an option will be subject to all the provisions
of the Bye-laws for the time being in force and will rank pari passu in
all respects with the existing fully paid shares in issue on the date on
which the option is duly exercised or, if that date falls on a day when
the register of members of the company is closed, the first day of
the re-opening of the register of members (the “Exercise Date”) and
accordingly will entitle the holders thereof to participate in all dividends or
other distributions paid or made on or after the Exercise Date other than
any dividend or other distribution previously declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made if the record date therefor shall be before the
Exercise Date. A share allotted upon the exercise of an option shall not
carry voting rights until the name of the grantee has been duly entered
into the register of members of the company as the holder thereof.

The exercise price for options under the Share Option Scheme may
be determined by the board at its absolute discretion but in any event
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
on the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
share on the offer date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i)

(if)

(if)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the overall limit on the number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company must
not exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the company
if this will result in this limit being exceeded.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme shall not,
when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share option
schemes of the company involving the issue or grant of option
over shares by the company to, or for the benefit of the eligible
participants, exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
the approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the company
may refresh the scheme mandate limit at any time subject to
approval of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
scheme mandate limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution
(i.e. 39,423,944 shares). Options previously granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating this limit. The company must
send a circular to the shareholders containing such information as
required under the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 7



EXEHREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BIRESE @

5.

78

AHBETRMZESEE (@)

(iv) FELXG))ERFALREZRRT  AAE
TFAERREAGLELSTESRREMER
HiBE s B RIEIRIEEZ R - BB IB ST
BIEEREZBREEANRETARIN
SRZMEMERIEEZAEKRS A
BoARRBMAMNKRRFEBR  WHEIE
ERERSHEEZEEUEGN BRUZ
BREFERFER - KTEEGERSH
EBREZEN RERBRE AR
HEERMBEN UK ETRAREZE
RE & -

v REFHRAH REERESEIRHET
B BB IR AR 2043 17,433,94415 > IHE N &
FHROAPDHTRMABEBI2.49% -

MRAZEATHREZERBEARLBRE

REBRESEDEF ARDEETHAER
FETERR (EERLHRA) ARELAZE
HBMBEAEHERNERE BEBIIFRNTE
EOEABREEZSZABRAZBILIIFNGT
EF)HE-MHAXLRBAIERR (EERLH
RA HBUFATEFTAREZ B ZEAH
BABRLEARERESERHERREL AN
(B#F%A) L12ERREETEMEERE
FREHERE (BEETE BEHRERT
EZERE MAZRFALTETARETZR

7

(@) HEHTHERENRNDGHEBEIBA%;
b

() BRERONEFFEHAPEBMIASERE
KRB EGFEZBEBREER
o E— S EREBRESAEARTR
Rtk

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue (continued)

(iv)  Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the company may
also seek separate approval of the shareholders in general meeting
for granting options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate limit are granted
only to eligible participants specifically identified by the company
before such approval is sought. The company must send a
circular to the shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the specified eligible
participants with an explanation as to how the terms of the options
serve such purpose and such other information as required under
the Listing Rules.

(v) As at the date of this annual report, the total number of options
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 17,433,944
representing 2.49% of the total issued shares at the date of this
annual report.

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates

Any grant of option to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the company, or any of
their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding an
independent non-executive director who is the proposed grantee of the
option). Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the company or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates, would result in
the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted or to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent of the relevant class of
shares in issue; and

(o)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved by shareholders of
the company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

6.

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates (continued)

A circular must be prepared by the company explaining the proposed
grant, disclosing (i) the number and terms of the options to be granted,
(i) containing a recommendation from the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is a
grantee) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed grant, (iii)
containing information relating to any directors who are trustees of the
scheme or have a direct or indirect interest in the trustees, and (iv) the
information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing Rules.

Any change in the terms of options granted to a connected person or its
associates must be approved by shareholders in a general meeting.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period up
to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where
it is proposed that any offer is to be made to an eligible participant (or
where approximate, an existing grantee) which would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the twelve (12) month period up to and including the relevant
date of grant to exceed such limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof
must be conditional upon shareholders’ approval in general meeting with
such an eligible participant (or where appropriate, an existing grantee)
and his, her or its associates abstaining from voting. The company
must send a circular to the shareholders disclosing the identity of the
eligible participant or grantee, the number and terms of options to be
granted (and options previously granted) to such an eligible participant,
the information required under the Listing Rules. The number and terms
(including the subscription price) of options to be granted to such an
eligible participant must be fixed before the date on which shareholders’
approval is sought and the date of the board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8.

10.

Time of Exercise of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof at the
time of making an offer provided that such period shall not exceed a
period of 10 years from the date of grant of the particular option but
subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme.

There is no specific minimum period under the Share Option Scheme for
which an option must be held or the performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
become unconditional, after which no further options will be issued, and
thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any unexercised options
granted pursuant thereto and in order to give effect to the exercise of
any such options or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

Since the Share Option Scheme will expire on 29 August 2023,
the company proposes to adopt a new share option scheme at the
forthcoming AGM for the approval by the shareholders.

For detailed movements of the share options under the Share Option
Scheme during the reporting year, please refer to Note 27 of the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into or
existed during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” as disclosed
above, at no time during the reporting year was the company and any of its
subsidiaries of the company and its associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares
or debentures of the company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such
right during the reporting year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the reporting year was the company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the company or any
other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. 2015 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

On 23 December 2015, the company entered into four Framework
Agreements (each a “2015 Framework Agreement” and collectively, the
“2015 Framework Agreements”) with Hon Hai. Notwithstanding that
Hon Hai was not a connected person of the company under the Listing
Rules at that time, the company voluntarily complied with the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for
the transactions contemplated under the 2015 Framework Agreements
as if Hon Hai is a connected person of the company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The 2015 Framework Agreements consist of
(1) the L.T. System Operation and Maintenance Framework Agreement,
(2) the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project Framework Agreement, (3)
the Procurement Framework Agreement and (4) the Sales Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the group agreed
to (i) provide I.T. support and maintenances services to Hon Hai Group;
(ii) provide build-own-operate and I.T. project services to Hon Hai
Group; (iii) purchase enterprise-level products including but not limited
to communication software, servers and related hardware equipment
from Hon Hai Group to be used primarily for the provision of various I.T.
services; and (iv) sell ancillary I.T. products to Hon Hai Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

2. HEBN-_ZE—tEEREWHE 2. 2017 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai
HREM - E—AFEXBENHRERNV S As the term of each of the 2015 Framework Agreements expired on
—N\F=B=+—HEm MRXPBRFES 31 March 2018 and following the change of financial year end date
HE=B=+—HEXAT+A=+—H%" from 31 March to 31 December, the company had on 22 September
KRB ERZE—tHFNBZ+IZHIIULM 2017 entered into the new framework agreements (“2017 Framework
EXRpGZ ((ZE—tFERERE) BESH Agreements”) to renew the continuing connected transactions as
TE-AFERBRETRETNFERER contemplated under each of the 2015 Framework Agreements for a term
ZFRAEBE_Z— N\F - ZZ—NEFRZZ of three financial years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.
TEFE+ZRA=F+—HIE=ZEMBREE-

3. HEBNZZZETFEZEWRE 3. 2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai
HREM ZZE—tFERBENVPARRZZ As the term of each of the 2017 Framework Agreements expired on 31
EF+ZA=+—HEm ARRBERZ December 2020, the company had on 7 December 2020 entered into the
TEFE+ZAtHITUMERGRE (ZF new framework agreements (“2020 Framework Agreements”) to renew
—EFERBR) EESMN T —LFER the continuing connected transactions as contemplated under each
HEETRETHFERERZ FHAHZE of the 2017 Framework Agreements for a term of three financial years
TS F B _FR_BEZ=F+"A1H ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023.
=+ —HLE=EHBEE-
2R FEREBENR_-_ZEZ_—F+ZH The annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the financial
—t+—HEZE=F+ZBE=+—HBHWEHF years from 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2023 are as follows:
ENEELROT :

BE-#A
RS —EER
EERiEE BHifl#iEe
I.T. System Build-Own-
Operation and Operate and XAE tHE
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BT —F 2021 91,859 300,195 163,127 27,402
- 2022 110,231 360,234 195,752 32,882
—=E= 2023 132,278 432,281 234,903 39,459
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
3. 2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the
proposed annual cap amounts under the 2020 Framework Agreements,
as one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the proposed
annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the three financial
years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 for the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are expected to be
higher than 5% and more than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As a result, a special general meeting was convened on 15
January 2021 where the Independent Shareholders approved all the
2020 Framework Agreements.

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the group’s
continuing connected transactions with Hon Hai Group during the
reporting year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction
amount of the group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed
the respective annual caps.

g
BRXBEH
—E-C Actual
FELR Transaction
Annual Caps Amount
for 2022 for 2022
ANEEFT ANEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEEER With Hon Hai Group
i\éﬂﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂz”ﬁ; I.T. System Operation and Maintenance 110,231 48,650
—HE-EEREMREER Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project 360,234 275,813
T?Tnﬁ% Procurement 195,752 28,270
& Sales 32,882 11,471

BUAABN _E_TE+_A-+hBTE
E@@ZFE?&%J:V_VEEK SR TR
THRZINBERBSEBEGRALDKREAE
EEEEWAZON &S (HEH)) - BEZ
T HE+ A=+ —HIEEE BEEEE
BB AGBUIA Z40% o JIE » Fo IR 43R
EFECETHRME

As disclosed in the circular issued by the company on 29 December
2020, the transactions as contemplated under the 2020 Framework
Agreements are also subject to the condition that the revenue attributable
to Hon Hai Group will be less than 60% of the group’s annual total
revenue (the “Condition”). For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
actual revenue attributable from Hon Hai Group represented 40% of the
total revenue. Thus we comply with the Condition for the reporting year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
3. 2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and confirmed
that all the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the same on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the company’s shareholders as
a whole. Moreover, the company’s auditor has provided an unqualified
letter to the board containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting
year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules. The directors confirm that the company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the directors, the following
parties (other than directors or chief executives of the company), had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which are required
to be disclosed to the company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and
Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the shares.

IREMAO T DR

ST AV 4= FEIERZEE S LE

FE(L PRIk 15 & B Approximate

Number or percentage or

attributable EEE attributable

RRER 4B number of Nature of percentage of

Name of Shareholder shares held interests shareholding

FSK Holdings Limited 239,050,141 g 34.07%
Beneficial

FDG Fund, L.P. 71,813,581 g 10.24%
Beneficial

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 46,680,000 o 6.65%
Beneficial
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Notes:

To the best knowledge of the directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, Hon Hai
indirectly holds more than 40% attributable equity interests in FSK Holdings Limited. FSK
Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund L.P. contributing to about 75% of its total
commitment. The 239,050,141 shares FSK Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in
include the 71,813,581 shares held by FDG Fund, L.P.

General partner of FDG Fund, L.P. is FDG Fund GP Limited (formerly known as “Asia-10
Acquisition GP Limited”) which, in turn, is controlled by Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis, a former
non-executive director who resigned on 7 December 2020.

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai.

Save as disclosed above, the company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the shares and recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the company and within the
knowledge of the directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the reporting year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE,
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the company’s corporate governance practices, independence of
independent non-executive directors and the Audit Committee are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 38.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
group for the reporting year, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the group with the management and discussed risk management, internal
controls and financial reporting matters related to the preparation of the annual
results for the reporting year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021 Nil).
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TAX RELIEF

The company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares. Intending holders
and investors of the company’s shares are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications
(including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or
dealing in shares. It is emphasised that neither the company nor its directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities
of, holders of shares in the company resulting from their subscription for,
purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the board
CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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To the Shareholders of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
94 to 200, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the impairment of trade
and lease receivables and contract assets.

BB MARERAREENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERHEERBREUAREGNEERE

Impairment of trade and lease receivables and contract assets

FE2REEHEBRERMEES. () 19K%20°
Refer to Note 3.1(b), 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

N_E2__F+"A=+—H> BEERESEELEERI
BRIEBNREHNEEMED N ARE289,832,0007T & AR
17,099,0007T > Bt th #5308 (E # B 49 A R 168,531,0007T ©

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross trade and
lease receivables and contract assets of approximately
RMB289,832,000 and RMB17,099,000, respectively, for which a
provision for impairment of approximately RMB68,531,000 was
recognised.

EEBERAERAMBRESENEIORBEEH L ELHBEER
HERVREURENEENZAEMREERE (BHREES
8)) #BE-

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance for all trade
and lease receivables and contract assets.
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HMBEETUTEFURIEZMEREEE
We have performed the following procedures to address this key
audit matter:

B THREEEHSERMBERIRBEURGNEERBRE
EBENREERRTERER > LiEEE BE AT EE LR
FE T TE A HE PR VR B8 0% R F i > sTR B KSR SRR BB &
Bz o

We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
control and assessment process of the ECL of trade and
lease receivables and contract assets and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved
in determining the assumptions to be applied.

BTt RZEEMEEBNRMBEES SFEREDTER X
$ FE U 45 BR AV BT U [B] 14 3 1T TE BR ST

We evaluated and tested the management’s key controls,
including aging analysis review and regular assessment
performed on collectability of the receivable balances.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BB MARERRESFE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERBREAEAHAURREBZERADAETEETM U
At EEE At RREEEREXNERTRENNBEEE
BEE TEFRABRURBMEES R BB EMBIERIESE
BHEANTRECERZNRE RS EABEMER - NsHETREBE
EEELHREERER EEEZREMNEX - EERBURA
ERNEEE ST RER

Management estimated the loss allowance by grouping
together debtors with similar risk characteristics for collective
assessment. The estimated ECL rates were based on historical
credit loss rates for different groups and adjusted to reflect the
current and multiple forward-looking information on macro-
economic factors that are considered relevant to determine the
ability of customers to settle the receivables in the future. In
assessing the sufficiency of the ECL estimation, management
considered factors including the settlement pattern, credit profile
and on-going trading relationships with the customers.

MARCABEENRBESHEIFCIEREHRBUETH 2 E
(RAERBERBURGHNEEMS @ B E-

For trade and lease receivables and contract assets relating
to accounts which are long overdue with known liquidity issue
or non-response to collection activities, they are assessed
individually for loss allowance.

FMTE BES£EEBEHRBEEBEZNEEM PIRENRERERE
RREETEREEFENRUFTBAELHEN RS-

We assessed the appropriateness of the expected loss
provisioning methodology of the Group, the key assumptions
adopted and the reliability of the historical data used in
determining expected credit losses.

EMRBEEERTBNEREMBERX G HEZERSE
BREEEMAZHENRNERREXERHERKEBURS
HNEENRE

We tested the payment profiles of sales and aging of trade
and lease receivables and contract assets used in the
calculation of loss allowance, on a sample basis, to invoices,
bank advices and other relevant documents.

BPBBIXZHEBEZNBAZE BB EEREEREX
RERHEBRIFEERES) REMIIBEBRALHE
kK S EREEEARBETERNSEM

We assessed the reasonableness of the use of forward-
looking information by management by cross checking the
inputs of assumptions (e.g. GDP Growth rate and CPI inflation
rate, etc.) to the relevant external data sources or public
available information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BB MAEERARENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BPAIEZEEREERBRBURSHEENRE HES
FHHEEGENGERSENGTHEEREEN RN
EbgE B R EREHNARRFRERIRBSH BRI
TSN BR BB R B K > WU TR 1T E AR WHLTHER
RGN BEZL T

We focused on auditing the impairment of trade and lease
receivables and contract assets because the estimation of ECL
is subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty and inherent
risk of subjectivity. It involved significant level of management
judgement on the selection of internal and external data from
various sources that were considered to be appropriate in their
circumstances to establish the historical credit loss experience
and to adjust this experience for expected future changes.

Hitz 8

BERABEFARHMEEAT - HMEEBEEFRMN

- BEMIRESEUBREERN LR T EAEEEKRBERIEE
BEUERGHNEERENEEZRSRE

- We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment of trade and lease receivables and contract assets
in the context of the HKFRS 9.

BERFBTREFNGER BRMTAEEREHNEERBAERIERE
UERENEEGBEEMRXANIERBERZEEESNERZF-
Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management’s judgements and assumptions applied in relation
to the loss allowance of trade and lease receivables and contract
assets were supportable by evidence obtained.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The

BFAREE  EFEEEHIBRERHFANIZEED
HEe

RMEAHYBRENBERTTREEMESR > R
TAHZFHEMERRREATLANEERLSR -

HEERMEAHBBERRNES RANEERHA
HMERS ZHBES EZEEMESESHAHY
BREAARMEISSTERPFATHENBERFEEKR
BENELUFFEERBERRANBR

ERBMERTHNIF NRRMDAEMEEEFE
EARHERRL RMFTERSZFE-EEFE R
FIR2BEMRE -

other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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BY#E ER PRI AT AR AR (FE K o

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Pui Ling, Sandra.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BE_Z__F+__B=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
k=3 AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 5 832,461 596,349
THE A AR Cost of sales 7 (705,313) (482,232)
EF Gross profit 127,148 114,117
Hilg A Other income 6 2,662 1,968
Hihl i 228 Other gains, net 6 4,782 4,796
BNFEFABREZEMEET Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value
N EW TP EE through profit or loss, net 17 2,017 18,461
AP =R Share-based payment 26 - (10,482)
TREERERE Loss allowance for financial assets 20(b) (3,347) (2,951)
THE RS Selling and distribution expenses 7 (36,964) (25,689)
— R RATE R General and administrative expenses 7 (53,760) (47,091)
IEERAsE Research and development expenses 7 (10,142) (16,985)
BEET Operating profit 32,396 36,144
MEWA—FE Finance income — net 9 1,404 1,463
DEBERB ZES Share of results of associates 16 (3,317) -
Bk i 15 752 A it #) Profit before income tax 30,483 37,607
FriSiRBE Income tax expense 10 (2,653) (3,346)
FEEF Profit for the year 27,830 34,261
—E--% —=-
2022 2021
A BBl A& #Hl
RMB cents RMB cents
ERAFEBEEDFEA Earnings per share for profit attributable to
ELEMNzEREH ordinary equity holders of the Company
SRERRT Basic earnings per share 12 3.97 4.96
SR#EERT) Diluted earnings per share 12 3.97 4.96
Lot & GHF) B R EE R BE M MY — fFREE o The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with

the accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HE_Z-__F+ZA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
2022 2021
AREFT ARBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEEF Profit for the year 27,830 34,261
HiR S WA (B518) : Other comprehensive income/(loss):
O SEEM TIEEEmz HEH Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
SNBEEERR Currency translation differences (2,747) (2,216)
BT S E#H P IEEEm 2 EH  Item that may not be reclassified to profit or loss
SN IEETR Currency translation differences 13,126 (4,675)
FEHMEESKA S (58 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 10,379 (6,891)
FEAIEERE Total comprehensive income for the year 38,209 27,370

LS GRS W R EE R BB MY Y s — fF Rl o

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RZE__F+”-A=+—H
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
k=3 AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
B EE Intangible assets 13 16,552 19,641
ME BB Property, plant and equipment 14 8,395 10,450
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 12,232 25,793
REBERABRZKE Investments in associates 16 7,138 -
BATFEFAERZEMREE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 74,560 47,777
EERBERWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 4,869 12,698
FRIEFTSMEE Deferred income tax assets 23 4,952 2,010
BENHREREEES Prepayments and rental deposits 21 721 271
f@?fﬁ_iﬁ:ﬁ_% __________ Total non-current assets 129,419 118,640
MEBEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 18 148,556 110,126
BHEE Contract assets 19 17,099 561
EEREERWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 215,432 182,430
FEMIIE RS R EMEWEIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 48,967 41,109
RERFAETEEY Cash and cash equivalents 22 166,866 189,064
fﬂ/ﬁiﬁb_ﬁé ________ Total current assets 596,920 523,290
mEE Total assets 726,339 641,930
- EQUITY
AT ANBEREREE Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company
&N Share capital 26 68,447 68,447
15 = E Share premium 26 213,865 213,865
Ei Reserves 28 168,721 130,173
iR Total equity 451,033 412,485
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RZIE__F+”-HA=+—H
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Hiat AEBBFT ANEBTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
af& LIABILITIES
JEREEE Non-current liabilities
FIEFTISINERE Deferred income tax liabilities 23 2,603 4,263
HESR& Lease liabilities 15 945 9,544
f@?ff’@?iﬁ:%\_% _______ Total non-current liabilities 3,548 13,807
REAE Current liabilities
FEfJ & FARIE Trade payables 24 168,081 121,310
FECtE A R EMER A Accruals and other payables 25 49,858 41,910
5HNEE Contract liabilities 19 37,015 35,453
HES®E Lease liabilities 15 8,548 12,482
FEfSIRIB Tax payables 8,256 4,483
f@_,;_’ﬁiﬁfj_%fé_ ______ Total current liabilities 271,758 215,638
WaR Total liabilities 275,306 229,445
MERREE Total equity and liabilities 726,339 641,930
rtiteHEEEBREERBENM G —FREE- The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

FUE200BZ 6HUBBRERBEEEZN T T=F The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 200 were approved by

R+ hH#ERREESE- the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.
EEK EE IR
FE HITESE
CHIEN Yi-Pin CHENG Yee Pun
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZTZE+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

AT R AEWSG
Attributable to owners of the Company

fig 7 B iniEE A s
Share Share Total
capital premium Reserves equity
ANRBEFT ANEEFT ANBEFT ABEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Hizt26) (Hiztz6) (Hiz228)

(Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 28)
E’:‘_:_@::E—H —Hz4#% Balance at 1 January 2022 68,447 213,865 130,173 412,485

AW ! Comprehensive income:

FERF Profit for the year - - 27,830 27,830
Hittir & 8518 : Other comprehensive loss:

SNEIAE EEE Currency translation differences - - 10,379 10,379
FEEHRIZENE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 38,209 38,209
NEEABRBAZESHH Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS . capacity as owners:

EEEREE Employee share option schemes

—EERBEE - value of employee services - - 339 339
NEEABEBAZEHHA Total transaction with owners in

BEEANETZRRS their capacity as owners - - 339 339
MNZE--%+-HA=+—H At 31 December 2022 68,447 213,865 168,721 451,033
RZF_—F—FA—HZ#&HK Balance at 1 January 2021 64,479 187,511 102,803 354,793
el Comprehensive income:

FERF Profit for the year - - 34,261 34,261
Hithiz 51518 - Other comprehensive loss:

SN E EEE Currency translation differences - - (6,891) (6,891)
_E_lﬁ_%_&fs?_?_.ﬂ_&f“ﬁ_ o Total comprehensive income for the year - - 27,370 27,370
NEEABEBEAZBHEA Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS - capacity as owners:

BT Issuance of shares 3,968 26,354 - 30,322
NEEABEBAZEHH Total transaction with owners in

BEANETZERS their capacity as owners 3,968 26,354 - 30,322
WZ&€-—%+-B=+—H At 31 December 2021 68,447 218,865 130,173 412,485

LHEHER S REBERBMME—FHRE

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE_Z__F+A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
bt ARETFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RETTZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
RETHMEZRE Cash generated from operations 29(a) 23,986 15,056
WERF B Interest received 1,918 2,313
BTSN Income tax paid (3,834) (2,309)
RETEFPAE 2 FRE Net cash generated from operating activities 22,070 15,060
KRETBHZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE KB RRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,747) (2,059)
HERLEE Purchase of intangible assets - (1,776)
BERATESABEZ Purchase of financial assets
THMEE at fair value through profit or loss 17 (21,000) (13,697)
m—EaErELIE Contribution to assoicates 16 (10,455) -
KREEEFTAZFRE Net cash used in investing activities (33,202) (17,532)
MEFHZHERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEHEaBZEA R Repayment of capital and interest
FMEH D element of lease liabilities 29(d) (16,438) (14,399)
_%E_‘%ﬁ_%ijfﬁ_ﬁﬁ_z_,?fﬁ_f_é ________ Net cash used in financing activities (16,438) (14,399)
HeEkFREEBYW2Z Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
WA BEE (27,570) (16,871)
REVNZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 189,064 212,436
SMBEREEFHNIEE R Effect of foreign exchange rate change
REeEBM oL EIE on cash and cash equivalents, net 5,372 (6,501)
RNERZRERIBLEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22 166,866 189,064
T EHRESREREER MBI —HRIE- The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompany notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted company under
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The
shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April 1994.

The Group is principally engaged in sales of I.T. products and software
applications, and the provision of system and network integration,
information technology solutions development and implementation, and
related maintenance services to industrial, office and retail customers.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group
consisting of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

REEE (F) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) ELREEEH % (b) Historical cost convention
EHVBRRDBEBEELHRAER The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
FERE TR AT ESAEBR under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
SREEZSEM BAFERS M revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
EHIEST © loss, which are carried at fair values.
RERNEEEBEVBREERN 2T The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
RREEFCEAETHARI AT HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
ENEEEEEBTERAAEEG T estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
BEBEFRTEREAE F RS judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
BENHE S EESE 2B F R policies. The area involving a higher degree of judgement
BEREHEHUBERRBEEE . or complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates
IS M4 EE o are significant to the consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in Note 4.
(c) ZEEERHZEIEETEAR (c) Amended standards adopted by the Group

AEFEBER-_E-_FE—F—HH#
Bz EERSHABNERERTIK
EET#ER] -

The Group has applied the following amended standards for
the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2022:

FENEER SENBREE] Annual improvements project  Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
“E-N\EE 2020
“ZTZEEH
ZEENE

EBUHRERED "D -E7H
$16%% (BF] ) COVID-1918
HEES

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-related rent concessions

beyond 2021

ERAMBREEDN  HIERZSM HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the conceptual framework
£35% (B )
BHEGER MEBERRE HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, plant and equipment - proceeds
$163% (BFTE) BERZAHN before intended use
FRCE N
BBEGER BEAN-BTAR HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous contracts - cost of fulfilling a

F373% (B3I %) (SN

contract

BEH1551%855% LT gstiEsl AG 5 (revised) Revised accounting guideline 5 merger
(&185]) Ead bl accounting for common control
EiiEr combinations
g3tk

EEETER A LM EETER
TEHBTAEEINEHELSE
B BRATEHERNAR
HEELEEATE-

The management assessed that the amended standards
listed above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 101



BHMBERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

102

EEGHBERE @ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 HEREE (EF) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(d) BEfE KL H K ERI FIE (d) New and amended standards, improvements,

BRI Z FET RASIEST R~ X
- RERDIES (FBEET
zy)

UTESTACEM  ELIFR —F
T THF—A—HREBNERFEEL
R BAEE IR R ERAR

ERGHENFIRR  SHBEZRE

EANBREEANES
BHE (BITE)
EEGHEDESS BHEHZESR
CHEN
ERGHENFIZE BE-RFELEZEE
(CHEN RERERELR
1E1
ERMBREEN REAH
E17%
ERUBREE] BEAMBREENE
ENEACHEN TR Z BT
EAUBREE] Ny EREAUNER
EAEACHEN EENEITRRE
BYBREEIS
H-EREN
EEGHENEIS BaRIBATDE
(CHEN BRERBERE
SHENEIR MEZENIERE
(B315) &
EAVBREEE 6% E4HONEEERE
(B3THR)
EERBER HERENET -6
(ZBI%E) DAHAERE
BERTNESRE
D E
EAUBREE] REEEHBENT
SEREBOSEL HALATTHY
B ACHEN BEHERIE
1 RIEZ=F—FB—H%z%&H
A2 FEHBEN
2 RIEZWNF—B—H®H &R
B2 FEBRBEN
8 FEHH

FEBER N ZFETEERFTLL
WA AEBETESEA LM ET AR
RAEHAERNEBERMBRR
BERERTE-

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

interpretations and accounting guideline (collectively
“Amendments”), issued that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

The following Amendments have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2022
and have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of accounting policies’
Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of accounting estimates'

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single
transaction’

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts'

HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 17°

HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Initial application of HKFRS 17 and

HKFRS 9 - comparative information’

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current?

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current liabilities with covenants?

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease liability in a sale and leaseback?

HK Int 5 (2020) Presentation of financial statements —

classification by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a repayment on
demand clause?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between
(Amendments) an investor and its associate or joint
venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

s A date to be determined

The Group will adopt these Amendments when they become
effective. The Group anticipates that the applications of the
above Amendments have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when
necessary to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the
Group.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.
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2.4
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(b) Associates (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.8.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within “Other gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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2.6 ME -HBKRHKE 2.6 Property, plant and equipment
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HEEEEEE RFERTEMkE P
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All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost amounts, net of their residual values if any, over their
estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements,
the lease term as follows:

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other gains, net” in the income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software, and are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Acquired software components, patents, domain names and
trademark are capitalised on the basis of the costs acquired.
They are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. They are
amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives of 8 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are not subject to depreciation or
amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as following
measurement categories: (i) those measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss; and (i) those to be measured
at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

For assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains
and losses will be recorded in profit or loss. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.
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POLICIES (continued)
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EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in the consolidated income statements
when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net in ‘Other gains, net’ in the period in
which it arises.

° Financial assets with embedded derivatives, for
example, a convertible bond, are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in Other gains, net in the consolidated
income statement as applicable.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with all instruments subjected
to the expected credit loss assessment. The impairment
methodology applied to debt instruments other than financial
assets through profit or loss depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b)
details how the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables (excluding other tax
receivables), contract assets and finance leases receivables,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See note
20 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Trade receivables are presented on the consolidated balance sheet
within trade and lease receivables.

Contracts assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A contract asset becomes a receivable when the
Group’s right to consideration is unconditional, which is the case
when only the passage of time is required before payment of
the consideration is due. The impairment of contract assets is
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis set out in
Note 2.9(d).

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.17

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held
at call with banks.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables, other payables and accruals are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

Hong Kong

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme as defined in
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month, with contributions beyond these
amounts being voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested to the employees.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 115



BHMBERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

2

116

BEECHHREHRE w

2.18 BEE&H (#&)

(a)

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

BUZEF (B)

e

RPBEREE  AEE ST E
EREEMERE B R K5 &) #
MeAERREBBEERARA
B (BE#HE RBERED BEB8
A TE LB BERR o BR UL BN > K
ERRBBRIINZHERRAKREEN
2R WEAREBRARFEEE
HERNEERMHZMRARE KD -

AN -]
0=

KRBRBEE TRKREHE (TF
Bl)  2EREHREREES
(T#rst@)) - BRARMESESE
BET -REMAE  ARAEA
BRETAFHKRIEZO6%IEHMES
REETEANERERP -EEZ
BN EER LRSS —RMEZ
o BRERIN AEBHBERIZ AN
BABEANLEEMEE-

RN 8] Z P A k9 2 50 K B B
BB AEETEREB 2B
R S 2R AR R

(a)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

Pension obligations (continued)

The PRC

As stipulated by rules and regulations in The PRC, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
relevant employees in The PRC. The Group and its relevant
employees make monthly contributions to the plans at the
respective statutory rates on the relevant income (comprising
salaries, allowances and bonus). The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits
beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.

Taiwan

The Company participates in a defined contribution pension
plan (the “New Plan”) under the Labor Pension Act (the
“Act”), covering all regular employees in Taiwan. Under
the New Plan, the Company contribute monthly an amount
based on 6% of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages
to the employees’ individual pension accounts at the Bureau
of Labor Insurance. The benefits accrued are paid monthly
or in lump sum upon termination of employment. The Group
has no further obligations for the actual payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond its contributions.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and immediately
vested and the Group had no unvested benefits available to
reduce its future contributions.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
of bonus plan are expected to be settled within twelve
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participates
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

including any market performance conditions (for example,
an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to save).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

2.20

Share-based compensation (continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The Group issued shares for acquisition of intangible assets. The
difference between the fair value of shares issued and the fair
value of the intangible assets is recognised as an expense in the
consolidated income statement.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance costs — net” in the income statement.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit
or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate. Government grants are
presented in “other income” in the consolidated income statement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

(a) Sales of goods

The Group engages in sales of I.T. products including but
not limited to servers, monitors, Mondopads, computer
hardwares and softwares, and other loT products. Sales of
goods are recognised when the control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel
and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Accounts receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered, this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

I.T. Project

Revenues from I|.T. Project are generated from providing
services for development of tailor-made software, platform
and related hardware in smart manufacturing and other loT
applications. The revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting period as a
proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours spent relative
to the total expected labour hours.

The revenue of rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Some contracts include multiple
performance obligations, such as the sale of hardware,
consultation services and related installation services. Where
the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where
these are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus margin. If contracts include
the installation of hardware, revenue for the hardware is
recognised at a point in time when the hardware is delivered,
the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the
hardware.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or
costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset
is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered,
a contract liability is recognised.

If the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognised
in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(7

Maintenance and consulting services

Revenues from maintenance and consulting services are
recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the
contract or when the relevant services have been rendered,
as appropriate.

Finance and operating lease income

The revenue recognition for the lease income under finance
and operating leases are stated in Note 2.23.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Financing components

For contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to customers and payment by
the customers exceeds one year, the transaction prices were
adjusted for the time value of money. For the sales with credit
terms ranging from 30 to 90 days, no element of financing is
deemed present, which is consistent with market practice.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group, except for all short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed lease payments.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office equipment.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature.

Lease income from finance lease recognised as finance income
based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on
the lessor’s net investment outstanding in respect of the finance
lease. At commencement of the lease term, the lessor should
record a finance lease in the balance sheet as a receivable, at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The derecognition
and impairment requirements of HKFRS 9 apply to a lessor’s net
investment in a lease.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and
fair value interest-rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would occasionally
enter into certain foreign currency forwards options to manage
its exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Market risk

) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan,
the PRC and the United States with most of the
transactions settled in HKD, RMB, United States
dollars (“USD”), New Taiwanese dollars (“NTD”) and
Euro (“EUR”). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD, NTD and EUR.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arising from sales and purchases made
by the relevant group companies in currencies other
than their own functional currencies. The Group also
manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and would consider the use of foreign
exchange contracts to manage its foreign exchange
risks, where appropriate.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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3 HERKBEIEREw 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 MBRAKER &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) HHERE (#) (a) Market risk (continued)
() SrERESR (E (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
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As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other payables were denominated in foreign
currencies, details of which have been disclosed in
the respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2022, for group companies
with RMB as their functional currency, if USD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against the RMB, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year would have been approximately RMB330,000
(2021: RMB189,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of bank
balances denominated in USD.

For a group company with NTD as its functional
currency, if USD and RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 5% against the NTD, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB887,000 higher/lower and
RMB226,000 lower/higher (2021: RMB281,000 higher/
lower and RMB409,000 lower/higher), respectively,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of lease liabilities denominated in USD
and losses/gains on translation of bank balances
denominated in RMB.
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3 HMHBRAMREREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKRERR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) FHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)

() SrEREE (42) () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
MIMEEEBABTREE For the group companies with HKD and NTD as
NEBMRERBME WA their functional currencies, if EUR had weakened/
R ABTKRMEEDHE strengthened by 5% against HKD and NTD
&,/ FH{E5%IMmFT B H fth & respectively, with all other variables held constant,
HEFTE FAKRKER post-tax profit for the year would have been
Mmoo AR approximately RMB195,000 (2021: RMB324,000)
195,000 (ZE - —%F: A lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
R 1324,0007T) * ThEEH losses/gains on translation of bank balances, trade
RIRBLUB Tt B2 #RI1TH receivables, prepayment and accruals denominated in
BRNE EEWARIE AN RRIE EUR.
KREFERZEREIR UK
EO
EERA ERBRESRF In the opinion of the directors, the HKD is reasonably
EArRETHERE R stable with respect to the USD under the Linked
b hEEE® A BT ZAF Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, companies
WABEREMUETHEZR with HKD as their functional currency do not have
SRR 2 EMEKRINER any significant foreign exchange risk in respect
fRoFHIL > HRETHRED of transactions or balances denominated in USD.
e Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

(i) Bz HAERATFEFEEE (i) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
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EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at banks, details of which
are disclosed in Note 22. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
lease liabilities, details of which are disclosed in Note
15. Lease liabilities carried at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk but management
considers that the fair value interest rate risk is
immaterial. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the Group did
not have material interest bearing liabilities as at 31
December 2022.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash at banks, trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables carried at amortised cost.

(0

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

The majority of the Group’s cash at banks are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, The PRC and Taiwan, which are in good
reputation and high credit quality. Management does
not expect any losses arising from non-performance by
these counterparties.

Credit risk includes risks resulting from risks of
concentration and counterparty default. As at 31
December 2022, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as its top 5 trade debtors represent 46% (2021:
40%) of the total trade and lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group also has policies in place
to ensure that sale of products are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group
performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.
Normally the Group does not require collaterals from
trade debtors.

Impairment

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, except for those trade
receivables which are long overdue with known liquidity
issue or non-response to collection activities which are
tested individually.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 127



BHMBERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

3 HERAKEIRw

3.1 MBEAKREER (@

(b) 1EEmEE (&)

(i)

128

JR1E ()

BEREERKIRERSH
EE (&

REHNEEFGERBEESRS

1B A1 17 12 BF 75 IR B o FE U
WA GEEEARENS
FERMNEERIRKRIBET
18 Bl 57 1 ML sH IR R B ZE 4 o
R_E__F#+_-_RA=+—
B> ZE@EBFEEERK
IRIAL R AR 161,954,000
T(ZEZ—H5: AR
55,450,0007t) B 5t 2 8
o

418

et
iy

huis)

CEEFBRREER

| |55

AEEBHEERBERR
RERGHNEERE EZX
EREEARTHERTMGLE
BRON o

REFRATRMBUER
EFERRFHBEEREER
BRRBERGHNEEI DR
DUT midE

- F-HEARDIME
FREBHNER

- BTEARIFIIMNH
EREEBNER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual

basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. As at 31 December
2022, full provision of these balances of individually
assessed trade receivable of RMB61,954,000 (2021:
RMB55,450,000) was provided.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis

The Group categories its trade and lease receivables
and contract assets, except those individually
assessed, based on the risk characteristics.

The Group divided trade and lease receivables and
contract assets into 2 categories by the geographic
location of its customers and credit risk characteristic,
as follow:

- Category 1 is for customers conducting business
in Asia region

- Category 2 is for customers conducting business
in non-Asia regions
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before
31 December 2022 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

The Group has identified the Asia — Pacific industrial
production growth, annual CPI inflation and Germany
Real GDP, etc. to be the most relevant factor, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.

With different types of customers, the Group calculated
the expected loss rate respectively.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December
2022 was determined as follows for both trade and
lease receivables and contract assets.
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1A I
3 MBREEREw@ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKRERR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) JEE () (i) Impairment (continued)
EERBERBRERELN Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
BE (B (continued)
BRERBEESESEBEER Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
18 #) basis (continued)
F—E PRENtEREEE Category 1: Customers conducting business in Asia
BHER region

&%z ZEAAR ARE+ZEAR +Zf8R

)i B ki B NEaH @t
R-E--#+-A8 Trade and lease
=+—-HEEKRHEE receivables and Upto3 3to6 6to 12 Over 12
FERIRERANEE contract assets as at months months months months
31 December 2022 Current  past due past due past due past due Total

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

FHBEE Expected loss rates 0.5% 1.0% 3.3% 5.1% 100%

REEE Gross carrying amount 134,853 32,474 25,135 16,854 3,790 213,106
BERER Loss allowance (615) (317) (832) (862) (3,790) (6,416)
REFE Net carrying amount 134,238 32,157 24,303 15,992 - 206,690

5%=BR ZE/ER ~ET+ZfEAR +Z18A

28 k] ek ki D st
RZEZ—F+2A Trade and lease
—t+—HEXRAE receivables and Upto3 3t06 610 12 Over 12
ERIRBERANEE contract assets as at months months months months
31 December 2021 Current past due past due past due past due Total

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000

HHBEX Expected loss rates 0.7% 1.3% 4.1% 4.4% 100%

REEE Gross carrying amount 159,596 8,153 2,611 4,635 2,859 177,854
BiEEE Loss allowance (1,075) (108) (108) (204) (2,859) (4,354)
REEE Net carrying amount 158,521 8,045 2,503 4,431 - 173,500
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1A 15
3 HMBRAREREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HMBRABREZER #&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (& (b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) JRE () (i) Impairment (continued)
EENBERRBIRBEREL Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
EE (B (continued)
RERBRERESEEBEER Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
18 (&) basis (continued)
FHE CRIETNHMERRE Category 2: Customers conducting business in non-
EBNER Asia regions

B%ZfR ZERER ~E+_MR +Zf@A

28 ki B B N LB @t
R-E--#+-A8 Trade and lease
=+—-HEERHEE receivables and Up to 3to6 6to 12 Over 12
REIRERANEE contract assets as at 3 months months months months
31 December 2022 Current past due past due past due past due Total

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

FHBEX Expected loss rates 0.3% 1.6% - 100% -

REAE Gross carrying amount 26,650 4,215 - 6 - 30,871
EiaRE Loss allowance (89) (66) - (6) - (161)
REVEE Net carrying amount 26,561 4,149 - - - 30,710

5%=8F =E/~R AETZEAR +ZA

=4 ki ki ki sk st
ATET—F+"R Trade and lease
—+—HEERHE receivables and Up to 3t06 610 12 Over 12
ERIRERENEE contract assets as at 3 months months months months
31 December 2021 Current past due past due past due past due Total

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000

BHBEX Expected loss rates 0.2% 0.5% 2.6% 100% 100%

REAE Gross carrying amount 21,928 1 303 317 - 22,549
BIRRE Loss allowance (35) - ) 317) - (360)
REVEE Net carrying amount 21,893 1 295 - - 22,189
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

EERBERBIRERSHY

BE (&

EEESERREERS

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets

(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis (continued)

4EET Total:
R%=fB ZENER ~E+ZfER +Z8A
)i B k] B N LB @t

R-ZB-__F+-A8 Trade and lease
=+—-HEERHEE receivables and Upto3 3to6 6to 12 Over 12
RRIRERANEE contract assets as at months months months months

31 December 2022 Current  past due past due past due past due Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
FHBEE Expected loss rates 0.4% 1.0% 3.3% 5.1% 100.0%
REAE Gross carrying amount 161,503 36,689 25,135 16,860 3,790 243,977
BERER Loss allowance (704) (383) (832) (868) (3,790) (6,577)
REFE Net carrying amount 160,799 36,306 24,303 15,992 - 237,400
5%=@F =%~ A~ETZEA +ZEA
28 k] ki ki N Eas st

R_E_—F+_H Trade and lease
—t+—HEXRHAE receivables and Upto3 3t06 610 12 Over 12
ERIRIBERANEE contract assets as at months months months months

31 December 2021 Current past due past due past due past due Total

RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB'000

FHBEE Expected loss rates 0.6% 1.3% 4.0% 10.5% 100%
REAE Gross carrying amount 181,524 8,154 2,914 4,952 2,859 200,403
BEEE Loss allowance (1,110) (108) (116) (521) (2,859) 4,714)
REEE Net carrying amount 180,414 8,046 2,798 4,431 - 195,689
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments
for a period of greater than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade and lease receivables and
contract assets are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

Movement in the loss allowances for trade and lease
receivables is as follows:

2022 2021

ARHEFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REH At the beginning of the year 60,164 62,154

EEEWARIER 1B E Loss allowance for trade receivables 3,347 2,951
F P9 R 2R AE W [ i i 25 Written off during the year as

uncollectible - (3,267)

PE %2 = %8 Exchange difference 5,020 (1,674)

REXR At the end of the year 68,531 60,164
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EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuec)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables (excluding tax
recoverable).

The credit quality of other financial assets at amortised
cost has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and the impairment
provision is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2022 is RMB103,000 (2021: RMB98,000).

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
and takes into account all available information on future
business environment.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
additions of property, plant and equipment, purchase of
inventories, settlement of lease liabilities, payment for trade
and other payables and payment for operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and bank
borrowings, as necessary.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

HEEZ R () (c) Liquidity risk (continued)
AEENHREZEEHRERERRTE The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
RS ETERUBREREH expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
REMREEEBYUARBHEEN sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate amount of
EREGEME UREEHAEE committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in
B ESME the short and long term.
TRV BRIEHEEHIESHOEBA The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
B 89 &R HA R A & B A RA B HR 48 B relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
NEMBED T TREENERE at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
RERAERAFLHEMNNREH The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
HstENENFEMIRERE & undiscounted cash flows, including interest payments
EEREAOFEFENR B computed using contractual rates, based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.
wan
-8 —FERE WREERE REme IREE
Between 1 Between Total
and 2 2and 5 contractual Carrying
Within 1 year years years  cash flows amount
NEEFT ANEEFT ANREFT AEEFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EHaEREEERZ Contractual maturities of
BHEHA financial liabilities and
lease liabilities
RZEZZHF+"F=+—H At 31 December 2022
EEERE Trade payables 168,081 - - 168,081 168,081
fEst B R R EME[ZIE Accruals and other payables 13,940 - - 13,940 13,940
HEEE Lease liabilities 9,129 1,012 - 10,141 9,493
191,150 1,012 - 192,162 191,514
RZE_—F+°"F=+—H At 31 December 2021
FEfT IR Trade payables 121,310 - - 121,310 121,310
st ERREME[TIE Accruals and other payables 10,635 - - 10,635 10,635
HEaR Lease liabilities 13,216 8,721 957 22,894 22,026
145,161 8,721 957 154,839 153,971
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3.2

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

NTEEGE 3.2 Fair value estimation

TRERBUGFEQATFEZHERMEH A The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value

B G YR D —— T —F as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of inputs to valuation

+ZA=+—HBEAFEIKRZEMT technigues used to measure fair value. Such inputs are catgeorised

BETHT -BRAGABBIATERER into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

RREAUT=ERER

. FEEEREBENGREME 28R . Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
B GREHEE) (B4h—) assets or liabilities (level 1).

. FFABGR—Z2HREBUIIZEETE . Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
Bz BEE BMER) EiE (BiTE are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
BER JHRHAZK (BRI - as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

. FEERTBREMGHEEBEZCEEYN . Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
BEBAYE BIIERRH AR observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
(B#=) 3).

EfHR— B&= st
Level 1 Level 3 Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZE-__F#+-HF=+—H At 31 December 2022
RAFEFABRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
—JE LR AE - Unlisted equity securities - 44,404 44,404
—JELHES - Unlisted fund - 30,156 30,156
- 74,560 74,560
R_E-_—F+-F=+—H At 31 December 2021
BATEFABRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

— R AE - Listed equity securities 3,501 - 3,501

—JEERRAE — Unlisted equity securities - 35,413 35,413

—JFLEmEE - Unlisted fund - 8,863 8,863

3,501 44,276 47,777
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair
value measurements during the year. For transfer into and out of
level 3 measurement see (a) below (2021: Nil).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were valued as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 based on quoted market price in
an active market, recent transaction and net asset value.

(a) Financial instruments in level 3

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little
as possible on entity specific estimates. If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based on observable market data,
the instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and

—TEREZE#: 2021.
2022 2021
AREFT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—B—H As 1 January 44,276 16,318
HER—EA Transfer from Level 1 3,501 -
wE Addition 21,000 9,000
N ER R Fair value gains 2,017 19,633
BE 2 = 28 Exchange difference 3,766 (675)
R+_-_B=+—H As 31 December 74,560 44,276
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(b)

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

EBR=WEIZM IR (&)

TREBEBHR=ZNATFESERA
NEAFEEZBARBEZEESR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuec)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table summarizes the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair

value measurements:

RZBZZHF RZIEZ—%F
+=ZB=+—H +ZRB=+—H FHRRBAY FFRRHA
it WATE WATE ‘“ESE i1 HREE
Fair value at Fair value at Range of
31 December 31 December Unobservable unobservable
Description 2022 2021 Valuation technique input input
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT
FELHRARES 44,404 35,143  2RAHTLERATE TEA TEH
R (htat)
Unlisted equity Reference to comparable N/A N/A
securities recent arm’s length
transactions (Note (j)
FLrmEE 30,156 8,863  EEFE (M) TEA TEH
Unlisted fund Net asset value (Note (ii)) N/A N/A
74,560 44,276
i) AEBCEEERRSHER LB 0] The Group has determined that prices in comparable recent

ALERATRZHEREIE LT
RAFHFHNAFERE -

(i) FAEECEENBRSAR FL
TEERENERSEEFER
NTEEE-

BEBEREAEZEHEERE
BZ2AFE

HRREMAEE  AEERHER
EE (BEREAReEEY BX
REERBERBEUREGNEE 1%
T RHEMBUWRIE 2 REELK
HRsHa® (8FRUEER
B ERREME N RERE
BEaf ZREE HEEQATER
EoRMPEEKRBEERWIRE
HEREREBEERZEEERE
ERMFEFESREBMNAFEE
=

(b)

arm’s length transactions approximate the fair value of the
unlisted equity investment at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) The Group has determined that the reported net assets value
approximates fair value of the unlisted fund investment at the
end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised costs

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
lease receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, and the Group’s current financial liabilities
including trade payables, accruals and other payables and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities. The carrying amounts of non-current trade
and lease receivables, rental deposits and lease liabilities
approximate their fair values which are estimated based on
the discounted cash flows.
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=t+—H AEERERBEEFEMRRT

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has no financial assets and financial liabilities,
which is subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangements and similar agreements.

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital

expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or obtain new bank borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
“equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net

debt.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group was at net cash

position.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Expected credit loss of trade and lease receivables and
contract assets

The Group makes loss allowance for trade and lease receivables
and contract assets based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates, including
the economic impact of the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on
the operations of the Group and the countries in which it operates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition of rendering of services for I.T. Projects

The Group recognises certain revenue on the rendering of services
by reference to the percentage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of a
contract can be estimated reliably. The percentage of completion
is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date compared to the estimated
total contract costs to be incurred under the transaction, or the
value of services performed to date as a percentage of the value
of total services to be performed under the transaction. Significant
assumptions such as the total budgeted staff costs, are required
to estimate the total contract costs and/or the percentage of
completion. The estimates are made based on past experience and
knowledge of management.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where
its subsidiaries operate. Significant judgement is required in
determining provisions for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

The Group is also exposed to other taxes and duties. Significant
judgement is required in determining these provisions. Where the
final outcomes of these matters differ from the actual results, such
difference will impact the provisions made and the earnings stated
in the consolidated income statement.

Estimation of the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that are not traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions used and the impact of changes to
these assumptions (Note 3.2(a)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “Chief Operation Decision
Maker” or “CODM”) that make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews
the internal reporting of the Company and its subsidiaries in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segment based on the Group’s development
plan and the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The management
determined to divide its operation into three segments as follows:

1. Industrial Solution Business

- The provision of smart manufacturing solutions and services
to improve the operating effectiveness and efficiency of
production lines, plant facilities and industrial parks.

2. Smart Office Business

- The provision of video conference related solutions plus
brand licensing, supply chain management and distribution of
smart office equipment.

3. New Retail Business
- The provision of digital retail signage solutions.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that is managed by the respective business unit leaders. CODM
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of profit before income tax. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude corporate assets (mainly including
corporate cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, prepayments and other receivables, investments
in associates, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
deferred income tax assets), all of which are managed on a central basis.
Liabilities of reportable segments exclude corporate liabilities (mainly
including lease liabilities, accruals, other payables, deferred income tax
liabilities and tax payables). These are part of the reconciliation to total
balance sheet assets and liabilities.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
EIEZZF+ZB=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
TEMR
FREE BENAEE MTEER wmat
Industrial Smart
Solution Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ARBEFT ARBEFT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (Hif5Ea) Revenue (Note a) 427,268 396,509 8,684 832,461
ERIBZER Results of reportable segments 41,954 4,572 109 46,635
ERDIHEBEEFE RN Z A reconciliation of results of
HIRWT - reportable segments to profit for
the year is as follows:
ERDBZEE Results of reportable segments 46,635
FKAOBWA S (FI) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(B1zEb) (Note b) (18,805)
FERA Profit for the year 27,830
Htho &N - Other segment information:

BEARMZH Capital expenditures 1,646 35 - 1,681
ME HBREEITE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 3,318 212 - 3,530
ERAREERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,140 - - 8,140
EREESHE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,055 3,414 - 4,469
ETHEEFEER Loss allowance for financial assets 3,016 331 = 3,347
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
BE_T_—F+A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
TERR
FEER BIMRNER s
Industrial Smart
Solution Office
Business Business Total
ANEEFT ANRBEFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (f1zta) Revenue (Note a) 333,260 235,950 596,349
SR EE Results of reportable segments 44,352 3,249 51,332
2HDI EERFE T Z A reconciliation of results of
HRWT - reportable segments to profit
for the year is as follows:
SR EE Results of reportable segments 51,332
FAEWA FEX) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(Hfztb) (Note b) (17,071)
FE#HEA Profit for the year 34,261
HthoaEEN - Other segment information:

BEARMT T Capital expenditures 3,570 20,037 23,607
ME B REREITE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3,634 204 3,738
FERREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,317 - 9,317
mEEEH Amortisation of intangible assets 883 1,893 2,776
SHEERFERSG Loss allowance for financial assets 2,455 469 2,951
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5 WAERDIHBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
k=3 Note:
(a) SDIHFEBFREHZIRA (a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

AEBMLU TG T2 E QAR NEE R B R R E R
BHEERERRRFEEWRA

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time
and at a point in time in the following major product lines:

BE_E__F+”"_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
T ¥R
FEREB BEMAES MEEXES Mzt
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
WA R Z R Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HARFIER I.T. projects
— A E A RF R A — At a point of time 172,998 46,446 8,342 227,786
—BEE SRS - Over time 165,856 20,077 342 186,275
HIEREHRT Maintenance and consulting
services
—BEERE - Over time 50,676 265 - 50,941
HEGR Sales of goods
— DA F{E R B - At a point of time 33,787 329,721 - 363,508
REEEKRA Finance lease income 351 - - 351
KREREWA (f772) Operating lease income (note) 3,600 - - 3,600
427,268 396,509 8,684 832,461
BE_Z_—HF+_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
T2EfRR
FRER BEMAER WEEER “ast
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
N NREFT NEREFT ANEETT
IR A FERE 2 BF [ Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HR#KER L.T. projects
— P E B F R B - At a point of time 119,062 56,041 26,976 202,079
—FEE B - Over time 145,156 11,788 163 157,107
HEE R B ARTS Maintenance and consulting
services
—FEE B - Over time 49,336 1,088 - 50,424
HEAR Sales of goods
— P B F R B - At a point of time 16,299 167,033 - 183,332
REEEWRA Finance lease income 404 - - 404
RERBWA B 52) Operating lease income (note) 3,003 - - 3,003
333,260 235,950 27,139 596,349
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5 WAKRDEBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Bz : (&) Note: (continued)
(a) DIREBEESHZWA (& (a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
btaE Note:

KERBERAETEHRAZTREERARSERE
TEBTCRAMBEREEREEEREENK
Ao

BHEBEUEI D ZWADERBRERRZNSZ
ENMEE BEFFAEMEE DHNETRUEA

Operating lease income represents the income mainly generated from leasing
of servers, and operating the automated systems, to its customers by
charging a fixed monthly rental charge.

Revenue by geographical location is determined by the destination where the
services and products were delivered. Revenue from customers on the basis

Pakiin Il of customers’ locations is analysed as follows:
—E-=& —=——4
2022 2021
AREFT ANEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE The PRC 370,610 338,561
BUM Europe 157,711 54,233
ES The Americas 79,325 50,215
AN Singapore 103,005 73,330
=0 Taiwan 81,149 58,081
HME R Other countries 40,661 21,929
832,461 596,349

HEZZ-_-_F+ZHB=+—HIFE BTA
HARH98,807,0007T (ZEZ—F : AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of approximately
RMB98,807,000 (2021: RMB94,819,000), representing 12% (2021: 16%)

94,819,0007T) KE— R B—FF (b RE@MIE
WA12% (ZBEZ—F :116%) BE_ZE -
+ZA=t—HUEEE HEAEERLTATEZ
HEMBELAERBRANIOR (CE-—F .
44%) o

BEZS -+ ZA=1+—HILEFE KA
# AR 1335,935,0007T (ZZEZ—F : AR
280,085,0007T) R HRAE A LR /EEE TER
DAERABDREEEAT  (HAEBELIKTA40%
(ZEZ—F:147%) °

of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from a single customer. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, sales to the five largest customers of the Group
in total accounted for approximately 40% (2021: 44%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of approximately
RMB335,935,000 (2021: RMB280,085,000), representing 40% (2021: 47%)
of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from related parties, Hon Hai Precision
Industry Company Limited and its group companies.

% BE Rl # IR ¥ & IR 2 8 Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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5 WAKRDEER @

st -

(b)

(%)

KARBA BIX) TEOERCEEEEE
BB ER WP DEMEAT 2%
B BRATESABGZZEMEEZ ATEW
mFE - RBERA-EESRME - WE KSR
RREBITE - EREEEINE ROZIMAX
ERREEER IERAXRAMEERX

REDE FEAFEEFREHRUT ¢

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Note: (continued)

(b) Unallocated income/(expenses) mainly include government subsidies, net
exchange gains, share of results of associates, fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, net, finance income, employment
benefit expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation
of right-of-use assets, share-based payment, legal and professional fees,
income tax expense and other operating expenses incurred at corporate level.

A reconciliation of operating segments’ results to total profit for the year is provided

as follows:

T T
2022 2021
AREFT ANRHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DEBELE Segment results 46,635 51,332
KAEBEBA (EX) - Unallocated income/(expenses):
— BB — Government subsidies 2,196 1,653
—RhE U A — Finance income 1,918 2,313
—RBAFTEFABRZEREEZ — Fair value gains on financial assets
NEEWTFEE at fair value through profit or loss, net 2,017 18,461
—ERWRFEE - Net exchange gains 5,854 2,056
—DMEBE R T EE — Share of results of associates (3,317) -
—E KB RREBITE — Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (229) (2,330)
—EREEETE - Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2,794) (3,745)
—EEREEER - Legal and professional fees (1,910) (2,139)
—RE®AMEXZ - Employment benefit expenses (13,936) (13,349)
— RO - Share-based payment - (10,482)
—IZH e = - Auditors’ remuneration (2,138) (1,810)
—FrSiRHEz - Income tax expense (2,653) (3,346)
—Hfh — Others (3,813) (4,353)
FERFA Profit for the year 27,830 34,261

BE_Z__FR-ZF_—F+-RB=+—HLEF
B FTABEREXHRETE 5

YSESE

incurred in the PRC, Taiwan and the United States.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, all capital expenditure were
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
RZE_-_#+-B=+—H
As at 31 December 2022
TEMA
FREKE SENRAEE MEEXER st
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ABEFT ABEFT AEBEFT ABEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NEEE Segment assets
DEPEE Segment assets 272,643 188,552 2,868 464,063
Btk Dk &EE Ksta) Other unallocated assets (Note a) 262,276
EHEERGRNEEE Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet 726,339
DEEE Segment liabilities
DEEE Segment liabilities 117,006 98,366 10,019 225,391
Hit k& @ #atb) Other unallocated liabilities
(Note b) 49,915
EHEEEERNEESRE Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet 275,306

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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5 WAERDIHBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

N ZE_—F+"F=+—H
As at 31 December 2021

TERBA
FEERE BERAER WEEER HEr
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ANEBFT AEBFT AEBEFT AREFT
RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
DEEE Segment assets
DEEE Segment assets 234,397 154,674 5,471 394,542
HEtEknREE (Hsta) Other unallocated assets (Note a) 247,388
EHEEEGRNEEE Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet 641,930
DEEE Segment liabilities
ban=I 3= Segment liabilities 84,800 77,599 21,171 183,570
Hit k& ®E #atb) Other unallocated liabilities (Note b) 45,875
EHEEEERNESRE Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet 229,445
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Htet -

(@)

=
=

= - —F+"H=+—8"
HKkNPREEFEZCEAAERAZRERIR
TEBY - ME -KBRIE - CAREE -8
IRIEREMEWRIE - REE AT 2 RE 17
NFEFABRZEMEEURBELEMERE

RENMr EELQEEHRNT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, other unallocated assets mainly included
cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepayments and other receivables, investments in associates, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and deferred income tax assets for corporate
usage.

Operating segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

—E-TH B —F

2022 2021

AREFT ANEBFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ER/BzoEEE Segment assets for reportable segments 464,063 394,542
FREEE Unallocated assets

—RERREEEY - Cash and cash equivalents 166,866 189,064

B ER E et — Property, plant and equipment 934 1,088

—FREEE - Right-of-use assets 3,147 5,903

—FE (T FR I8 K ELth FE W 7B - Prepayments and other receivables 4,679 1,546

— REBERIZ’E - Investments in associates 7,138 -

—BAFEFABRZEMEE - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 74,560 47,777

—IRIEFRISIRE E - Deferred income tax assets 4,952 2,010

EHEEAEBRNEEE Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 726,339 641,930

ERRPEEERNFBEYE HBERZELA
66,0007t (ZZ = —4% | AR68,0007T) ;
UERZEZZE  RPEEENTETER
RiEEE (T =Z—F . AR#8,549,0007T) °

N TECFRZE_—F+ZHB=+—H"
REBZREDIERENEEMN FE > M EAM
BIINER a8 kER-

% BE Rl # IR ¥ & IR 2 8 Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

During the year, the addition to property, plant and equipment in unallocated
assets was RMB66,000 (2021: RMB68,000) and there was no addition to
right-of-use assets in unallocated assets in 2022 (2021: RMB 8,549,000).

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, majority of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in the PRC with others located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the
United States.
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5 WARTBEHBEN @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
s (& Notes: (continued)
(b) RIEBE-_ _FER-_FE_—F+-_H=+—08" (b)  As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, other unallocated liabilities mainly
HEMAx ok eBETECERE G ERZESE included accruals, other payables, lease liabilities, deferred income tax
A HEMETHRE - HEaG REMSHEE liabilities and tax payables for corporate usage.
e FE(TFRIE
RENPz BERBEEHERNT ! Operating segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:
—E--F —m——
2022 2021
ARB¥EFT ANEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
E2WRNBzHEEE Segment liabilities for reportable segments 225,391 183,570
A=K Unallocated liabilities
—fEstE B R E i fE (T TIE — Accruals and other payables 36,019 31,415
—HEaA - Lease liabilities 3,037 5,714
— BRI - Tax payables 8,256 4,483
—IRIEFTISIRARE - Deferred income tax liabilities 2,603 4,263
EHEEBBERNEASE Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 275,306 229,445
6 HthWAKRHE Ik F#EE 6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET
- BT
2022 2021
ANEBEFT NEHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B3 48 B Government subsidies 2,196 1,653
Hth Others 466 315
Hamg A Other income 2,662 1,968
HEME WBERREB IR Loss on disposals of property,
plant and equipment - 2)
PER W PR Net exchange gains 4,735 2,803
Hi Others 47 1,995
Hth s P58 Other gains, net 4,782 4,796
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BEEHIADZHAX 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEFAREIER 2 B H R R A & Costs of hardware and software for
HESMMA I.T. projects and cost of goods sold 593,666 377,984
EEGHHS (BIEEENE) Employment benefit expenses (including
(H72%8) directors’ emoluments) (Note 8) 133,901 121,008
SNEER Sub-contracting fee 1,088 450
ME BB RREINE (Wat14) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 14) 3,759 6,068
EREEETE Ha215) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 10,934 13,062
RIS ERRM M (HaE15) Expenses relating to short term leases (Note 15) 64 578
RBERZ Travelling expenses 5,089 2,586
FRREEER Legal and professional fees 2,564 7,239
BB Consultancy fees 17,750 16,239
MANERZ Office expenses 3,898 4,123
| EESE WE13) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) 4,469 2,776
ZEENEN & Auditors’ remuneration
—BIZIRT - Audit services 2,138 1,810
GFERERE (E18) Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 18) 1,824 -
EERX Advertising expenses 1,718 458
YIRkBEERX Logistic and warehouse expenses 12,045 6,992
Htpx Other expenses 11,272 10,534
806,179 571,997
BHAKRIR Representing:
5 & A AR Cost of sales 705,313 482,232
HE RHEMAX Selling and distribution expenses 36,964 25,689
— R RITEAX General and administrative expenses 53,760 47,091
EER Research and development expenses 10,142 16,985
806,179 571,997

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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8 EEmRAMEX 8 EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
BiEEEMEe 2 BER®FBEIOT : Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consist
of:
2022 2021
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e~ TE R Wages, salaries and allowances 101,892 93,116
BTESkEEZHERE Share options granted to directors and
employees 339 -
TE4T Bonus 12,236 10,341
BIKE A — E BB RETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 6,591 6,942
B REAMF R Welfare and other benefits 12,843 10,699
133,901 121,098
9 RMEBEUWA—FREE 9 FINANCE INCOME - NET
2022 2021
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE WA Finance income
RITFERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 1,918 2,313
FE A Finance cost
HEaEfEmT #at15) Interest expenses for lease liabilities (Note 15) (514) (850)
FRERA Net finance income 1,404 1,463
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FRiSTR B X 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
AANBIEEREERENEB-FSEFESRLIR The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
BESAELEI FESBZMEREREF tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the
#16.5% (B~ —4 :16.5%) Z R RIZHA*E estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Group
B-BE_SE__F+ZA=F+—HIEFEE >F companies established and operating in the PRC, Taiwan and the United
CEBEREBRIKEEZEBR AR AMNS States are subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 25%, 20%
B EFERREDFAH25%20%/430% (= and 30% (2021: same) respectively, for year ended 31 December 2022,
T —F AR > LT ETBEEBRSN except for those specified in below.
RESMRMEERBEERR > HPMEP Two of the subsidiaries in the PRC were approved by the relevant
BFAEIEMEBMARBREALE DAHZE local tax bureaus under the preferential tax policy for the high and new
TEFEZSI_FRHIZEI—FECZZ technology enterprises, and were entitled to a preferential corporate
TR EEEREMEBRIREIS%- income tax rate of 15% from 2020 until 2022 and 2021 until 2023,
respectively.
2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHRIE Current taxation
—REFE — Current year 9,304 3,988
—RETFEBBEE — Over provision in prior year (1,820) (2,904)
7,484 1,084
EIEFTS RS (Fi5E23) Deferred income tax expenses (Note 23) (4,831) 2,262
2,653 3,346

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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10

FrisREZ @

REBEFRSRANGMN 2B BRABEAR
AHERBGERZMETHREMELE ZERR
R AT

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2022 2021
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 30,483 37,607
BRERPREBEARE RN Z Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable
EMMEHEZRE to profits in the respective jurisdiction 6,147 6,843
BERRZ WA Income not subject to tax (2,379) (767)
AHNRZZH Expenses not deductible 866 4,188
WMENBE AN ES Tax effects of associates’ result reported,
NMBEE FrRE) net of tax 499 -
W SR IRIEPR ISR 2 Other temporary differences for which no
HERtE £ deferred income tax were recognised 14 (174)
IR AEFESD Recognition of temporary difference previously
e =2 not recognised (20) (200)
TR SIREFTSINEEZ Tax losses for which no deferred income tax
MIBE1E assets were recognised 51 470
B RERE ZIRIBLEE Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - (1,164)
—EHFETABRKREZEINR Withholding tax on dividend of a PRC subsidiary 2,000 -
PBTEEBREE S Over-provision for previous year (1,820) (2,904)
—EEETFRABZAMNEREER Profit retention tax for a Taiwan subsidiary - 253
MBEE Tax incentives (2,705) (3,199)
i8I Income tax expense 2,653 3,346

RIEFFEREENRNBEBEERRI  UB
AR BB AR ERR BN S IRERRENRS
Re-M B _F+_-_B=+—H0 &cEBLE
MMIEEIE AR 522,818,000t (ZT - —F :
AR #27,821,0007T) EVEILFI SR E E AR
13,423,00070 (Z2 - —F : AR4,361,000
70) WL EREARNIBBIB BB ERRIRA
EE - ZERMEBEBENR _Z_tEEm (=
T —F RIEIEEIZ T NEHME
) ©

BETRPERGEEET AT ZAELBA
ZHEINBBEDR A% KR21% R 8- =
F+_A=Zt+—H TERETIRAREE
NEIZREHBF AR132,846,0007t (&
T —4 . AR103,856,00070) HERENZ
FEINM VRPN IEE B AR 9,616,0007T

—E 4 AR¥7,346,0007T)  RAAZ
ERERANBRE

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did
not unrecognise deferred income tax assets of RMB3,423,000 (2021:
RMB4,361,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to RMB22,818,000
(2021: RMB27,821,000). These tax losses can be carried forward against
future taxable income. These tax losses will expire by 2027 (2021: expire
within 2022 to 2026).

The withholding tax rate for unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
operated in PRC and Taiwan are 5% and 21%, respectively. As at 31
December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB9,616,000 (2021:
RMB7,346,000) have not been unrecognised for withholding tax that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain PRC and Taiwan
subsidiaries of RMB132,846,000 (2021: RMB103,856,000) as such
accounts will be reinvested.
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11 EEHEFRES (KESFHE(2D 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

=
B {7 61) (55622%) 553831% (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(nE] (IRBESHZER) R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
B (36622GE) REALTHR ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
A EE K) (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING

RULES)
(a) EEKkRSITHAEZHMN (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
HE_ZF+-BA=+—HILHFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
KABBREEREZHMELTIWMT : year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

HREAREFRAAREFANESZEARRMAHE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HREEER

VNG

HFRRAZER
EH2ZAMEH

B RERHMH
Emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

HERES director’s
BAEME  other services
FEft 5B in connection

Remuneration with the
EEXRKER paid or management of
Hitvighlz IR receivable in the affairs
fEstE Employer's respect of of the
METEAL EEEE Estimated ~contribution to accepting  Company or
ik #% Discretionary Housing money value of  a retirement office as its subsidiary st
EEHE Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance other benefits benefit scheme director undertaking Total
AEEF7T AEEFT AREBFT AEEF7T AEEFT ARBFT AEEF7T AEBF7 AREFRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HiTES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin - - - = = = = - -
EhiEnk Mr. CAI LiTing
(#1TR) (Chief Executive Officer) = - = = o - - - -
BRERE Mr. KAO, Chao Yang - - - - o o o - -
BERBLE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,105 205 - - 15 - - 1,325
gt Sub-total - 1,105 205 - - 15 - - 1,325
FHTES Non-executive director
PARK Ho Jin%c% Mr. PARK Ho Jin (Note j)
(Hiti) - - - - = = - - -
BIUIFMTES  Independent non-executive
directors
BRESZE Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen 102 - - - - - o = 102
oAzt Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 102 - - = = = - - 102
RRERHE Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 102 - - - - = s - 102
NEt Sub-total 306 - - - - - - = 306
5t Total 306 1,105 205 - - 15 = = 1,631

156 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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(a)

EEkmE=ITHRASHMN 2

BE_Z-_—F+-B=+—HLEE>
RABBREEZFHINBIINT ¢

=

11

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

HREAEEAAFREFARNESZENARMHE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HEEEH

YN

HYRFZ B8
EBZHMRE
B M

Emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

HENEE director’s
BIBME  other services
FEff%®  in connection

Remuneration with the
BEERMRER paid or  management of
HitgR 2 SHEIER receivable in the affairs
fhatiEE Employer's respect of of the
T4 AREH Estimated  contribution to accepting Company or )
e e Discretionary Housing ~ money value of a retirement office as its subsidiary @it
ez Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits  benefit scheme director undertaking Total
NEEFT ANEBFT ANEBFL NEEFT ANEBFT NEBFT ANEEFT NEBFT NEBFT
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ATES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin - - - - - - - N -
ENEEE Mr. CAI LiTing
(Hi7K) (Chief Executive Officer) - - - - - - - - _
SRELE Mr. KAO, Chao Yang - - - - _ _ _ B -
FEMEE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,023 185 - - 15 - - 1,203
NGt Sub-total - 1,023 185 - - 15 - - 1,223
FHITES Non-executive directors
PARK Ho Jinf5 4 Mr. PARK Ho Jin (Note j
(i) - - - - - - - - _
JEON Eui Jong  Mr. JEON Eui Jong (Note i)
K5 Usti) - - - - - - - - -
BIEHITEE  Independent non-executive
directors
BRLKE Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen 100 - - - - - - - 100
BoAxL Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 100 - - - - - - - 100
FERAR Prof. ZHANG Xiaoguan 100 - - - - - - - 100
et Sub-total 300 - - - - - - - 300
@it Total 300 1,023 185 - - 15 - - 1,523
Wzt PRR_ZEZ—HF=A=+—H%E Note i:  Appointed and resigned as a non-executive director on 31 March

i atii:

o atiii:

ZAERFRTEERNR T _=F
B+ NHERE

R_E_—F=ZB=+—H#
EIEHMITES

Kim Hyun SeoktER _—_ZE - =
FZAZ+ILHEZERIER
TES

2021 and 29 March 2023, respectively

Note ii: Resigned as a non-executive director on 31 March 2021

Note ifi: Mr. Kim Hyun Seok was appointed as a non-executive director on 29
March 2023
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11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING

RU LES) (continued)

(b) HHERSFMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals

158

FEBEFNILESHFMALFR—% (Z
BT —F ! —R)RBREF RZHWZES
M EE1 (@) 2 D AT o

FREMGTEHS (CEZ—F:048) A
TZFENNT

One (2021: One) of the five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year were directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 11(a).

The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2021: four)
individuals during the year are as follows:

T HF B

2022 2021

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

e TERER Wages, salaries and allowances 2,753 2,575

TE4L Bonus 1,777 1,061
BIRERA Pension costs — defined contribution

—EREHETE plans 416 138

B R HAF) 2= Welfare and other benefits 223 188

5,169 3,962

BRNALTZHEANENTEER :

The emoluments of the remaining individuals fell within the following

bands:
A¥
Number of individuals
—E-C = —4F
2022 2021
AR #500,0007t = A R #1,000,0007T RMB500,000 to RMB1,000,000 - 3
AR %1,000,001;cE A K #1,500,00075 RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 4 1

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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BIRBEER) @

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f

EFZRAEN KB

FRBBEFRAMEARTREFAT
& (H AR 75 M 2 WER 30 R B AE 17 2R R 43
F RS (T —F 18 -

MERHEERBEMGETFE=ZA2ZRE

FRCAABDAEERANDEIRMEES
REMAETFAE=ZAZGFEAREB (T2
T—Fi@\o

EHEREE -REEEZIREREA
ERERZENEREZENR BUERK
Hittx B2 &EH

PERKFRERFRE ARBHAAF
ZFRE WMEBR) TEIIUEREE R
EREFERN 2 EANBBNEERES
BREZERZARNER BUERKRHA
s (T2 %

) o

BEENXB - ZHREGHPZIERFE

RERIFRNEAER AR EEHE
EARB SR TRAEREBAR
ERARZG ZHARAHNTHERNEEES
ERERFE (T2 Z—F 1 8) -

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services to the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services to the
Company (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
controlled entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company, where
applicable, in favor of the directors, or body corporate controlled
by or entities connected with any of the directors at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).
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(a)

(b)

B

SRERBATYREE NS AT R
B ARG ERIR I 81T BB (FaE
BER) METHHHE -

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue excluding treasury
shares, during the year.

2022 2021

KRB DA ABEET Profit attributable to equity holders of

(NEHFT) the Company (RMB’000) 27,830 34,261
BETEERMNEFEH Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

(Fh) issue (‘000) 701,543 691,312
EREARF] Basic earnings per share

(F9#5 7 A EN £ B (rounded to RMB cents) 3.97 4.96
g (b) Diluted

SRBEEMNDEAEEETEINEE
g8 LURRFIA#REEEE R
RESBBME REERESE D TFH
THROREENHGETEBRR -RE
ERRATE (BERAKTABRMESAMR
BERHHENTHE WENORMHE
EIRBARTTERBREMMNZEENE
KEESE LA ENRNBEERR
RERBECTEMIETNROBER
tE#g e

BE_T_"_FR-_ZT-_—F+°A
=+—HBLEFE AREREARETEN
o sRBERFNEGRELRIN &
LEREIRIR

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Shares issuable
under the share option schemes are the only dilutive potential
ordinary shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily quoted market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, dilutive
earnings per share was of the same amount as the basic earnings
per share as the share options were anti-dilutive.
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13 BMI2EE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
I B R R
Hhsk 44 BRI “aEt
Acquired
patents and
other software Computer
components software Total
ANEWETFT ANEEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Ht5%(a))
(Note (a))
W-ZZ2Z=-%—HF—H At 1 January 2022
B AN Cost 19,346 13,715 33,061
Rt Accumulated amortisation (1,861) (11,559) 13,420
IREFE Net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641

BE_ZT__F+_-H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2022

IEEE

FAYIRREIFE Opening net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641
Wiy (Hs27) Amortisation (Note 7) (3,414) (1,055) (4,469)
fE R =28 Exchange difference 1,380 - 1,380
FARER IR E Closing net book amount 15,451 1,101 16,552
AZE_ZH+ZHA=+—H At 31 December 2022

D% Cost 19,805 13,715 33,520
Rt Accumulated amortisation (4,354) (12,614) (16,968)
EREFE Net book amount 15,451 1,101 16,552
W-ZE-—%—HF—H At 1 January 2021

A Cost - 11,939 11,939
Rt Accumulated amortisation - (10,677) (10,677)
RMEEE Net book amount - 1,262 1,262

HE_E_-_—H+”"HB=+—H Year ended 31 December 2021

WHEFEE

HAYIERER(E Opening net book amount - 1,262 1,262
RE Additions 19,840 1,776 21,616
B (at7) Amortisation (Note 7) (1,894) (882) (2,776)
FERZEL Exchange difference (461) - (461)
BAREREFE Closing net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641
R_E-_—%+”"A=+—H At 31 December 2021

B AN Cost 19,346 13,715 33,061
Rt Accumulated amortisation (1,861) (11,559) (18,420)
IREZEE Net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641
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13 BREE @ 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Wiat : Notes:
(a) REE_ZT_—F+_B=+—BLEE K (a) Details of the acquisition of patents and the other software components during
BB A R AR AR 1 SF 1B IR BB R MY 5226 the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 26.
b) EREENENTAHFERIIRDT (b)  Amortisation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

—E-Z TET—F

2022 2021

AREFT ANEBBTFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

4 & B AR Cost of sales 3,414 1,894
THE KA Selling and distribution expenses - 371
—RRITERE General and administrative expenses 1,055 511
iy Total amortisation 4,469 2,776
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14 YE -HaE3kxE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R KB
Bii®E THEMERE Rt st
Furniture,
Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
ARBEFT ARBEFT ARBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WZE-__&—B—H At 1 January 2022
(BN Cost 37,215 4,509 14,716 56,440
RiEtieE Accumulated depreciation (27,676) (4,341) (13,973) (45,990)
IREFE Net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
BE_ZT”-__F+”°"H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2022
LLFE
A RERE Opening net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
RE Additions 1,684 - 63 1,747
e (Wa7) Depreciation (Note 7) (3,511) (152) (96) (3,759)
EREE Exchange difference (39) 2 (6) (43)
HARERERE Closing net book amount 7,673 18 704 8,395
WZE2__#+-B=+—H At 31 December 2022
(BN Cost 38,736 4,519 14,775 58,030
REtieE Accumulated depreciation (31,063) (4,501) (14,071) (49,635)
REEE Net book amount 7,673 18 704 8,395
R-ZE=-—%—H—H At 1 January 2021
B Cost 35,325 4,518 14,647 54,490
REHINE Accumulated depreciation (22,487) (3,759) (13,770) (40,016)
IREFE Net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
BE_E_—F+”"HA=+—H Year ended 31 December 2021
LHEE
HYREFEE Opening net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
ERELR Exchange difference 9) 3) 1) (13)
RE Additions 1,987 - 72 2,059
HE Disposals ) - - @)
B (13t7) Depreciation (Note 7) (5,275) (588) (205) (6,068)
HAREREFE Closing net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
WZ2-_—#+”-B=+—H At 31 December 2021
B Cost 37,215 4,509 14,716 56,440
REHINE Accumulated depreciation (27,676) (4,341) (13,973) (45,990)
IREFE Net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
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14 MFE- BB REE @ 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (ontinued)
Wizt Notes:
(a) FREENITERSHABERIOBROT : (a) Depreciation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

—E_F B —F
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SHE R A& Cost of sales 2,775 2,996
THE A Selling and distribution expenses 102 137
— M RATEREX: General and administrative expenses 777 2,839
S E Research and development expenses 105 96
ERTE Total depreciation 3,759 6,068
Ab = 1= =
15 FRESEEREEAR 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES
(i) MNEHEEEGERPHEIZEEE (i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
EHEEBERVW R TIERMEEZS The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts
I relating to leases:
=2 —EC—fF
2022 2021
ANEBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREEE Right-of-use assets
EISRE Computer equipment 8,341 18,275
MAE Offices 3,784 7,295
AH Vehicles 107 223
12,232 25,793
HEas Lease liabilities
mE Current 8,548 12,482
IERH Non-current 945 9,544
9,493 22,026
FRMLEFECRAREE (CTZ—F: No additions to the right-of-use assets during the year (2021:
AR 18,549,0007T) ° RMB8,549,000).
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15 FHESEREEEE® 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) ERAEEESE (i) Measurement of right-of-use assets
ERAERAEEEANTEIEERR ! The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of
assets:
EEE WAE RE st
Computer
equipment Offices Vehicles Total
NEBEFT NEEBTFT AEBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M_E - "F—H—H At1January 2022 18,275 7,295 223 25,793
&1k Termination (2,453) - - (2,453)
ITE (Wat7) Depreciation (Note 7) (7,159) (3,659) (116) (10,934)
P =%E Exchange differences (322) 148 - (174)
= At 31 December 2022
+-B=+—H 8,341 3,784 107 12,232
RZZZ—F—H—H At1 January 2021 27,790 4,017 11 31,818
AE Additions - 8,316 233 8,549
&1k Termination - (1,253) - (1,258)
EE (Brat7) Depreciation (Note 7) (9,318) (3,723) (1) (13,062)
BE A %E Exchange differences (197) (62) - (259)
AT —F At 31 December 2021
+-B=+—H 18,275 7,295 223 25,793
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15 FREEEREERE @

(iii)

(iv)

REHABRPERZEHE

BHABERIT T AEMEEZ 4R

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts
relating to leases:

2022 2021

AR ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HEaBENERX Interest expense for lease liabilities 514 850
MG ERRMMAX Expenses relating to short-term leases 64 578

RIZZZEZHAERSFTHRBEAA
R #816,502,0007T (Z2 - —4% : AR
14,977,0007T) °

FEBZHEBEFRSHRAEARSGZ

FEBEESERAE BRREKRS
B -HEGNERRETEHRIFEEIE-

HEGRZENEERRE TEIZET
(] B9 1% R B A6 11 o 1 6 173 5 7 BB I ) 22
o MHEARANEEEERRITER
DR - HEBEERSREEERRA
w

16 RBERATZKE

16

(iv)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was RMB16,502,000
(2021: RMB14,977,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted
for

The Group leases various offices, computer equipment and
vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
year to 4 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

REGE AT 2 REEHUWT - The movements of investment in associates are as follows:
2022 2021
ARBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—A—H At 1 January = -
AE Capital contributions 10,455 -
REEDHEE Share of loss for current year (3,317) -
w+ZHA=+—H At 31 December 7,138 -
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16 REEARZERE @ 16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
UTFHIWNAEBRR _ZE_ZFRIZE—F Set out below are the details of the associates of the Group as at 31
+ZA=+—HZBE QT FIE T X7 December 2022 and 2021. The associate as listed below have share
ENBIZRAEREERMARN  BAEEBE capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which is held indirectly by the
ISR Group.

NIE_ZER-EZ—F+ZA=+—H> Details of the principal investments in associates as at 31 December
REBERBZETEREFENT ! 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
EEMMB I
BRReLE o i B 32 B &K FRER#EZR DL RREE TERHE
Place of
business/country
establishment/ % of ownership Nature of the
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship Measurement method
B T
2022 2021
YT EEE SR FE 25% - W A
RERAE (TEA)
The PRC Note i Equity method
GNL LTD. (“GNL") =9 20% — HyE RE2ESE
BEMAEAERRE (ME#)
Taiwan Note ii Equity method
FINTEEREBRAS  HE 15% 156%  Mfatii %
(TR 1) —E”—F AR
The PRC Note iii Equity method
(2021: same)
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16 MEBZEATZIRE @

168

Htet -

(i)

(il

HAlAR S —F+_AtH=EFMMINE
[RAB -MRIEZ—F+"H > AEEHEFEE
ST E R URE AR ES5,000,0007053
5% BERIW _E__F—B_+—H>
AEERBERFII—MEERERHE 2
BE RS ER 1 E SR A N — EM B AR E - FIL
AEEBR_E__F—-AABEAFEARKE
10,000,0007T ° B Al #it B B8 B a8 B9 b 3 R Y
BoBEZ__HF+_B=+—HIEFE K
EERBEILEIBA AR %S,293,0007T ©

,iﬁ%ﬁ\fv NEANBNBEMEILINER
NEREENARNESRGREFHRN - AEER
RZEZZH#NB=+B:TuIREHH UK
{82,000,000%71 & & (HHE I AR #455,0007T)
W E20%NRIE- BE_S__F+_8
“t+—BLEEE AEEEIEGEEOAR
#24,0007T ©

BRANRZZ—NFZBZ+tHEMRIEN
BRAF cZAEWERMVPANEL TE B R
SETHREARIBEGEREMYBERRS
R R ITZ—NEZBZ+B> KEBETI—
7B R LR EARKS53,000T B E R
15%HE RELUEABREBEZAEBEL
BEZANGEE EAFEATRBIEER
GEMEE FIFIABREEALEBRTE
B REIE

BEARERNHREQARZER AR ZIARE

& o

16

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Note:

(i)

(i)

(il

B8 is a limited liability company incorporated on 7 December 2021. The
Group entered into an investment agreement with B8l in December 2021 for
a 25% equity interest at a consideration of RMB5,000,000. Subsequently, the
Group entered into a supplemental shareholder agreement with the existing
shareholders on 21 January 2022 and all shareholders agreed to double the
capital investment of Bl e As a result, the Group invested RMB10,000,000
to ElR in January 2022. EJ&l is engaged in research and development, and
manufacturing of medical equipment. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group recognised a share of loss of approximately RMB3,293,000.

GNL is a limited liability company incorporated on 9 September 2019. It
was engaged in provision of I.T. software and electronic materials. On 30
August 2022, the Group entered into a shareholder agreement to acquire
20% shareholding of GNL at consideration of NTD 2,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB455,000). For the year ended 31 December 2022, The Group recognized
a share of loss approximately RMB24,000.

E B is a limited liability company incorporated on 27 February 2019. It
was engaged in the provision of interactive video conference and other loT
solutions under the brand name of VPANEL. On 26 March 2019, the Group
entered into an investment agreement to acquire 15% shareholding of &5
at consideration of RMB353,000, which was settled by injection of intangible
assets of the Group at equivalent value to E./f » the fair value of which was
determined by an independent qualified valuer in the PRC. The injected
intangible assets are softwares and trademark internally generated by the
Group.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in
associates.
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17 BAFEFAAEEZEREE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

BAFTESTAEBRITEZEMEERE TR Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include the
15 . following:
2022 2021
ARHEFT ANEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
EWEE (W) Listed investment (Note (i) - 3,501
JE EMRARTE S BEE0)%(1)) Unlisted equity securities (Note (i) and (i) 44,404 35,413
LRSS (22 i0) Unlisted fund (Note (i) 30,156 8,863
74,560 47,777
BAFEFABRzEMEEZEITHNT . Movement in the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is as
follows:
2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W—HB—H At 1 January 47,777 16,318
NE Additions 21,000 13,697
N EW@FEE Fair value gains, net 2,017 18,461
PE 2 7= 28 Exchange differences 3,766 (699)
R+ZB=+—H At 31 December 74,560 47,777
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17 BAFEFAAEEZEREE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

(& PROFIT OR LOSS
Wiat : Notes:
(i) RWZZ2ZZEZA > LHRERFRNLBL (i) The listed investment was privatised in February 2022. Therefore, it was

AW EFDEEF LHRAESE -HEZS
T TE+ZAZ+—HILEEE BIBATEES
8 AR 13,849,0007T ° % IF F TR AEHF K
BUH B E.

R_BE—-AE+—B+_A XEEEBIF
=75:RE72,9160 M5 > (b %Ik E T EEE AR
22.03% > f{1E72,000,000& 7T FHER AR
14,048,0007t) c M S -_ZTFERAN\H K&
EAZBILE =508 18,220RFBINRM » 15
%Ik EHERE0.50%B9 iR X {E%4500,000% 7T
(HHER AR 1£3,464,0007T) °

BREAD—RERBUEMNZIMMRIZBRA
B FEF IR EERFERERKM  #RE
MR EREE 2 R R EERE -

REE_Z B —F+"HB=+—
BEFEFELITRAZSZAFELESER
OB ZEE - AFEBRAFERBR=
(MiE3.2) REBEE_E_—_F+-HB=+—
BIEFE > AT ERGE ARES573,0007T (ZF
——%: AR#¥19,770,0007T) K& HM B RS
MR I E MR AB S UETEE

RIEZ—FXANB AEERBUE=
FIIUBERABHE MEABRAB AL
ERFEEMN—RAEREE S TAH
BmESEHEARK30,000,0007T  EE S KE
BHEe% -MAEE AEBBNEEARKE
21,000,0007t BERHBZ LI RFEEE

FETESZAFEBRAFERER= (M
32) MBEZ-__H#+-A=+—HIE
B> AFEBEARK293,000T (T2 —4F:
ANE#137,0007t) P& HF BERPRERIEE
mEEUARESHE.

reclassified to unlisted equity securities. A fair value loss of RMB3,849,000
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022. The investment in
this unlisted equity security is denominated in TWD.

(ii) On 12 November 2019, the Group subscribed 72,916 shares from an
independent third party, representing 2.03% of shareholdings of an unlisted
entity at consideration of USD 2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,048,000).
On 8 May 2020, the Group subscribed 18,229 additional shares from this
independent third party, representing 0.50% of shareholdings of the unlisted
entity at consideration of USD 500,000 (equivalent to RMB3,464,000).

The investee, a limited liability company incorporated in Delaware, is mainly
focus on the first digital and fully scalable sensing technology to solve the
noise immunity and tuning challenges of traditional touch sensors.

The fair value of the unlisted investment was determined by reference to recent
comparable transaction as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The fair value is
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2). During the year ended 31
December 2022, a fair value gain of RMB5,573,000 (2021: RMB19,770,000)
was recognised in the consolidated income statement. The unlisted equity
security is denominated in USD.

(iff) On 8 June 2021, the Group entered into a Limited Partner Agreement with
an individual third party to invest in a private investment fund registered in
the PRC as a limited partner and committed to contribute RMB30,000,000
to the fund, representing 6% of the total committment of the fund. During the
year, the Group made an additional investment of RMB21,000,000 and all the
committed capital was fully paid.

The fair value of the unlisted fund is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
(Note 3.2). During the year ended 31 December 2022, a fair value loss of
RMB293,000 (2021: RMB137,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statements. The unlisted fund is denominated in RMB.

EHEE AFEAEPRBAZEER ERER Refer to Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements for information
NEKR F2REEHMBREKRMETI.20 about the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value.
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q4
18 #8 18 INVENTORIES
2022 2021
ARHEFT ANEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B KR 1 Hardware and software 155,279 115,025
BERE Provision for impairment (6,723) (4,899)
FE—F% Inventories — net 148,556 110,126
izt Notes:
(i BRBRAX Wt AT EBEBBIEHERAH (i) The cost of inventories was recognised as expenses and included in cost of
FERAZ ART593,666,0007T (ZF = —4F ! sales attributable to the Group’s operations amounted to RMB593,666,000
AR #377,984,0007T) © (2021: RMB377,984,000).
(ii) FEEEEHINT . (ii) Movement in the provision for inventories is as follows:
—EB-= s
2022 2021
ARETFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R4 At the beginning of the year 4,899 4,899
FERERSE Provision for impairment of inventories 1,824 -
REXR At the end of the year 6,723 4,899
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19 BNEERGNER

(@) BHEE

FEECHEITINEZERGHNAERZE

19

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities

ERB8E: related to contracts with customers:
2022 2021
k=3 AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

EHNEE Contract assets

—%5=h — third parties - 544
—BEATL - related parties 17,099 17
MENEE Total contract assets (a) 17,099 561

ENEETEZEAERRINEEEH
ERMEHREEZTIREABZENS
3

MR AERTEARKRES BENRE
MR REHRZRT  GNEEBPE
e

ENEEZIRABEAQATERE-

(b) EHHEME

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to receive
consideration for work completed but not billed as at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

Contract assets increased as the Group has provided more
services ahead of the agreed payment schedules for the I|.T.

projects.

The carrying amounts of contract assets approximate their fair
values.

(b) Contract liabilities

2022 2021
Viok: ARBEFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

aH8EE Contract liabilities
—%=h — third parties 31,167 32,585
—RIEAL - related parties 5,848 2,868
BwENEE Total contract liabilities (b) 37,015 35,453
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19 SNEERGNER®

(b)

BHERE (B

GHERTIEZEBERNARNERZE
mEERERZBRFRALWRI ZZE N
TRBER WATERIMERRHIEH
AR 75 By B 5T ©

HRERARZEBER  SHNEEAR

e

TREINNAREHBER Z WA E
EEoNEaERZzERE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Contract liabilities (continued)

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments
received in advance for sales of goods not yet delivered to
customers or services not yet performed. Revenue is recognised
when goods are delivered to customers or when services are
performed.

Contract liabilities have increased due to timing difference in
payments by customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

g —E T —F
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIABI S E B R Revenue recognised that was included in the
BRI A contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the period
B U R IE Receipts in advance 35,453 13.306

TRINTEEERRBGNELEZRE
TRYEE-

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts.

—E_C B4
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R+ —H=+—HZ& 53 Aggregate amount of the transaction price
PE K EITEASA allocated to long-term contracts that are
B S EE partially or fully unsatisfied as
at 31 December
Bl —F Not later than one year 10,863 18,922
BB —FRABBARF Later than one year and
not later than five years - 16,559
10,863 35,481

FIEEMEMZIMRA—FRNER > R
BAREERBEE RESEBYBREE
AR RE  NEERERETEN
ZRZBERERFRE-

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less or are
billed based on time incurred. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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20 EXKRHEERUERIE 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES
—E-= =
2022 2021
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 ENARTE (K5 (@) Trade receivables (Note (a))
—%=h — third parties 145,179 147,082
—RBEE AL — related parties 137,602 101,032
__________________________________________________ 282,781 248,114
HEAESEWIREBE—-& (Wt () Finance leases receivables — total (Note (c)) 6,051 7,178
CERHEREWIRIE —48%8 (f13£(d)) Trade and lease receivables — gross (Note (d)) 288,832 255,292
B BEIREE (WAEb)) Less: loss allowance (Note (b)) (68,531) (60,164)
EEREERWIEE 548 Trade and lease receivables — net 220,301 195,128
A EERBEEWRIE Less: trade and lease receivables
—JERBH S - non-current portion (4,869) (12,698)
HELEERKEE —REID Trade and lease receivables — current portion 215,432 182,430
EELAEREKEBEREEHEEQAFER The carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables approximate their
He fair values.
Wizt Notes:
(a) FTEBEZAHBHPHECEH KN TF=+XE (@)  Majority of the Group’s sales are made with credit terms generally ranging from
NTR-SBXERERBEREEZHAHZRE DT 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
(I S date is as follows:
- TET—F
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
N AR e Less than 60 days 113,552 148,643
AAEE-BZA4E 60 days to 120 days 47,901 30,977
—Bt+t—XE=ZBA~tX 121 days to 360 days 52,141 10,582
BE=8/+X Over 360 days 69,187 57,912
282,781 248,114
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20 BEKRHEEWIRIE @

Mtst -

(b)

(c)

(&

RIEZZFE+ZA=+—H > HEEKKRE
N ANER¥68,531,0007 (ZEZ—F: AR
60,164,00070) EZ2 iR EE BRE XK
EREWARIE Z BREEZE N E31(0) (i) E -
HE_ -+ "RB=+—HIEE &%
KIAE R KRB &8 H#E A AR 153,347,000
7T (ZEZ—F : AR#2,951,0007T) °

MEHERWARE
RIB-__FR-IF-_—F+-A=+—H#&E

HERERRERKEERENREHKR
T

20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Notes (continued):

(b) At 31 December 2022, trade receivables of approximately RMB68,531,000
(2021: RMB60,164,000) were fully provided for. Movement in the loss
allowances for trade and lease receivables is disclosed in note 3.1(b)(ii).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, loss allowance for trade and lease
receivables of RMB3,347,000 were made (2021: RMB2,951,000)

(c) Finance leases receivables

The reconciliation between the gross investment in the lease and the present

value of the minimum lease payments receivable at as 31 December 2022 and

2021 is as follows:

—E--F —s——
2022 2021
ARETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JERENFE U TR IE Non-current receivables
MBS - ERRIE4EEE Finance leases — gross receivables 5,471 6,949
REERRE WA Unearned finance income (602) (898)
4,869 6,051
R Eh FE UL TR IE Current receivables
EEE - B AIELREE Finance leases — gross receivables 1,479 1,479
RBRENRRE WA Unearned finance income (297) (352)
1,182 1,127
FhE SR RIE— 408 Finance leases receivables - total 6,051 7,178
FhEE R E R REUCRRIEAR%E ¢ Gross receivables from finance leases:
— B —F - No later than 1 year 1,479 1,479
——FERFZH - Between 1 year and 2 years 1,479 1,479
—MEE=FZMH — Between 2 years and 3 years 1,479 1,479
——FFNFH - Between 3 years and4 years 1,479 1,479
—MEERFZHE - Between 4 years and 5 years 517 1,479
—BBAF - Later than 5 years 517 1,033
6,950 8,428
FE R E R BN R KRR E A Unearned future finance income on finance leases (899) (1,250)
MEHEREFE Net investment in finance leases 6,051 7,178
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eske ‘= N
20 EXREERIWIREE @ 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Wizt (& Notes (continued)
(c) FRBEHASEKIRE B (c)  Finance leases receivables (continued)
RIEZZF+ZA=+—H &HiEDI%A As at 31 December 2022, the balance represents a smart school project under
HOFERIOFNMEMEHNEZHBE T ZE MRk two finance leases arrangements for 9 years and 10 years respectively (2021:
ZRER (CZ2Z—F 18R HRENETE same). The project constitutes a finance lease since the contract conveys the
MR —EREREFNEERE#HNEENAR right to control the use of identified assets under this project, for a period of
DR E mASHERE 2SHESER time in exchange for consideration and at the end of the lease term, these
BESZEFAEAA WZEEEN —BREMR leased assets will be transferred to the leasee without any consideration.
=o
(d) EELREAEERWKIRBUTYIEEE: (d)  Trade and lease receivables are denominated in following currencies:
=== TET—F
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RVMB 171,781 146,175
E7T Usb 97,120 85,732
matk NTD 17,114 16,376
BT EUR 2,817 7,009
288,832 255,292
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21 FAdHIE S REMEWEIE 21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JETREN SR Non-current portion
BB Prepayments 721 271
REIE D Current portion
B FRIE Prepayments 43,601 38,465
A HEE Rental prepayments 343 230
Hh e Yk [E1FR 18 Other tax recoverable 3,565 568
H & UL R I8 Other receivables 1,384 1,265
R aEisk A Less: loss allowance (103) (98)
48,790 40,430
B FREEATRIEB Prepayment to a related party 177 679
____________________________________________________ 48,967 41,109
FERNRIE N RE R EMEWFIEAE%E  Total prepayments, deposits and other receivables 49,688 41,380
N B R _E-—F+"-B=+—8" As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, prepayments mainly represented
BNREFEARHESBEFEZANER payments in advance to suppliers for the purchases of inventories and
KFEMHEERRX prepaid rental expenses.
ENRE - RS EREMBEWHRIEL T &Kt Prepayments, deposits and other receivables are denominated in
8 : following currencies:
2022 2021
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HKD 378 427
AR RMB 43,828 27,989
E7T UsbD 2,219 2,882
el NTD 2,701 9,638
Hi Others 562 544
49,688 41,380
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RERFEEZEY 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2022 2021
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WOTRE FAASTNEAREERR Cash at banks, maximum exposure to credit risk 166,802 188,968
FERE Cash on hand 64 96
BEMIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 166,866 189,064

RITRENFARBEEARITERNFENZE
0.01%ZE1.74% N FEFEXBERHME (22—
F0.01%E1.76%) - UARBFEZEAER
AREBRERFEEESEMEBRN AENIERTT
BZEUARBFEEHRIRMIMNE LUK ER
ZHEENHAETFHERFEMNINES
BRI R HRTE ©

RERFEEEEYUTIEHEE :

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates of 0.01% to 1.74% per annum during the year (2021: 0.01 %
to 1.76%). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
RMB are deposited with banks in PRC. The conversion of these RMB-
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds
out of PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the government of the PRC.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in following currencies:

—ZE”C B

2022 2021

AREFT AEETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

T HKD 1,516 649
AR RMB 82,672 129,927
E7T usD 67,682 37,060
matk NTD 12,405 20,342
Hh Others 2,591 1,086
166,866 189,064
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23

EIEFRISIR

23

ERZTERTRENGARE 2 EHREIRE
EHRMERaBERE URERLEMEREE
RBBRFE-MBEEAMZERRERITRE
ERNEBBRZFAENERM MAEREFEA
BEEGBBEERF ELXAMENEELEEERE

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax recoverable against
current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an

i o IMEHTERUW T - intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:
2022 2021
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIEFRSIMEE - Deferred income tax assets:
— B RiBE 128 B B W E — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
FEIEFTBMEE after more than 12 months 3,839 1,935
— #1218 8 Uk [El gy — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
EIEFTSMEE within 12 months 1,113 75
4,952 2,010
EIEFRSREE Deferred income tax liabilities:
—BFRiBE12ERBEEN — Deferred income tax liabilities to be recovered
RIEPRISR A& after more than 12 months (2,603) (1,708)
— &2 8 REER — Deferred income tax liabilities to be recovered
RIEPRISTR A& within 12 months - (2,555)
(2,603) (4,263)
EIEFTEMEE (BB P8 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities), net 2,349 (2,253)

BIEFFEHREE (BE) RENZEHFHEN

The net movement on the deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) account

T is as follows:

2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W—HB—H At 1 January (2,253) -

STA (30FR) &HFIER Credit/(charged) to consolidated
(HtzE10) income statement (Note 70) 4,831 (2,262)
e R E%8 Exchange differences (229) 9
BW+-B=+—H At 31 December 2,349 (2,253)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3§ 179



BHMBERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 IRILEFRIFIN @ 23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
FRELZEEREBEEEEEHEREZEBRZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax assets and their respective
#E R RPRE—MBEEEANERIEHE 0 movements during the year without taking into consideration the
T offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

BATEHAREZ
fEstRR SHEEGRER HER# SREEZATEES B a3
Fair value loss
on financial assets
Loss allowances for financial at fair value through profit or
Accrued expenses assets Tax losses loss Provisions Total
Z§--f C3--F CR-Z§ C3--F CZRIZ§E CRT-F CRIZF CET-F CZEIZE CET-F  ZRIZE  CEC-F
2022 2001 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 201
ABEFR  NREFT  AREFR  AREFr  AREFr  AEEFr  AREFT  AEEFr AEEFT  AEEFT AEEFT AEETn
AMBO0O  RMBUO  RMBO0O  RMBUO  RMBU0O  RMBU00  RMBUOO  RMBU00  RMBOOO  AMBU00  RMBUOO  AMBU00
r-A-H At 1 January 75 - 633 - 5,341 - 255 - - - 6,304 -
FARHHER Credited to consolidated
income statement 1,272 75 632 633 1,627 5,420 126 255 291 - 4,548 6,383
ERER Exchange differences 1 - - - 458 19) (122) - - - 347 79
®+ZA=+-H At 31 December 1,358 75 1,265 633 7426 5341 859 255 291 - 11,199 6,304
FRELZEEREBESEE2EETEREZREZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax liabilities and their
#E R RPE—MBEEEANERIEH W respective movements during the year without taking into consideration
T the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
BRATEHABEZ
EHEEZATERE RESRFA B2 ENR B
Fair value gain
on financial assets
at fair value through Withholding tax on
profit or loss undistributable profit Total
—E_C & CZEBZC g% IZEZC &
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ABEFT ANEETn ARETT AREFT AEBEFR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
®—B—H At 1 January 6,001 - 2,556 - 8,557 -
b/ GtA) &HFIER Charged/(credited) to
consolidated income statement 1,717 6,089 (2,000) 2,556 (283) 8,645
ERELR Exchange differences 576 (88) - - 576 (88)
R+ZB=+—H At 31 December 8,294 6,001 556 2,556 8,850 8,557
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24 FE(TEZEIRIA 24 TRADE PAYABLES

2022 2021
ARHEFT ANEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FEfT & FERIE Trade payables
—%=h — third parties 164,587 118,775
—REEATL - related parties 3,494 2,535
168,081 121,310

REBDEEBEERTF ZEERNF=1TEL+10

XK (ZE2EZ—F 4R o days (2021: same).

A EXREREZHMZREDTUT :

The majority of the suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 75

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

follows:
—E== B4
2022 2021
AREFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DR+ KR Less than 60 days 107,471 117,918
ATXRE—EBI+X 60 days to 120 days 12,767 2,671
BR—__+X Over 120 days 47,843 721
168,081 121,310

FEEEIRBEL TG HEEHE !

Trade payables are denominated in following currencies:

—T-C TET %

2022 2021

AREFT ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

NS RMB 83,974 63,658
e usD 72,107 41,622
e NTD 12,000 16,130
168,081 121,310
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182

FEstERREMEMRIA 25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEst i & R AEAL Accrued salaries and bonuses 34,406 28,911
FEE R &R Accrued operating expenses 12,326 8,513
HMENRIE Other tax payables 1,512 2,364
HAu T =IE Other payables 1,614 2,122
49,858 41,910

FEstERREMBARIBU T EKE ! Accruals and other payables are denominated in following currencies:
2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HKD 3,073 2,463
AR RMB 23,743 22,968
E7T usD 11,479 8,177
ma NTD 10,906 8,275
Hi Others 657 27
49,858 41,910
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26 RAEKRREE 26 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
f& 4s Share capital
2022 2021
RipE B HE v 4=| &
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
Fie ARBEFT FhR ANE¥EFT
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
W—B—H As at 1 January 701,543 68,447 654,863 64,479
Fo SRR 1n (M732) Allotment of shares (Note) - = 46,680 3,968
R+ZHB=+—H As at 31 December 701,543 68,447 701,543 68,447
15 iRE Share premium
2022 2021
AREFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—A—H As at 1 January 213,865 187,511
BCEE R 1n (HaE) Allotment of shares (Note) - 26,354
R+ZB=+—H As at 31 December 213,865 213,865
MtaE Note:
RIZEZEF+ R Z+NH AEEHE—EBEABKA On 24 December 2020, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase
Bl ERHEEE R WK EERREGER (B agreement with a related company to acquire intellectual properties related to two
IPresenter | J& I ChromaCam J 7 R B &0 38 = 18 > (018 software products, namely “Presenter” and “ChromaCam” at a consideration of
#23,340,0008 7T (1HE R4 AR #19,840,0007T) ° HK$23,340,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB19,840,000). The consideration
ZR BB E 75 AL E46,680,00088 3 I8 19 B9 /5 45 would be settled by allotment of 46,680,000 new shares to the seller. In March 2021,
B RIEZ—F=B FBEROAZAFEABARE the shares were granted with a fair value of RMB30,322,000 and the difference
30,322,000 70 MAERNKERMTHEND 2 AFE between the consideration and fair value of the shares granted in the allotment of
Z BN EEEAREE10,482,0007c R & HF B RERD A RMB10,482,000 was recognised as share-based payment in the consolidated income
BHREZEREST ZRXRER T —F=AZ+HR statement during the year. The transaction was completed on 22 March 2021.
o
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184

fs e st 8l

BEBEARABN _E—=FN\A=+HRMZE
RiEsE EFE2RNERS R)EFERR
ERREEER IAEBRFEREZER 2
ERL2BIERBES QFELAR2REAFL
AREARREBRZEMNES  THENT
FIFRTRIAMEBIUAS) (\AEBETZ
FERZFZERAFTAEAN ; K& E B RLEMHK
REBERZEAEFHAGEBH KB RE
FAR BB BHAHES  EEBHRITHF
BHAER -BHAFEA (BETOBRES
FEN Ho#Hm ETHER (BEEAOHE
R SVEFE2ENBEIRENTEHRE
B EARKRERRFHEMZERALRGH
B

RiREERES S REMSEIREMNRITE
ZRRARARTEEREBECTERI FHITZR
PEERE TREBNEMER AT H#
TRAEEMZHET10% (ERRBIREBEFREEBE
RIESHEIDEREZBRENRS RO HE
EERREMFAEM0%LMRIEIN » URIR
EIERES B R EREMSEEADARITEZ
MARTEERER] FECTZROBEBE
BB RB TR D2 HITRAZ30%-

27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 30
August 2013, in the sole discretion of the Board, to grant options to (i)
any full time or part time employees of the Group; or any invested entity,
an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest, (including any
directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any subsidiary or any invested entity); (i)
any holder of any securities issued by the Group; and (iii) any business
or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers,
licensees (including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants
(including any sub-tenants) of the Group or any invested entity; or (iv) any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group or any invested entity.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total issued capital of the Company as at the adoption date unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to renew
the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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27 HEREE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE_ZE__F+-A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
PRI EIR HP BB BT ¢ year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
RZBZZE St RERERE
2aEME/ -B-H +ZB=1-H SRHERE  BHEMHZ
RiHA# 4BANE HATE FRRH EREH ERRK ERiTE HAE i3 (i3 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 Exercise period share option share option
() () B BT
Note (i) Note (1)) HKS HKS
g%
Directors
“Z-tEN\A=+-B BEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZt-HE 1.684 1.5
ZEZLENAZHE
31 August 2017 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
“Z-\E+-A+ZH BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZEE+-F+IAHE 0.686 0.66
ZE-\E+-A+-H
12 November 2018 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to 0.686 066
11 November 2028
ZZZZEMANR Enfirs - 800,000 - - - 800000 “Z-MEMENRE 0.310 0310
“Z-CEMAtH
8 April 2022 Mr. CAI LiTing 8 April 2024 to 7 April 2032
Z2ZZEMANR BERRE - 500,000 - - - 500000 ZEZMEMENEE 0310 0310
ZE-ZEMAtA
8 April 2022 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 8 April 2024 to 7 April 2032
&8
Employees
ZB-{E\A=T-H KESNES 3,200,000 - - (150,000) - 3050000 ZE-AENB=F-BE 1.684 1.5
ZEICENRETE
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
Z5-\E+-BtIH HKESNES 4,910,000 - - (150,000 - 4760000 Z—E-BE+-R+IAZE 0.686 0.66
ZE-0\ET-At-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028
ZRIZEMANE FEAHES - 6,310,000 - (100,000) - 6,210000 Z“F-MEMANRE 0310 0310
Z2-ZEMALA
8 April 2022 Continuous contract 8 April 2024 to 7 April 2032
employees

8,910,000 7,610,000 - (400,000) - 16,120,000
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27 BRR#ESE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE T _—F+-_A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
RESTEIRH N BRESHNT - year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:
BREYE
Number of share options
RIBZ-% RIEZ-E RERBRE
aEHE/ -A-A tZB=t-H BhHERE BHAEHZ
RiHAS LEANE WATE ERRL FRXH ERRK EniTR WA 8 (i35 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 Exercise period share option ~share option
() 1 7
(Note () HKS HKS
EES
Director
“Z-tF\AZ+-B PEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZt-HE 1,684 1.55
“E2LE)\A=TH
31 August 2017 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
“Z-\f+-A+ZH BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZZE+-F+IAZE 0.686 0.66
ZE0\FT-At-H
12 November 2018 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
]
Employees
“B-tE\A=+-B HEANER 3,200,000 - - - - 3200000 ZE-AENA=t-HE 1684 1.55
ZZZLENRZAE
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
“5-\Et-BtCH FEAHER 5,260,000 - - (350,000 - 4910000 “ECEEF-A+IHE 0.686 0.66
“EC\E+-At+-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028

9,260,000 - - (350,000) - 8,910,000
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27 BBIRESTE @

(i

(i)

(iv)

SCECCEmAN\BEHNERREE 2
B EEMER - ER AR E R (T
EDET 2

R

GESY
BEKRE 53.71%
R EER &
BEABREE NS 104
EEAMILE 2.54%
SHEREZATE-TBAE 0.169% T
SHEREZATE-FTBAE 0.139%# 7T

KREZERRBEDZ2ERAABDEER T —C
FH+_ABETBEFHLURNBESRKIE
Uh=ErALBHNERELTARNR T -
MENBZ PHEREBESRNEBERE

EEBLLETL2ESBI0ERBRESR _Z
“ZFMBNBZREIREE -

i — iy = PAG= K= =Y gl = R e
BARDNREAPZESRETHER0.310%8

Jco

BRERNESNEBHANFENEEAEER
RIERZEMINEARRW - HRMDEIEERER
BB RIEBIRZMHBORU > B AT FL X
LERMERNEFERBIORWERE B D -

27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

(i)

(vi)

The options granted on 8 April 2022 were measured using the binomial option
pricing valuation model (the”Model”) which was performed by an independent
valuer.

Valuation
parameters adopted

Expected volatility 53.71%
Dividend vyield Nil
Expected option life 10 years
Risk-free interest rate 2.54%
Fair value per option — executives HK$0.169
Fair value per option — non-executives HK$0.139

Expected volatility of share price is determined with reference to the average
historical daily volatilities of the Company since its change of principal activities
in December 2017 and the average annualized historical daily volatilities of
three listed comparable companies in Hong Kong as at 8 April 2022.

Risk-free rate is determined with reference to the Hong Kong 10-year
Government Bond yield as at 8 April 2022.

The closing market price per share of the Company on the grant date as
quoted in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets as at 8
April 2022 was HK$0.310.

The share options forfeited during the year due to the resignation of employees
within vesting period or the offer of share options was rejected by the
candidates. Where shares are forfeited due to failures by the employees to
satisfy the service conditions or rejection of the offer, any expenses previously
recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective the date of the
forfeiture.
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28 f#f& 28 RESERVES
ERERE EE R
EXREEHE Share option Statutory
B Capital ERGHE reserve reserve RERA
Capital redemption Exchange (Hit27) (W) Retained st
reserve reserve reserve (Note 27) (Note (i) earnings Total
NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEBFT NEEFT NEEFT
RMB'000 RMB 000 AMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
AZEZ"E—B-H  At1January 2022 44,065 1,942 (22,068) 3,116 27,591 75,527 130,173
EJ;M‘J Profit for the year - - - - - 27,830 27,830
MEBREEER Currency translation differences - - 10,379 - - - 10,379
BRTITHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 2,287 (2,287) -
EEEREH S — Employee Share option scheme -
BERKEE value of employee services - - - 234 - 105 339
R_B__F At 31 December 2022
+ZB=+-H 44,065 1,942 (11,689) 3,350 29,878 101,175 168,721
AZEZ—E—F—H  At1January 2021 44,065 1,942 (15,177) 3,116 26,223 42,634 102,808
EEET Profit for the year - - - - - 34,261 34,261
SEREEE Currency translation differences - - (6,891) - - - (6,891)
BREITHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 1,368 (1,368) -
i — At 31 December 2021
+-A=+-H 44,065 1,942 (22,068) 3,116 27,591 75,527 130,173
Mzt Note:
(i) FEFRBZEERETRRBREZTABRZ (i) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in The PRC can be utilised to offset future
RIREIBIIGMEE A - losses or increase the capital of the subsidiary.
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29 SHEREFAER

(a)

29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS
PRETSEMA RN REEEZHAEREN (a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from
HER - operations:
2022 2021
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRETS IR AT @ Profit before income tax 30,483 37,607
MU TEEEHBEE Adjustments for:
FMEWA Interest income (1,918) (2,313)
FERZ Interest expense 514 850
ME B REREINE (Wat14) Depreciation for property, plant and
equipment (Note 14) 3,759 6,068
EREEETE Hat15) Depreciation for right-of-use assets (Note 15) 10,934 13,062
| EESE HaE13) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) 4,469 2,776
FERERE (HaE18) Provision for impairment of inventories
(Note 18) 1,824 -
TREEGEEE Loss allowance for financial assets 3,347 2,951
DIEBE N 2 EE Share of results of associates 3,317 -
AT IETAE WS (Bate) Gain on early termination of a lease (Note ¢) (688) (75)
HEYE KIS RREZER (Watb) Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (Note b) - 2
BAFEFABGZEMEEZ Fair value gain on financial assets
R EWTFEE at fair value through profit or loss, net (2,017) (18,461)
BHZHRE Share based payment = 10,482
TR Share option expenses 339 -
54,363 52,949
EEETEH . Changes in working capital:
78 Inventories (39,235) (86,945)
EENAEEKRE Trade and lease receivables (24,145) 3,923
BHEE Contract assets (16,355) (33)
BB e R EMEREIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (8,253) (6,969)
FE(T & £ ER1E Trade payables 47,672 16,693
PE T & A R B FE (T TR IE Accruals and other payables 8,228 13,291
aHNEaE Contract liabilities 1,711 22,147
REEEPREBRE Cash generated from operations 23,986 15,056
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29 SHIAERER @ 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)
(b) MEHREREBFR HEWE BEIAE (b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
B2 PRRRIEEE - disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise:
—E-= s
2022 2021
ARBETFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEVE BREREZMEHRIE Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment - -
B BRERE Less: Net book amount - 2
HEME - BREREZEHEEFE Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment - 2)

190

(c) REeEHReREBFR KR EHBEZMENIAE (c) In the consolidated statement of cash flow, proceeds from
BiE termination of lease comprise:
2022 2021
AREFT ANEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HETMEEEE ZMEMIE Proceeds from disposal of finance
lease assets 3,141 -
TREEEEZREEE ! Net carring value of finance lease assets:
B EREEEZIREE Carrying amount of respective
right-of-use assets 2,453 1,253
EREEEaGEZREE Carrying amount of respective lease liabilities - (1,328)
2,453 (75)
AR IETRAE 2 W& Gain on early termination of a lease (688) (75)
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29 EHBEERER® 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)
(d ESXBEREIHZEEHER (d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
HEBE- HEAR-

REEBD FREHs HEAGELESE

Lease liabilities Lease liabilities

- current - non-current Total lease
portion portion liabilities
AEBFT AEBEFT ABHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
MBZZTEZ—%F—H—H As at1January 2021 12,277 17,108 29,385
Behe Cash flows (14,399) - (14,399)
FIREEEH . Non-cash movements:
ShBESE 2L Exchange differences (1,031) - (1,031)
WEEREY Acquisition of leases 1,547 7,002 8,549
HEaBNERS Interest expense on lease liabilities 850 - 850
HECHEEE Disposal of right-of-use assets (1,328) - (1,328)
HhIEREEF) Other non-cash movement 14,566 (14,566) -
BRIEZ—% As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
+ZA=+—HXR
—E-_f£—HF—H 12,482 9,544 22,026
Behe Cash flows (16,029) (409) (16,438)
FFIREEE) . Non-cash movements:
ShEE R EE Exchange differences 3,391 - 3,391
HESBHNEMZ Interest expense on lease liabilities 514 - 514
Hi IR &) Other non-cash movement 8,190 (8,190) -
R-IE-__F+=-AH As at 31 December 2022
=+—H 8,548 945 9,493
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20 SHREFAER @

(e)

FEFRERH

FEBBEUTEEZFRFEERH !

BECS-—F+-A=t+—HLEE
AREBBETREEETHAELRS
5P REE AR 8,549,0007T

HE_Z-—F+"HB=+—HILEE"
RATBETAFEASARES0,322,000
7T 8948,860,0008% & 3@ A% » LU BE A F
BEAANR19,840,000c 2 EFBE ©
At FRABRDZNEENBEIARE
10,482,000t R & AR BT o

30 ¥rEHEIDZERMIT A

REGHRENERTAZREENT !

192

29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)

(e)

Major non-cash transactions

The Group has the following major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired
certain offices under leases and recognised as right-of-use assets

of RMB8,549,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company issued
48,860,000 ordinary shares with fair value of RMB30,322,000 for
acquisition of intangible assets with fair value of RMB19,840,000.
Therefore, an expense arising from share-based payment of
RMB10,482,000 was recognised in the consolidated income

statement for the year.

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021
ABHEFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEE- Financial assets —
BEHER AR EMEE financial assets at amortised cost
EEEWRIE—F5 Trade receivables — net 214,250 187,950
& R EAMBE RIS Deposits and other receivables 1,281 1,167
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 166,866 189,064
382,397 378,181
BATESAABEZEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 74,560 47,777
EHEaE- Financial liabilities - financial liabilities at
BIBHER AN RZEREE amortised cost
FE(T & 2 AR1E Trade payables 168,081 121,310
e & A R E A EARIE Accruals and other payables 13,940 10,635
HESR Lease liabilities 9,493 22,026
191,514 153,971
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31 KiE
(a) RKEHEXIE
EBEARBA
W __—_FrR_FE_—F+_H1

=+—B - AEBEEEREETERRA
EZARRBEENRBERBREESE

31 COMMITMENTS

(a) Operating lease commitments
As lessee
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the future aggregate minimum

lease payments in respect of office under non-cancellable short-
term leases are recognised as expenses on a straight-line as

RARZWT - follows:
—E-= =
2022 2021
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e —5 Not later than one year 73 341
TEABLHFAN As lessor

RIEBE__F#Kk_ZE_—F+_H4
=+ —H AHRHHECERE T2 AR R

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the future minimum lease
payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as

BERENROT : follows:
2022 2021
AEBBFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB —F Not later than one year 2,084 2,382
Bil—FE R BEEF Later than one year and not later than five years 969 2,940
3,053 5,322
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31

32

33

194

EIE @) 31 COMMITMENTS (continueq)
(b) BEAXKIE (b) Capital commitments
REBEEMRETNEERERABEZ Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
BEAEARAMAZUWT : reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
2022 2021
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—EBEABZ&E Hi) Investment in an associate (Note) - 5,000
BAFEFABGRZEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
(Bt a£17(i) profit or loss (Note 17(iii) - 21,000
Vo2 Note:
RIEZI—F+ZA AEENEZETFRAE In December 2021, Maxnerva (Shenzhen) Technology Services Limited,
BE CRY) amHEREERATHRNEE a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group entered into a shareholder
UBR=HIURERE URPE ML — agreement with 4 individual third parties to incorporate a limited company
BAERRAE (TEEAR]) - REBMIE AKIE (“target company”) in the PRC. The capital commitment of the Group is
7 AR %5,000,0007t ° 1h B 12 A B25%k% 1 o RMB5,000,000 which represent 25% of equity shareholding of the target
BHE_S - F+"A=1+—HIEFE®R = company. Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021, a supplemental
RERBT LMK ERRE  UEFLLAEE shareholder agreement was entered with the existing shareholders to double
ZNENEAKREE N —Z Bt ZEBE the capital investment of the target company in the same proportion. As a
RIEZZF—AAERABFESGHARKE result, the Group has injected RMB10,000,000 to the target company in
10,000,0007T © January 2022.
RITREE 32 BANKING FACILITIES
NIBE-_ _F+-_RA=+—H KxEFLTEE At 31 December 2022, no banking facilities (2021: RMB30,605,000) were
FIRTRE (T2 —F . AR¥30,605,000 available to the Group and the Group had no bank borrowing (2021: Nil).
7o) BAEBEUTERTER (T2 —F
/) o
RE 33 DIVIDENDS

HE_ S H#Kx_FE-_—F+"H=+—H
IEFE KRB FEZRGRE

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company did
not recommend the payment of dividend.
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34 FAEALTRS

AT _HF+-H=+—H>23.83% (=
T _—1£ 123.83%) 2ARBKMAFSK
Holdings Limited (R&EBZMAKILZAE) B
BRA > M10.24% (ZFEZ—F 110.24%) 2
AABRPHAFDG Fund, L.P.EEFA -FSK
Holdings LimitedZ /A &FDG Fund, L.P.AZEE
W% BREH A

MAEBRAETBZEEASZEARERER
MENERNBEHE -—SMBNEERR
BEAZEBEARZTANEL  AZALRR
REAERERE-FHEALAUREARE
B o

PrMBHREEMBOMTHEEALERS
REEREBEALINBEEBRITINEX
BN ZURMEANLR S ELNEERE
#en T e

(a) HAEALZRS

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2022, 23.83% (2021: 23.83%) of the Company’s
shares were directly held by FSK Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and 10.24% (2021: 10.24%) of the
Company’s shares were directly held by FDG Fund, L.P.. FSK Holdings
Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund, L.P. contributing to about 75%
of its total commitment.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their close family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa.
Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group and its
related parties and the balances arising from related party transactions in
addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in the financial
statements.

(a) Transactions with related parties

2022 2021

ok AREFT ANEHBFT

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

mAEALTHESR Sales of goods to related parties (0 11,471 5,766
m R E A TIRMERS Rendering of services to related parties (i) 324,463 274,319
HAEALTHEESER Purchases of goods from related parties (0 28,270 13,989
AAEATEZIEEER License fee paid to a related party (iii) - 40
WEERTEE (Wt26) Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 26) - 19,840
RN (BaE26) Share-based payment (Note 26) - 10,482
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Ay ——
34 FAEANLRZ @ 34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(a) HBEAEALZRS (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (continued)
RZE2EZZHFRZZEZ—%%+ZAH As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, amounts due from/(to) related
=+—H> B () BEATREBEA parties are included in below:

ITFIEE

2022 2021
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

= 2 e W AR 18 Trade receivables 137,602 101,032

BHNEE Contract assets 17,099 17

Be FENMRIE R HMEWRIE Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 177 679

FE(S & FAR1E Trade payables (3,494) (2,535)

H & RIE Other payables - (101)

BHEE Contract liabilities (5,848) (2,868)

ok Notes:

(i) HE_Z-__F+°"A=+—HL*F (i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales and purchases of
EriHERBEERHRBERTINGH goods are charged at prices mutually agreed by the relevant parties,
FAREZEBRINE EREEBEETER representing Hon Hai Precision Industry Company Limited (‘Hon Hai”)
MABERAE (MEE)) REEBRKEA and its group companies (‘Hon Hai Group”) (2021: Same).

B (i TBEERE)) (TR —F 48
B °

(ii) REETHBAEALTERBE IEEBE (ii) Terms of services are mutually agreed by the relevant parties, Hon Hai
EM/eo Group.

(iii) ENEHERRBEATIRBHBE Z (ifi) License fee paid are mutually agreed by the relevant party. The related
REATIEREN—RFAB party represents a subsidiary of Hon Hai.

(b) FTEBTEASZIRM (b) Key management compensation

2022 2021
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e TE KRR Fee, salaries and allowances 1,411 1,323

TE4L Bonuses 205 185

BIRE A — EREHREE Pension costs - defined contribution plans 15 15

1,631 1,623
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35

AT 2 AEBRER R

OF THE COMPANY

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

2022 2021
Jiog=3 AEBBFT ANEBTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
RFRBNEKE Investments in subsidiaries (a) 1 1
EWF A B IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 183,337 174,232
______________________________________________________ 183,338 174,233
RENEE Current assets
FEAT RO ~ 1 K A E W R E Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 389 436
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 519 169
______________________________________________________ 908 605
mEE Total assets 184,246 174,838
R EQUITY
EATEGDREARGREKR#E Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
@S Share capital 68,447 68,447
B AR i (B Share premium 213,865 213,865
EE Reserves ) (99,179) (109,274)
f@j%fﬁ; _______ Total equity 183,133 173,038
=R LIABILITIES
mENEE Current liabilities
FEstE R R E MBS IE Accruals and other payables 1,113 1,800
e s Total liabilities 1,113 1,800
MEEREE Total equity and liabilities 184,246 174,838
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35 BRFZEERBRRRHEE

@

198

(a)

=
=

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

FRAE (a) Subsidiaries
RZE2EZZHFRZZEZ—%+ZAH Particulars of significant subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and
=F+—HZEFEFREELRNT : 2021 are as follows:
RUTEERFERES AL
Percentage of
equity interest held
AR,/ HRERK
G R TEEEHY BETRs ZBIZF “RT-F EEEREN TEEH
Place of
Incorporation/ Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2022 2021 legal entity Principal activities
BERfARE
Interests held directly
Grand Ditto Limited REEYHS HBRYES 1ET 100% 100% BREERAT REZK
Grand Ditto Limited British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
Upright Ample Limited HBERUHE HBEZHE 1E7T 100% 100% HBRETAH REZK
Upright Ample Limited British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
Bright Deal Investments Limited HERUHE HBEZHE 157 100% 100% BRELAE HEEE
Bright Deal Investments Limited British Virgin British Virgin usD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Dormant
Islands Islands company
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited =~ EBEZEE HERUEE 1E7T 100% 100% BREEAR BREZK
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited  British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
REREED
Interests held indirectly
BENXERAT BE B 80,000,001%7¢ 100% 100% BREERF BERERBAE
BARR
Grand Field Technology Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$80,000,001 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
company office solutions
EEENBRBRNERAT = = 150,000,000% & 1 100% 100% BREERF BERE WRAERTE
BARHE
Maxnerva Technology Service Inc. Taiwan Taiwan NTD150,000,000 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
company office solutions
Maxnerva Technology Services E3E1 E3E] 1£71 100% 100% BREFAF RERERK
USLLC BEBAZEARE
Maxnerva Technology Services United States United States UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding and
US LLC company smart office solutions
Personify, Inc. E3E el 10%7T 100% 100% BREERT BEBRAZRARE
Personify, Inc. United States United States usD10 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart office solutions
company
Personify (Vietnam) Company HE H 50,000% 7T 100% 100% BREEAH BEBRAZRARE
Limited
Personify (Vietnam) Company Vietnam Vietnam VND50,000 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart office solutions
Limited company
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35 FAFAZHAEAMEREES

g

(a)

FAE (&

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

RUTEERMERET AL
Percentage of
equity interest held

AL/ HMERR
27 R TEEEHY [EX:£51::2: S— ZE2-F EEBRED TEEH
Place of
Incorporation/ Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2022 2021 legal entity Principal activities
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC e £S5 FMEZR1,0005 7T 100% 100% BREFAE RERERAPIZ
(Wi&tiv) [ YES
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC United States United States Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Provision of temperature
(Note v) USD1,000 company screening access
control solutions
ZEE (EB) sWRERB FE HE AMER 100% 100% BREAFRF BENERHAT
BRAF (Hatii) 10,000,000% 7% BARZE

ZRE (EB) pMREREBRAR the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability ~ Smart manufacturing and
(Wisecloud Technology USD10,000,000 company office solutions
Service Inc.) (Note i)

EBE HE) RRRBEERAT i FE SMERARE 100% 100% BREERF BERERBAE
(Wr&tiii) 20,000,00075 IS

ERE BE) REREBRAT the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Wuhan) Technology RMB20,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note i)

ZRE R sHRERBERAT FE FE AMEXARE 100% 100% BREAERF BENERHAT
(tii) 20,000,0007 BAR%E

ZRE (R) 2R EREBRAE the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Shenzhen) Technology RMB20,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note /i)

et Notes:

(i) ERFFFIERAB ZFAR hARABE (i) The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
ERFIEAEREIRHBERAXES opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s management,
BEEH AFELAEEBARDEES principally contributed the results or formed a substantial portion of
EZT AR -ERBHMT A ZER the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would
ESTRRRERTR. result in particulars of excessive length.

(i) BE_S__SR_F_-—+°A (if) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
S+ -BLEFEEAER &TARY the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
BEMBBTZEEES.

(i) 1 PR B 5 17 P 37 2 S R A B A B 3 R IE (iii) The English names of the group companies incorporated in The PRC

AEXRBL EFTRNOBRAIDRXH
BEIE R o

represent the best effort by the directors in translating its Chinese name
as they do not have official English names.
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35 FANRTIzEEEBARRHEGRE 35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

@ OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) ZARBEZREEEE (b) Reserve movements of the Company
BEXHEE G E BARfE  BRERE ERfHE RHER Y
Capital Share
redemption Capital option Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETn ARBETT ARETZT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000

RZZ2_-5—-F—H At 1 January 2021 1,942 77,250 3,116 (20,730) (151,495) (89,917)
FEBR Loss for the year - - - - (14,682) (14,682)
ERER Exchange translation difference - - - (4,675) - (4,675)
RIBZ-F At 31 December 2021 and

+ZA=+—-Bk 1 January 2022

“E-"F-fF-H 1,942 77,250 3,116 (25,405) (166,177) (109,274)
FEBRB Loss for the year - - - - (3,370) (3,370)
ERER Exchange translation difference - - - 13,126 - 13,126
BEBRESE - Employee share option scheme -
EERKER value of employee services - - 234 - 105 339
RIZZZEFZA=+—H  At31 December 2022 1,942 77,250 3,350 (12,279) (169,442) (99,179)
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